OMEGA-3 FATTY ACIDS IN THE EARLY ORIGINS OF METABOLIC SYNDROME

Jing Zhou



School of Agriculture, Food and Wine

The University of Adelaide

South Australia

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

2015

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT
DECLARATION 10
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 11
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW16
1.1. Introduction
1.2. Obesity and Insulin Resistance/Type 2 Diabetes
1.2.1. Obesity
1.2.2. Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes
1.2.3. Early Life Programming of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes
1.3. N-3 LCPUFAs
1.3.1. N-3 LCPUFAs and the Risk of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes
1.3.2. Roles of n-3 LCPUFAs in Perinatal Development
1.3.3. N-3 LCPUFAs and Programming of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes 36
1.4. Epigenetic Modifications
1.4.1. DNA Methylation
1.4.3. MicroRNA
1.5. Prenatal Nutrition and Epigenetic Changes in the Offspring
1.5.1. Animal Models

1.5.2.	Human Studies
1.6. T	he Placenta
1.6.1.	The Placenta as a Mediator of Developmental Programming58
1.7. S	ummary
1.7.1.	Specific Aims
CHAPTER	2: THE EFFECTS OF MATERNAL N-3 LCPUFA
SUPPLEM	ENTATION ON INSULIN SENSITIVITY IN CHILDREN
2.1. C	andidate Contribution
2.2. Ir	troduction67
2.3. N	laterials and Methods
2.3.1.	Study Population
2.3.2.	The DOMInO Trial
2.3.3.	Growth and Insulin Resistance Follow Up of the DOMInO Children. 72
2.3.4.	5 Year Clinic Assessments73
2.3.5.	Processing and Storage of Blood Samples74
2.3.6.	Fatty Acid Analysis76
2.3.7.	Infinity Glucose Hexokinase Assay
2.3.8.	Insulin Assay
2.3.9.	Assessment of Insulin Sensitivity, the HOMA-IR
2.3.10). Statistical Analysis
2.4. R	esults
2.4.1.	Validation of Infinity Glucose Hexokinase Assay

2.4.2.	Validation of ALPCO Immunoassay Ultrasensitive Insulin ELISA
Assay	93
2.4.3.	Characteristics of the DOMInO Participants at Enrolment
2.4.4.	Anthropometric Measurements of the DOMInO Children at 5 years of
Age	101
2.4.5.	Fatty Acids Status of the DOMInO Children at 5 Years of Age 103
2.4.6.	Insulin Sensitivity of the Domino Children at 5 Years of Age 104
2.5. Dis	cussion106
2.5.1.	Limitations
2.5.2.	Conclusion
CHAPTER	3: THE EFFECTS OF MATERNAL N-3 LCPUFA
SUPPLEME	NTATION ON GLOBAL METHYLATION STATUS IN CHILDREN
3.1. Car	ndidate Contribution114
3.2. Intr	roduction
3.3. Me	thods and Materials
3.3.1.	Study Population
3.3.2.	Neonatal Sample Collection119
3.3.3.	Blood Sample Collection at 5 Years of Age 122
3.3.4.	DNA Extraction
3.3.5.	Global DNA Methylation126
3.3.6.	Statistical Analysis

3.4. Res	sults
3.4.1.	DHA Supplementation and Global DNA Methylation Level at Birth
and at 5	5 Years of Age
3.4.2.	Association between Global DNA Methylation Levels at Birth and
Measur	res of Body Composition and Insulin Sensitivity at 5 Years of Age 134
3.4.3.	Association between Global DNA Hypomethylation at 5 Years of Age
and Me	easures of Body Composition and Insulin Sensitivity at 5 Years of Age
	137
3.5. Dis	cussion
3.5.1.	Sex Differences in Global DNA Methylation Level
3.5.2.	Age Dependence of Global DNA Methylation Level
3.5.3.	Effect of Prenatal Nutritional Environment on Global DNA
Methyl	ation Level
3.5.4.	Global Methylation Level at Birth and BMI in Childhood148
3.5.5.	Association between Global Methylation Level and Metabolic Health
	150
3.5.6.	Limitations
3.5.7.	Conclusion
CHAPTER	4: THE EFFECTS OF MATERNAL N-3 LCPUFA
SUPPLEME	ENTATION ON GENOME-WIDE DNA METHYLATION STATUS IN
CHILDREN	155
4.1. Ca	ndidate Contribution
4.2. Intr	roduction

4.3. Methods and Materials
4.3.1. Study Population
4.3.2. Neonatal Sample Collection
4.3.3. Blood Sample Collection at 5 Years of Age
4.3.4. DNA Extraction
4.3.5. Genome-wide DNA Methylation Analysis
4.4. Results
4.4.1. Genome-wide DNA Methylation167
4.5. Discussion
4.5.1. DMRs at Birth and at 5 Years of Age
4.5.2. Sex Differences in the Sensitivity to Increased Prenatal Exposure of N-
3 LCPUFAs
4.5.3. Limitations
4.5.4. Conclusion
CHAPTER 5: OMEGA-3 FATTY ACID TREATMENT STIMULATES
PROLIFERATION AND ALTERS GENE EXPRESSION IN THE FIRST
TRIMESTER PLACENTAL TROPHOBLAST CELL LINE HTR8/SVNEO 192
5.1. Candidate Contribution
5.2. Introduction
5.3. Materials and Methods
5.3.1. Reagents

5.3.2.	Fatty Acids Composition in Fish Oil (FO) and Soy Oil (SO) Emulsions
	197
5.3.3.	Measurement of DHA Accumulation in HTR8/SVneo Cells 199
5.3.4.	Cell Proliferation
5.3.5.	Gene Expression Analysis
5.3.6.	Microarray Data Analysis
5.3.7.	Statistical Analysis of Lipid Composition and Cell Proliferation 204
5.4. Res	sults
5.4.1.	Effect of FO And SO Treatment on the Fatty Acid Composition of
HTR8/	Svneo Cells
5.4.2.	Effect of FO and SO on Cell Proliferation
5.4.3.	Genes Differentially Expressed between FO and No Treatment Groups
	209
5.4.4.	Genes Differentially Expressed between SO and No Treatment Groups
	213
5.4.5.	Genes Differentially Expressed between FO and SO Groups
5.4.6.	Genes Differentially Expressed in both FO and SO Groups Compared
to No T	Treatment 215
5.4.7.	Genes Differentially Expressed in the FO Compared with No
Treatm	ent Group
5.5. Dis	scussion
5.5.1.	FO and SO both Increase Proliferation of HTR8/Svneo Cells

5.5.	The Effect of FO Treatment on Gene Expression in HTR8/Svneo Cells	
	220	
5.5.	.3. SO <i>vs</i> No Treatment	
5.5.	.4. Limitations	
5.5.	.5. Conclusion	
CHAPTI	ER 6: GENERAL DISCUSSION	
6.1.	Conclusion	
6.2.	Future Directions	
Bibliogra	caphy:	

ABSTRACT

The role of omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 LCPUFA), in particular docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) in decreasing fat deposition, fat cell formation and improving insulin sensitivity in vitro and in adult animals had led to suggestions that increasing the supply of these fatty acids before birth could improve later metabolic health outcomes in the child. However, few studies had explored the role of DHA in programming of obesity and type 2 diabetes, and the results had been inconsistent. Furthermore, the mechanisms through which exposure to an increased supply of DHA during development impacted on later health outcomes in the infant were also unclear. While studies in animal models had highlighted the importance of epigenetics in the link between intrauterine nutrition and the subsequent risk of obesity and insulin resistance in the offspring, the role of whether epigenetics in the prenatal programming of obesity in humans was unknown. In addition, while there was evidence that placental alterations played a critical role in developmental programming, few studies had explored the effect of DHA on placental gene expression/function. The central aim of this thesis was to determine the effect of a specific nutritional intervention (maternal DHA supplementation) on (1) markers of metabolic health (BMI, percent body fat, insulin sensitivity) in the children at 5 years of age and (2) global and gene-specific DNA methylation profiles in children at birth and at 5 years of age. I also aimed to determine the effect of DHA on placental proliferation and gene expression in vitro.

This thesis studied children born to women who participated in a large randomised controlled trial of n-3 LCPUFA supplementation in pregnancy, the DOMInO trial, at birth and 5 years of age. Insulin sensitivity in these children was estimated from the

HOMA-IR index at 5 years of age. DNA was obtained from blood samples of the DOMInO children collected at birth (n=1012) and at 5 years of age (n=715) for the assessment of global and genome-wide methylation. A human placenta first trimester cell line (HTR8/SVneo) was treated with a DHA-rich emulsion in order to determine effects of DHA on placental proliferation and gene expression.

Maternal DHA supplementation was associated with a reduced insulin sensitivity (increased HOMA-IR index) and increased fasting insulin concentrations in the children at 5 years of age, particularly in males. There were also small but significant differences in methylation of 44 genomic regions at birth and 30 at 5 years of age, and more differentially methylated regions (DMRs) in males compared to females at both time points. DHA treatment increased proliferation rate of HTR8/SVneo cells, and 96 genes were differentially expressed between DHA and no treatment groups. Overall, the results of this thesis provide evidence that maternal DHA supplementation may reduce insulin sensitivity in the children, although whether this translates into differences in the incidence of type 2 diabetes later in life remains to be determined. I also demonstrated that DHA has small but significant effects on DNA methylation of specific genomic regions, and significantly altered proliferation and gene expression of a placental cell line *in vitro*, which suggests that both epigenetic and placental modifications may be involved in mediating the effects of increased DHA exposure before birth on health outcomes in the child.

DECLARATION

I certify that this work contains no material which has been accepted for the award of any other degree of diploma in any university or other tertiary institution and, to the best of my knowledge and belief, contains no material previously published or written by another person, except where due reference has been made in the text. In addition, I certify that no part of this wok will, in the future, be used in a submission for any other degree of diploma in any university or other tertiary institution without the prior approval of the University of Adelaide and where applicable, any partner institution responsible for the joint-award of this degree.

I give consent to this copy of my thesis, when deposited in the University Library, being made available for loan and photocopying, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968.

I also give permission for the digital version of my thesis to be made available on the web, via the University's digital research repository, the Library catalogue and also through web search engines, unless permission has been granted by the University to restrict access for a period of time.

Jing Zhou

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Undertaking this PhD has been a truly life-changing experience for me and it would not have been possible to do without the support and guidance that I received from many people. It would be impossible to list them all here; but, I would like to express my sincere thanks and appreciation to all those who contributed in many ways to the completion of this thesis.

First and foremost, I would like to say a very big thank you to my principle supervisor Dr Beverly Muhlhausler for all the support, encouragement and opportunities she gave me. Without her guidance and constant feedback, this PhD would not have been achievable. Her previous advice, constructive criticism and fruitful discussions have helped me in attaining a good grasp of the knowledge, and also in improving my writing skills. I greatly appreciate her patience for meticulous reading and for her personal action of kindness at every stage of my PhD. She is the excellent example for me as a successful women scientist and a wonderful person.

I must also express my sincere thanks to my co-supervisor Dr Tina Bianco for her terrific support and help in the epigenetic part of my research. I also would like to thank my co-supervisor Prof Clair Roberts for her help and support in the cell culture study. And thank you to Prof Stefan Hiendler for his help and suggestions for my writing.

I would also like to express my special appreciation and thanks to all of the mothers and children participated in the study for providing their valuable time, consents and samples. And thank you to all of staff and nurses involved in DOMInO study in both of Women's and Children's Hospital and Flinders Medical Centre for their working in clinic appointment.

I would also like to thank all of members in FOODplus Research Centre for their help and support. Pamela Sim, for her help in lab and blood samples collection from Newborn Screening cards. David Apps and Ela Zielinski, for their technical help in fatty acid analysis. Dr John Carragher, for his valuable suggestions and help in both of life and academic. Ge Liu, Katie Wood, Yichao Huang, Melinda, Dr Wei-chun Tu and Dr Zhi Yi Ong, for their help, company and friendship to colour my PhD journey.

I would aslo like to thank the members in CSIRO in Sydney, especially Susan Vadjik and Peter Molloy, for their help and support in epigenetic analysis and bioinformatics and their valuable time for meetings and suggestions for the thesis writing.

And last but not least, thank you to my family and friends. Thank you to my parents for their love, encouragement and financial support thought my studies. A huge thank you to my husband, Fei Lin, for his unfailing love, consoling and be there with me.

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

5hmeU	5-Hydroxymethalted Uracil
AA	Arachidonic Acid
AID	Activation-Induced Cytidine Deaminase
ALA	Alpha-Linolenic Acid
ANGPTL4	Angiopoietin-Like 4
ANOVA	One-Way Analysis of Variance
AOX	Acyl-Coa Oxidase
APOBEC	Apolipoprotein B Mrna Editing Enzyme
ARHFAP35	Rho Gtpase Activating Protein 35
ASNS	Asparagine Synthetase
BHT	Butylated Hydroxyanisole
BIS	Bioelectrical Impendence Spectroscopy
BMI	Body Mass Index
С	Cytosine
CAST	Calpastatin
CCK	Cholecystokinin
CI	Confidence Interval
CpG	Cytosine Phosphate Guanine
CV	Coefficient of Variation
DHA	Docosahexaenoic Acid
DMAC	Data Management and Analysis Centre
DME	Demeter
DMRs	Differently Methylated Regions
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic Acid
DNMT	DNA Methyltransferase
DOMInO	DHA to Optimise Mother Infant Outcome
DPA	Docosapentaenoic Acid
EPA	Eicosapentaenoic Acid
ESPCR	End-Specific PCR
FA	Fatty Acid
FADS2	Fatty Acid Desaturase
FAME	Fatty Acid Methyl Esters
FDR	False Discovery Rate
FID	Flame Ionisation Detector
FMC	Flinders Medical Centre
FO	Fish Oil
Foligos	Facilitator Oligonucleotides
G	Guanine
GC	Gas Chromatograph
GEE	Generalised Estimating Equation
GR	Glucocorticoid Receptor
HOMA-IR	Homeostatic Model Assessment Of Insulin Resistance

IPA	Ingenuity Pathways Analysis
IQ	Inter-Quartile Range
IQL	Instrument Quantitation Limit
LA	Linoleic Acid
LINE-1	Long Interspersed Nucleotide Element 1
LOD	Limit of Detection
MAGEB3	Melanoma Antigen Family B3
MeCP2	Methyl Cpg Binding Protein-2
MGLL	Monoglyceride Lipase
miRISC	Microrna-Induced Silencing Complexes
MQL	Method Quantitation Limit
mRNA	Messenger RNA
Ν	Number
n-3 LCPUFA	Omega-3 Long Chain Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids
NFAT5	Nuclear Factor of Activated T-Cells 5
NSCs	Child's Newborn Screening Cards
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development
PANTHER	Protein Analysis Through Evolutionary Relationships
PCR	Polymerase Chain Reaction
PEPCK	Phosphoenolpyruvate Carboxykinase
POMC	Pro-Opiomelanocortin
PPAR	Peroxisomal Proliferator-Activated Receptor
	Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase Receptor Type F Polypeptide-Interacting
PPFIBP1	Protein-Binding Protein 1
PTV	Programmed Temperature Vaporization Injector
RBC	Red Blood Cells
RCTs	Randomised Controlled Trials
RISC	RNA-Induced Silencing Complexes
RNA Pol	RNA Polymerase
ROS1	Glycosylases Repressor Of Silencing 1
RQI	Rna Quality Indicator
RSD	Relative Standard Deviation
RXRA	Retinoid X Receptor-A
SAH	S-Adenosyl Homocysteine
SAM	S-Adenosyl Methionine
SAMD4A	Sterile Alpha Motif Domain Containing 4A
SD	Standard Deviation
SNP	Single Nucleotide Polymorphism
SO	Soy Oil
SREBP	Sterol Regulatory Element Binding Protein
SRM	Serum Reduced Media
STON1	Stonin1
Т	Thymine
TDG	Thymine DNA Glycosylase

Thin Layer Chromatography
Variable Methylated Regions
Women's And Children's Hospital
World Health Organisation

CHAPTER 1: LITERATURE REVIEW

1.1. Introduction

The prevalence of obesity and type 2 diabetes has increased dramatically over the past two decades, and these diseases are now recognised as major public health issues in many countries^{1,2}.

A large number of epidemiological studies have shown that the environment, in particular the nutritional environment, experienced before birth and in early infancy has a long-term impact on an individual's risk of developing obesity, type 2 diabetes and associated metabolic diseases later in life³⁻⁵. There is a growing body of evidence which suggests that exposure to either an inappropriately low or inappropriately high nutrient supply before birth and/or excesses or deficiencies of specific dietary components acts to increase the subsequent risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes in the offspring^{2.6-8}. This programming of an increased risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes is thought to be due to the ability of nutritional imbalances during development to cause permanent alterations in the expression of genes regulating fat metabolism and energy balance in the offspring⁹⁻¹². However, the mechanisms which underlie this programming of altered gene expression are not clearly understood.

More recently, there has been growing interest in the potential role of omega-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acids (n-3 LCPUFAs) in the early programming of fat mass and metabolic health. N-3 LCPUFAs are known to play a critical role in fetal development, particularly the development of the brain and nervous system¹³⁻¹⁶. However, both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies in adult animals and humans have also shown that the n-3 LCPUFA can reduce fat deposition and improve insulin

sensitivity¹⁷⁻²⁵. This has led to suggestions that increasing the supply of n-3 LCPUFA in the maternal diet during pregnancy and/or lactation may protect the offspring against the development of obesity and insulin resistance/type 2 diabetes later in life^{26,27}. However, the data from the human and animal studies conducted in this field to date has been inconclusive²⁶⁻³². The clinical trial which provided the source of samples for much of this thesis set out to resolve this controversy. The aim of Chapter 2 was to examine the effect of maternal supplementation with n-3 LCPUFAs, chiefly as docosahexaenoic acid (DHA), in the second half of pregnancy on the risk of developing obesity and type 2 diabetes in the children.

The mechanisms through which an altered nutritional environment in fetal life/early infancy programs an increased risk of obesity and insulin resistance/type 2 diabetes in the offspring, and how n-3 LCPUFA may act to mitigate this risk is also unclear. A substantial body of research in animal models has indicated that epigenetic changes may represent an important link between prenatal nutrition, altered gene expression and heightened risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes in the offspring^{12,33,34}. Epigenetic changes are reversible and mitotically heritable DNA modifications that result in altered gene expression and/or alter the way that a gene expression is regulated without a change in DNA sequence^{12,33,34}. The most well-described epigenetic modification is DNA methylation which involves the covalent addition of a methyl group to DNA at a cytosine residue³⁵. In this thesis, two measurements of DNA methylation were undertaken; global DNA methylation and genome-wide gene/region specific DNA methylation. Global DNA methylation measures the total proportion of cytosine residues across the genome which are methylated vs unmethylated^{36,37}; and, genome-wide DNA methylation assesses the degree of DNA

methylation at specific loci across the genome (i.e. gene/region specific DNA methylation)³⁸.

Animal studies have shown that alterations in the nutritional environment during the perinatal period can affect epigenetic status, including the methylation level, in genes which have an important role in regulating fat deposition and metabolism^{35,39-44}. This then might lead to changes in gene expression and gene function which is associated with an altered regulation of energy balance, appetite and/or metabolism and which ultimately leads to the development of obesity and type 2 diabetes^{35,39-44}. However, whilst the importance of epigenetic modifications for the programming of metabolic diseases has been demonstrated in animals, human studies that have determined whether nutritional exposures during pregnancy can result in epigenetic alterations at birth or in childhood remain extremely limited. Therefore, the central aim of Chapter 3 and 4 of this thesis was to determine whether maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation, chiefly as DHA, in the second half of pregnancy was associated with modifications to either (a) global DNA methylation or (b) genome-wide DNA methylation in the children at birth and/or at 5 years of age. We also aimed to determine whether there was any evidence that global methylation levels at birth or at 5 years of age were correlated with markers of metabolic health, including Body Mass Index (BMI) z-score, percentage body fat and insulin resistance, in the children at 5 years of age.

In addition to effects on the epigenome, studies in both humans and in animal models have suggested that a significant degree of developmental programming is likely to be mediated by effects on the placenta. Previous studies have reported that maternal dietary restriction, dietary excess, obesity or diabetes results in an altered profile of gene expression in the placenta which impacts on placental function, nutrient transfer and, ultimately, fetal and neonatal outcomes^{45,46}. However, despite the large number of studies which have evaluated the effects of maternal DHA supplementation on the child, there is limited knowledge of the effects of DHA on placenta. Therefore, the aim of Chapter 5 of this thesis was to establish, using a placental trophoblast cell line model, the effect of DHA treatment on proliferative activity, apoptosis and gene expression profile of placental cells *in vitro*.

1.2. Obesity and Insulin Resistance/Type 2 Diabetes

1.2.1. Obesity

Obesity is a medical condition which describes an excessive accumulation of body fat that may lead to adverse health consequences^{1,8,47}. BMI (weight/height²) is used to define obesity in adults because it is positively correlated with both total body fat and percentage body fat, at least at a population level^{1,8,47}. Individuals with a BMI of more than 30kg/m^2 are classified as obese, while those with a BMI of between 25 and 30kg/m^2 are classified as overweight² (Table 1.1). The prevalence of obesity has increased dramatically over the past 3 decades and continues to increase in both developed and developing nations². In 2014, more than 600 million adults (18 years and older) world-wide were obese, and about 1.9 billion adults were overweight². The prevalence of overweight and obesity among Australians has been steadily increasing for the past 30 years⁴⁸, and has more than doubled in the past 20 years⁴⁸. In 2011–12, approximately 60% of Australian adults were classified as overweight or obese, and more than 25% of these fell into the obese category⁴⁹. A 2009 report by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) predicts that there will be a continued increase in the prevalence overweight and obesity levels across all age groups in Australia, and that these conditions will affect 65% of the population by the end of the next decade 50 .

BMI range (kg/m²)	Category
<18.5	Underweight
18.5-25	Normal
25-30	Overweight
>30	Obese

Table 1.1: Categories of BMI²

1.2.1.1. Obesity is a Major Health Issue

Obesity has been recognised as a major public health issue across the world since 1997, and is currently the fifth leading cause of global deaths². This is largely because obese individuals have an increased risk of many adverse physical and mental health conditions, including an increased risk of cardiovascular diseases (including ischemic heart disease, hypertension and stroke), type 2 diabetes, musculoskeletal disorders (for example, osteoarthritis), and some types of cancer^{2,51}. More than 2.8 million adults worldwide die every year as a result of complications directly associated with being overweight or obese². Epidemiological studies have reported that men who are obese have a significantly higher relative risk of death increases with increasing BMI^{1,47}. As a result, men with a BMI between 30 to 45kg/m² have a 2-4 year lower life expectancy and individuals with a BMI of more than 40kg/m² have a 10 year lower life expectancy compared to men in the healthy weight range^{1,47}.

Along with the increasing prevalence of obesity in adults, there has been a dramatic increase in the number of overweight and obese children. In 2007, up to 25% of children aged 2-16 were overweight or obese, with 6% classified as obese world-wide⁵². Obesity in childhood is also associated with adverse health consequences,

including breathing difficulties, increased risk of fractures, hypertension, early markers of cardiovascular disease, insulin resistance and an increased risk of psychological disorders⁵³. Importantly, childhood obesity is associated with a higher risk of obesity, premature death and disability in adulthood⁵³. Therefore, the prevention of obesity in children is an important strategy for reducing the overall incidence of obesity in the population.

1.2.1.2. Causes of Obesity

Obesity is fundamentally caused by an imbalance between energy consumed and energy expended¹. It is also clear, however, that the susceptibility to becoming overweight or obese varies significantly between individuals^{51,54}. It is therefore important to understand the cause of individual differences in susceptibility to becoming overweight/obese. In this context, it is important that a worldwide series of human and experimental animal studies have shown that an individual's risk of obesity in later life can be influenced by the nutritional environment they experience before birth, and that being exposed to either an insufficient or excessive nutrient supply during early development increases an individual's susceptibility to obesity through the life course^{10,12,55-57}.

1.2.2. Insulin Resistance and Type 2 Diabetes

1.2.2.1. Insulin Resistance

Insulin resistance is a physiological condition in which cells fail to respond to the normal actions of the hormone insulin, leading to hyperglycaemia. As a consequence of reduced insulin sensitivity in peripheral tissues, the pancreatic beta cells increase their production of insulin, which results in compensatory hyperinsulinemia. The combination of fasting hyperglycaemia and reduced sensitivity to the actions of insulin can progress to type 2 diabetes⁵⁸. A number of factors increase the risk of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes in humans, including genetic, environmental (physical activity and diet) and pathological (obesity, hypertension or infections) factors⁵⁹. The primary treatment for insulin resistance is dietary modification and increased physical activity, and insulin sensitivity improves significantly in response to weight loss⁵⁹. The gold standard method of measuring insulin resistance is the hyperinsulinemic euglycemic clamp, a measure of the amount of glucose required to maintain euglycemia in the presence of elevated insulin concentration which indicates how sensitive the tissue is to insulin^{60,61}. However, since this method is invasive and relatively involved, other methods, such as the modified insulin suppression test, homeostatic model assessment (HOMA-IR) and quantitative insulin sensitivity check index (QUICKI), are often used clinically to provide an estimate of insulin sensitivity.

1.2.2.2. Type 2 Diabetes

Type 2 diabetes mellitus is a metabolic disorder that is characterised by hyperglycaemia, in the context of insulin resistance and relative lack of insulin

secretion^{62,63}. Individuals with a fasting venous plasma glucose greater than or equal to 7.0mmol/L or venous plasma glucose greater than or equal to 11.1mmol/L in an oral glucose tolerance test (venous plasma glucose 2 hours after ingestion of 75g oral glucose load) are classified as type 2 diabetic according to the criteria set by the WHO (World Health Organisation) (Table 1.2)⁶⁴. Recent statistics suggest that the number of individuals with type 2 diabetes will double to 300 million globally by 2025 and that it will be 7th leading cause of death by the year 2030⁶⁵. The major risk factor for type 2 diabetes is overweight and obesity and it is possible to improve or reverse this disease with weight loss. Medications such as metformin and the thiazolidnediones are also used to improve insulin sensitivity in individuals where the condition cannot be managed by diet and exercise alone⁶⁶.

 Table 1.2: 2006 WHO recommendations for the diagnostic criteria for diabetes

 and intermediate hyperglycaemia⁶⁴

Conditions	2 hour plasma glucose (mmol/L)	Fasting glucose (mmol/L)
Impaired fasting glucose	<7.8	≥6.1 and ≤6.9
Impaired glucose tolerance	≥7.8 and <11.1	<7.0
Diabetes	≥11.1	≥7.0

1.2.3. Early Life Programming of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes

It has been well-documented in both human and animal studies that environmental perturbations during prenatal life including changes in nutrient, oxygen and hormone concentrations during critical periods of embryonic and fetal development can lead to lifelong changes in the phenotype of the offspring. Importantly, these changes can result in an increased risk of metabolic diseases, including obesity and type 2 diabetes, later in life¹⁰. Epidemiological studies in humans, conducted in many different countries, have shown that an individual's birth weight is correlated with their risk of metabolic diseases later in life^{3-5,67-75}. A number of experimental animal models have been established to investigate the mechanisms which underlie the association between the prenatal environment and the changes in physiology and metabolism of the offspring^{3-5,67-75}. Collectively, these studies have shown that exposure to either an inappropriately low or inappropriately high supply of nutrients or exposure to deficiencies/excesses of specific dietary components during embryonic and fetal development results in altered development of key systems involved in the regulation of energy balance, appetite and fat deposition and persistent alterations in gene expression in the offspring 28 .

1.2.3.1. Programming of Obesity and Type 2 diabetes in Humans

One of the earliest and most compelling studies to demonstrate the relationship between birth weight and later metabolic health was a study of 468 individuals who were all born in the same week in Herefordshire, UK. In this cohort, individuals in the lowest quintile of birth weight had an 18-fold higher risk of having the metabolic syndrome (including impaired glucose tolerance, hypertension and hypertriglyceridemia) at 64 years of age compared to those in the highest birth weight quintile⁷⁶. Since then, a large number of other studies have reported similar associations in populations worldwide^{4,5,67,77-79}. Studies of populations in the United Kingdom, North America, India and China have reported that infants who were born either small or large for gestational age have an increased risk of obesity, insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes in child and adulthood compared to average birth weight infants ^{4,5,10,70-73,80,81}. Thus, there appears to be a U-shaped or J-shaped relationship between weight at birth and the risk of later metabolic disease^{6,68,69}. Birth weight has been a useful and convenient proxy marker of the nutritional environment during fetal development in human population based studies, since variations in birth weight in human infants are primarily accounted for by variations in the amount of body fat^{7,47,51}. In human infants, body fat usually begins to accumulate from ~25 weeks gestation^{3,47}. Hence, lower birth weight and a poorer intrauterine environment, i.e. a reduced substrate supply to the developing fetus, is normally correlated with a lower body fat mass in the newborn¹⁰.

Conversely, there is a growing body of evidence which suggests that exposure to an excess nutrient supply, resulting in an increased birth weight, also acts to increase the risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes in later life⁸². Both maternal obesity and diabetes increase the fat and glucose supply to the fetus, which is associated with increased growth and fat deposition in the infant^{3,67,74,82}. Thus, these infants are heavy at birth and tend to stay heavy throughout child and adulthood^{3,67,74,82}. These studies have also reported that children born to mothers who were obese or who had diabetes during their pregnancy are at increased risk of developing metabolic diseases, including type 2 diabetes, in child and adulthood⁸³. This has led to the creation of an intergenerational cycle of obesity and type 2 diabetes, in which mothers who are

obese or diabetic during their pregnancy are more likely to give birth to infants who go on to develop these diseases later in life^{3,67,74,82}.

1.2.3.2. Programming of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes in Animal studies

Whilst there is evidence from human studies that the prenatal nutritional environment is an important determinant of the risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes in the offspring in later life, human studies provide limited insights into the mechanisms which underlie this association. It is also easier to accurately measure the composition and amount of dietary intake in animal studies compared to human studies^{5,74,77}. Moreover, the tissues of animals can be accessed to investigate the mechanisms by which prenatal nutrition influences the risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes in offspring.

Models of both prenatal under-nutrition and over-nutrition have been developed in a number of animal species in order to investigate these mechanisms. Two of the most widely used models of under-nutrition include maternal low protein diets and global caloric restriction in rodents⁸⁴⁻⁹⁰, and both of these dietary treatments are associated with an increased risk of metabolic diseases including increased fat deposition, hypertension, impaired glucose homeostasis and vascular dysfunction in the offspring^{10,57,84,87}. The offspring of dams that are fed a globally nutrient restricted diet are growth restricted *in utero*, resulting in a significant reduction in weight and size at birth compared to the offspring of dams fed on standard diets⁹¹. The offspring of undernourished dams also developed hyperinsulinaemia, hyperphagia, hyperleptinaemia, hypertension, and obesity as adults⁹¹. Similarly, in guinea pigs, offspring of mothers fed a diet providing 85% of the energy of an *ad libitum* control

diet exhibited altered cholesterol metabolism and lipid homeostasis at 150 days of age⁹².

Animal models of prenatal over-nutrition, including maternal high-fat feeding in rodents, sheep and primates and early postnatal over-nutrition in rodents, have shown that exposure to over-nutrition early in life increases the risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes in the offspring through the life course^{5,67,71,74,77,80-82}. Interestingly, the impact of maternal over-nutrition on the risk of obesity and insulin resistance in the offspring appear to be independent of effects on birthweight, with different studies reporting either increases^{67,82} or decreases^{93,94} in birth weight in offspring exposed to maternal over-nutrition during pregnancy.

Thus, both human and animal studies have shown that obesity and insulin resistance/type 2 diabetes can have their origins in early life, and that the quantity and composition of the maternal diet during early development plays an important role in metabolic programming. Experimental animal studies have provided insights into the mechanisms through which this early programming of obesity occurs^{10,57,90,95,96}, and have consistently demonstrated that exposure to an inappropriate supply of nutrients (i.e. protein, fat or global caloric intake) during development results in persistent changes in gene expression in key tissues and organ systems involved in the regulation of appetite, fat deposition and/or energy metabolism in the offspring^{12,56,57,89,97-107}. These changes in gene expression persist after birth, and often throughout the life of the animal, and are associated with changes in the function of key metabolic tissues, including the liver, adipose tissue and appetite regulating neural network^{12,56,57,89,97-107}. Whilst the causes of these

persistent changes in gene expression are not known, more recent studies have suggested that they are likely to be associated with epigenetic changes are induced in response to an altered nutritional supply before birth (Figure 1.1)^{12,34,39,105,108}.



Figure 1.1: Hypothesised pathway linking prenatal nutritional exposures to increased susceptibility to later obesity. According to this hypothesis, specific nutrients in the fetal circulation produce epigenetic modifications in genes related to lipid and carbohydrate metabolism and appetite in the offspring. These epigenetic changes persist after birth, resulting in stable changes in gene expression and thus alterations in the structure and function of these systems. It is also possible that changes in gene expression can contribute to further epigenetic changes. Ultimately, body fat mass and insulin sensitivity in the offspring are persistently altered.

1.3. N-3 LCPUFAs

N-3 LCPUFAs are one of the two major classes of polyunsaturated fatty acids. These fatty acids are characterised structurally by the presence of more than one double bond along the fatty acid chain, with the first double bond located on the third carbon atom from the methyl end¹⁰⁹. The two most biologically important n-3 LCPUFAs are eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA) and DHA, the structures of which are shown in Figure 1.2^{109} . EPA and DHA have been well recognised for their beneficial effects in adults, particularly protection against cardiovascular and inflammatory diseases^{15,110,111}, and DHA is also highly abundant in nerve tissues and the retina¹⁴. N-3 LCPUFAs can be obtained preformed from marine sources, including oily fish such as salmon, tuna, mackerel, herrings, sardines and other seafood¹⁰⁹. They can also be synthesised endogenously from the short-chain precursor, alpha-linolenic acid (ALA), through a series of desaturation and elongation reactions. However, the process of converting ALA through to EPA and DHA is quite inefficient in humans¹⁰⁹. Hence, an adequate supply of n-3 LCPUFA in the diet is important for ensuring an adequate n-3 LCPUFAs status (blood concentration of these fatty acids). The National Heart Foundation of Australia recommends that Australian adults consume at least 500mg of EPA and DHA every day to assist in maintaining heart health¹¹².



Figure 1.2: Molecular structures of DHA and EPA¹⁰⁹.

1.3.1. N-3 LCPUFAs and the Risk of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes

Obesity is a metabolic disorder and is associated with increased risk of developing chronic morbidities including hypertension, insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes and dyslipidaemia, which constitute the major components of the metabolic syndrome^{17,113}. Recently, there has been growing interest in the potential for increased n-3 LCPUFA intake to have beneficial effects on features of the metabolic syndrome. This is based both on their anti-inflammatory properties and their role in the regulation of lipid metabolism, lipid storage and insulin action^{16,109-112}.

The excess lipid storage in fat depots in obesity is associated with the infiltration of pro-inflammatory mediators into adipose tissue, and the resulting chronic low-grade inflammation has been identified as a key factor contributing to the development of obesity-related metabolic disorders¹¹⁴. EPA and DHA have been shown to alter the functional responses of cells involved in inflammation, resulting in inhibition of: leucocyte chemotaxis and reducing adhesion molecule expression and rleucocyteendothelial adhesive interaction. In addition, both of the n-3 LCPUFA act to inhibit the, production of pro-inflammatory eicosanoids and cytokines and enhance phagocytosis¹¹⁵. These well-established anti-inflammatory properties of n-3 LCPUFA have led to suggestions that increased consumption of EPA and DHA may help to prevent the progression to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes in overweight/obese individuals¹⁷, ^{115,116}. In addition to their anti-inflammatory properties, n-3 LCPUFAs have been found to suppress adipogenesis (fat cell formation) and lipogenesis (lipid storage) in vitro and in experimental animals and promote fatty acid oxidation in key metabolic organs such as liver, skeletal muscle and white adipose tissue¹⁸⁻²¹. N-3 LCPUFAs mediate these actions by regulating the

activity of key transcription factors including sterol regulatory element binding protein (SREBP) (down regulation) and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs) (up regulation)^{117,118}.

The physiological effects of n-3 LCPUFA on fat cell formation, fat storage, fat metabolism, insulin sensitivity and inflammation suggest that n-3 LCPUFAs may have a protective role against the development of obesity and its associated metabolic disorders, in particular insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. However, there is currently limited evidence in support of a relationship between n-3 LCPUFA status and adiposity or insulin sensitivity in humans, with studies in this area to date producing conflicting results¹⁶. Some studies have supported the suggestion that n-3 LCPUFAs are beneficial for metabolic health. One study, by Micallef and colleagues, for example, reported an inverse relationship between plasma concentrations of n-3 LCPUFAs and BMI, waist circumference and hip circumference²². In another study, men with high fish consumption were found to have a reduced risk of overweight; however, no association between n-3 LCPUFAs intake and BMI was shown in a 12 year follow-up study of this same population²³. In contrast, another prospective cohort study reported that high fish and n-3 LCPUFA intake was associated with an increased prevalence of obesity²⁴.

In addition to population studies, the potential for increased dietary n-3 LCPUFA intakes to reduce fat accumulation and improve insulin sensitivity has also been explored in a number of randomised controlled trials (RCTs); however these have also yielded inconsistent results. One study which was conducted in 65 overweight adults reported that 12 weeks of supplementation with 0.36g EPA + 1.6g DHA/day

without any other dietary changes resulted in a greater reduction in body fat mass compared to placebo²⁵. Similarly, another randomised controlled trial by Kunesova et al. found that supplementing morbidly obese women (n=20) with 1.9g EPA + 0.9g DHA/day for 4 weeks in conjunction with an energy restricted diet (520kcal/day) achieved a significantly greater weight loss compared with the placebo group¹¹⁹. Thorsdottir et al. also reported significantly greater decreases in body weight and waist circumference in overweight or obese men who received daily fish or fish oil supplementation in conjunction with a very low energy diet (600kcal/day) for 8 weeks compared with the placebo group¹²⁰. Another study also showed that fish oil supplementation, together with a reduced calorie diet, was associated with greater decreases in body fat, fat mass, and adipocyte diameter of subcutaneous tissue in healthy adults or women with type 2 diabetes, than achieved with the low calorie diet alone^{121,122}.

Despite these positive results, a number of other RCTs have failed to demonstrate any beneficial effects of n-3 LCPUFAs supplementation on body weight or body fat loss. DeFina et al. reported that 6 month period of n-3 LCPUFA (EPA: DHA=5:1, 5g/day) supplementation had no additional effect on body weight reduction, body fat loss or waist circumference compared to dietary restriction alone¹²³. In another study, obese adults who received 14 weeks of n-3 LCPUFA supplementation (70mg EPA and 270mg DHA/day) together with an energy-restricted diet, exhibited similar weight loss and improvements in metabolic profile compared with the placebo group¹²⁴. Similarly, another study reported that overweight or obese insulin-resistant women who received fish oil supplementation (1.3g EPA+ 2.9g DHA/day) together with an energy restricted diet had the same body weight after 5 weeks of treatment compared with the placebo control group¹²⁵. Thus, the potential for n-3 LCPUFA supplementation to improve metabolic health in humans remains controversial.

1.3.2. Roles of n-3 LCPUFAs in Perinatal Development

The n-3 LCPUFAs, in particular DHA, play a particularly important role in fetal and neonatal development in humans, especially the development of the visual, brain and nervous system¹²⁶⁻¹²⁸. This has led to numerous clinical studies that have focussed on determining whether exposure to an increased supply of DHA before birth and in early infancy has beneficial effects on the cognitive, visual and behavioural development^{129,130}. Some epidemiological studies have reported that higher maternal intake of fish during pregnancy is associated with improved cognitive function in their children aged from 6 month to 8 years^{131,132}. Some of the RCTs which have been conducted in this area have also demonstrated positive effects of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on neurodevelopmental outcomes in children¹³³⁻¹³⁵. However, a meta-analysis of RCTs of maternal fish oil supplementation concluded that there was insufficient evidence of a beneficial effect of maternal fish oil supplementation on cognitive outcomes in children, despite positive results in some smaller studies¹³⁶. This is supported by recent results from the largest double-blind RCTs of DHA supplementation in pregnancy conducted to date, the DHA to Optimise Mother Infant Outcome (DOMInO) trial, which also found no significant beneficial effect of maternal DHA supplementation on cognitive composite scores and mean language composite scores in their children, either at 18 months or 4 years, when compared with the placebo group 128,137 . Thus, there is currently no robust evidence for a beneficial effect of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy on cognitive outcomes in children.
1.3.3. N-3 LCPUFAs and Programming of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes

The role of n-3 LCPUFA in decreasing fat deposition, fat cell formation and improving insulin sensitivity in vitro and in adult animals had led to suggestions that an increased supply of these fatty acids during fetal life and early infancy could improve later metabolic health outcomes in the child^{26,28,29,138}. However, there are currently few studies which have explored the role of n-3 LCPUFAs in programming of obesity and type 2 diabetes. One study which examined the relationship between maternal circulating DHA level and fetal insulin sensitivity by measuring cord blood glucose and insulin concentrations, concluded that low circulating DHA levels were associated with compromised fetal insulin sensitivity, and may therefore be involved in prenatally "programming" the susceptibility to type 2 diabetes in the offspring of mothers with gestational diabetes¹³. Some studies in rodents have also shown that increased n-3 LCPUFAs in the diet during pregnancy and lactation decreased weight and blood pressure in the adult offspring¹³⁹, and it has therefore been suggested that n-3 LCPUFAs supplementation during pregnancy could potentially decrease the risk of obesity and improve insulin sensitivity and cardiometabolic health in the offspring. Although the results of animal studies have generally been positive, closer examination of the studies reveals that only two have actually confined the n-3 LCPUFA supplementation to the prenatal and suckling periods, and one of these two studies reported that fat mass was actually increased in the offspring of DHAsupplemented dams at 6 weeks of age^{139} .

The effect of maternal supplementation with n-3 LCPUFAs during pregnancy and/or lactation on BMI of the children has been examined in only a small number of human trials^{26,29,30,140}, and these have produced conflicting results. Donahue and

colleagues reported that an enhanced maternal n-3 LCPUFA status was associated with lower childhood adiposity¹⁴¹. One study reported that the weight and BMI of infants born to mothers supplemented with n-3 LCPUFAs (200mg DHA/day) during pregnancy and lactation was significantly lower compared to the control group at 21 months of age²⁶. A follow-up of the children from this trial, however, reported that no effect of the n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on BMI at 6 years of age^{138} . Interestingly, another study found that the children of mothers given fish oil during pregnancy had a significantly higher BMI at 2.5 years of age compared to children of mothers in the placebo group³⁰, while a third study found that n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during the lactation period had no effect on BMI in the children at 7 years of age²⁹. Hence, the effects of n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during fetal development on the risk of obesity in offspring later in life remain unclear, and more studies are needed to investigate whether n-3 LCPUFA supplementation in humans could reduce the risk of obesity and insulin resistance/type 2 diabetes in infants and children. No human studies have determined the effect of increased prenatal n-3 LCPUFA on insulin sensitivity in the children, and this remains an important area for future research.

1.4. Epigenetic Modifications

Epigenetic modifications are defined as alterations to DNA which result in the alteration of gene expression without a change in the DNA sequence and may persist through cycles of cell division³³. Epigenetic processes are particularly important for cellular differentiation during early development, in which a single zygote with a single cell type develops into an embryo and fetus which contains many different cell lineages such as muscle cells, blood vessels cells and neurons³³. Even though each different type of cell has the same DNA sequence, they have different profiles of gene expression and different properties because each cell type carries different set of genes are expressed¹⁰.

In addition to their role in normal development, there is growing evidence that epigenetic processes also play an important role in the developmental origins of various diseases including allergic and metabolic diseases¹⁴². For example, animal studies have shown that supplementing the maternal diet with methyl donors increased allergic inflammation in the offspring by increasing global and gene-specific DNA methylation¹⁴².

1.4.1. DNA Methylation

DNA methylation is currently the best characterised of the epigenetic modifications, and changes in DNA methylation play a critical role in the development of organisms³³. DNA methylation involves the attachment of a methyl group (CH₃) at the number 6 nitrogen of the adenine purine ring or the 5 position of the cytosine pyrimidine ring³³ (Figure 1.3). In humans, DNA methylation mainly occurs on the position 5 carbon of CpG dinucleotides, which are cytosine and guanine nucleotides linked by a phosphate group in the DNA chain³³.



Figure 1.3: The most common methylation process is attachment of a CH_4 at the 5 position carbon in cytosine pyrimidine ring by DNA methyltransferase $(DNMT)^{33}$. The methyl group (CH_3) is contributed from the co-substrate S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) which is converted to S-adenosyl homocysteine (SAH) during the methylation process¹⁴².

Early development is a time during which there are particularly dynamic changes in the methylation status of genes¹⁰. In early pregnancy the majority of genes in the zygote are unmethylated, due to a process in the genome initiated after fertilisation in which 60% to 90% of CpG dinucleotides become de-methylated¹⁰. The genes of the

zygote are then re-methylated in a step-wise fashion during the subsequent stages of fetal development (Figure 1.4)¹⁰. Even though the reason for demethylation/re-methylation process still is not completely understood, studies have shown that DNA methylation is important for cellular differentiation and organ development in humans¹⁰, and that it can change the pattern of gene expression in the cells or maintain gene silencing⁴¹.



Figure 1.4: After fertilisation, the embryo's genome undergoes almost complete demethylation. Then, just prior to implantation, the genome undergoes step-wise remethylation in a gene-specific manner¹⁰.

There are two ways that DNA methylation influences gene transcription¹⁰. The first is the methyl group preventing binding of transcription factors to the promoter region of the gene, thereby blocking its transcription¹⁰. The second is by the methylated CpG recruiting the methyl CpG binding protein-2 (MeCP2) to the coding region (Figure 1.5)¹⁰. This MeCP2 recruits other histone-modifying complexes resulting in a closed chromatin structure and transcriptional silencing¹⁰. The binding of other

complexes can also remodel the structure of the chromosome which permanently inhibits the transcription of the affected gene. Both of these pathways suppress DNA transcription¹⁰.



Figure 1.5: RNA polymerase (RNA Pol) binds the coding region when it is unmethylated. MeCP2 binds to the coding region when it is methylated. CH_3 denotes the methyl group¹⁰.

1.4.1.1. Assessments of DNA Methylation

DNA methylation can be assessed as both global DNA methylation and gene-specific CpG island methylation. Global DNA methylation refers to the overall level of 5-methylcytosine in genome³⁷ and can be measured by using repeat interspersed regions such as *Alu* or Long Interspersed Nucleotide Element 1 (LINE-1). LINE-1 is the most abundant family of non-long terminal repeat retrotransposons found in the genome, making up about 17% of the human genome^{143,144}. Such elements have

served as a useful proxy for global DNA methylation as they are commonly heavily methylated in normal tissues, and are spread ubiquitously throughout the genome¹⁴⁵. Most of the methods used to measure DNA methylation are based on the ability of sodium bisulfite to selectively deaminate cytosine, but not 5-methylcytosine, to uracil^{142,143}. Thus, treating DNA with sodium bisulfite allows the researcher to distinguish cytosine from 5-methylcytosine^{146,147}. After the bisulfite conversion, the sequence differences between a methylated and unmethylated cytosine can be exploited by either direct sequencing, restriction digestion¹⁴⁸, nucleotide extension assays¹⁴⁹, primer-specific PCR¹⁵⁰ or pyrosequencing^{147,148}. Other than the bisulfite conversion techniques, end-specific PCR using a methylation-sensitive restriction enzyme can also be used as a sensitive measure of global DNA methylation³⁶.

Gene-specific CpG island methylation assesses the methylation status at a specific locus or region which can be associated with gene regulation, as described in the previous paragraphs³⁸. Genome-wide DNA methylation analysis provides the profile of locus-specific methylation status across the whole genome³⁸.

1.4.2. Histone Acetylation

Histone acetylation regulates the transcription of numerous genes¹⁵¹. This process involves the addition of an acetyl group on the N-terminal tail of lysine residues under the catalysis of histone acetyltransferase¹⁵¹ (Figure 1.6). Histone acetylation gives rise to a negative charge on lysine residues to neutralise the positive charge of the histone¹⁵¹. This neutralisation decreases the interaction between phosphate groups of DNA, which also have a negative charge, and the N-terminal of the histone and results in a more relaxed structure in the condensed chromatin¹⁵¹. This makes the DNA more accessible to transcriptional machinery and therefore results in enhanced transcription of the gene¹⁵¹. Conversely, histone acetylation can be reversed by histone deacetylases through histone deacetylation, and this leads to a tighter configuration of the condensed chromatin and reduced expression of the gene^{151,152}.



Figure 1.6: The process of acetylation and deacetylation on the lysine residue¹⁵³.

1.4.3. MicroRNA

MicroRNAs are small single-stranded noncoding RNAs with a length of around 22 nucleotides¹⁵⁴. They exist in most eukaryotic organisms to mediate gene silencing post-transcription by inhibiting of translating mRNA into protein or destabilising mRNA¹⁵⁴. They are abundant in many human cells; the human genome is thought to encode over 1000 microRNAs, which target around 60% of mammalian genes. microRNAs are involved in the variety of processes such as development, cell proliferation, differentiation and apoptosis. They regulate numerous metabolic processes including insulin secretion, heart muscle development, hematopoietic lineage differentiation, apoptosis, and neuron development¹⁵⁵⁻¹⁵⁷.

MicroRNAs are processed from primary transcripts in two main steps: transcription and cleavage (Figure 1.7)¹⁵⁴. Either discreet miRNA genes or introns of protein coding genes are transcribed to pri-microRNA by RNA Pol II/III in nucleus¹⁵⁴. PrimicroRNA is then cleaved into pre-microRNA (which has around a 70nt hairpin structure) by RNase III-type enzyme, Drosha- DiGeorge syndrome critical region 8(Drosha-DGCR8)¹⁵⁴. Once pre-microRNAs are transported into the cytoplasm by Exportin-5-RanGTP¹⁵⁸, they are processed into double stranded RNAs (approximately 22bp length) by the RISC loading complex, which comprised a RNase Dicer, binding protein TRBP, protein activator of PKR and Argonaute proteins¹⁵⁴. The mature microRNA (one of two strands of processed microRNA) is loaded onto the Argonaute proteins to form microRNA-induced silencing complexes (miRISC)¹⁵⁴, which act to inhibit target messenger RNA (mRNA) translation by reacting with their complementary sequences¹⁵⁴.



Figure 1.7: Mechanism of microRNA biogenesis. The nuclear membrane is presented as a broken curved black line.

In conclusion, epigenetic modifications are critical for gene expression and cellular differentiation during development, and the long-term stability of some epigenetic marks can be associated with latent effects on disease predisposition. If the embryo or fetus is exposed to an environmental perturbation during the re-methylation of the genome, or during other sensitive developmental windows, then this could potentially interfere with the normal process of re-methylation and thus lead to permanent changes in gene expression or the regulation of transcription of a particular gene or set of genes¹⁰. If this gene or genes codes for a peptide related to lipid metabolism, energy balance regulation or insulin signalling, then these epigenetic changes have the potential to cause long term changes in the structure and function of systems related to fat accumulation and insulin sensitivity or glucose tolerance and thus impact on an individual's subsequent risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes¹⁰. Hence, the impact of the nutritional environment experienced during early development on epigenetic status of the newborn provides a mechanism through which the function of key metabolic genes, and hence the risk of obesity in offspring, can be influenced by prenatal nutrition.

1.5. Prenatal Nutrition and Epigenetic Changes in the Offspring

1.5.1. Animal Models

Although the role of epigenetics in the early life origins of obesity and type 2 diabetes in humans is not completely understood; there is considerable evidence from animal studies that epigenetic process have an important role in the mechanistic pathway through which the prenatal nutritional environment impacts on the susceptibility of the offspring to obesity and type 2 diabetes in later life.

Altering maternal nutrient intake has been shown to affect the DNA methylation status of specific genes which regulate lipid and carbohydrate metabolism and which are involved in the central regulation of appetite, and thereby lead to permanent alterations in the structure and function of these systems in the offspring^{10,12,96}. Table 1.3 presents a summary of existing animal (predominately rodent) studies which have investigated the association between maternal nutrition in pregnancy and epigenetic changes in specific genes involved in vascular, endocrine or metabolic function. All of these epigenetic changes have been assessed by measuring DNA methylation status of candidate genes in individual target tissues or in blood.

Metastable epialleles, alleles that are variably expressed in genetically identical individuals due to epigenetic modifications that were established during early development, have been particularly valuable for studying the impact of environmental exposures in utero on the offspring epigemone¹⁵⁹⁻¹⁶². One model for such epigenetically based phenotypic variability is the viable yellow agouti ($A^{\nu y}$) mouse¹⁵⁹. The viable yellow agouti ($A^{\nu y}$) allele, whose expression is correlated to DNA methylation, is a murine metastable epiallele, which has been used as an

epigenetic biosensor for environmental factors affecting the fetal epigenome¹⁶³.. This is because the expression of the Agouti gene is known to be epigenetically regulated and codes for a phenotype which can be readily identified¹⁶⁴ When the Agouti locus is methylated, the gene is silenced and the coat colour of Agouti mice is brown. Conversely, when the Agouti locus is unmethylated, the gene is expressed and the coat is yellow¹⁶⁴. Hence, the DNA methylation status of the Agouti gene in any individual mouse can be easily identified from its coat colour. In Agouti mice, supplementation of the maternal diet during pregnancy with methyl donors, including betaine, choline, folic acid and vitamin B, has been shown to result in an increase in the proportion of offspring born with brown coats, indicating that the higher availability of methyl groups in the maternal diet results in increased methylation at the Agouti locus in the offspring¹⁶⁴. These results provided the first evidence that the maternal diet during pregnancy could alter epigenetic marks in the offspring and result in stable changes in gene expression, and therefore phenotype, of their offspring in postnatal life¹⁶⁴. Moreover, these studies showed that these epigenetic changes which occurred *in utero* could have effects on the phenotype of offspring which persisted for their entire life 10,164 .

Animal models of under-nutrition, including maternal low protein diets and global under-nutrition during pregnancy have provided evidence that these nutritional exposures can also alter the epigenetic status of important metabolic genes (Table 1.2). A series of studies by Burdge and Lillycrop^{95,96,102,103,165} found that maternal protein restriction was associated with decreased DNA methylation of the glucocorticoid receptor (*GR*) and *PPAR-a* promoters^{12,95,96,98,102,103} and increased mRNA expression of these genes in the liver of the offspring^{10,12,96}. Both GR and

PPAR- α play a central role in regulating hepatic gluconeogenesis and lipid metabolism, and the up-regulation of these genes was associated with significant impairments in liver function in protein-restricted offspring^{96,104,164}. This suggested, therefore, that alteration of epigenetic regulation of genes during development could influence the transcription of specific genes and their related metabolic functions, including lipid metabolism and fatty acid storage, in offspring organs through the life course¹⁰. Conversely, maternal under-nutrition induced through caloric restriction in the dams during pregnancy has been reported to result in increased methylation of the GR and PPAR- α promoters, thereby decreasing the expression of these genes, again providing a mechanism underlying the altered liver metabolism and susceptibility to insulin resistance, glucose intolerance, dyslipidemia and increased fat mass in these animals⁹¹. Both sets of studies provide evidence that low protein diets and global under-nutrition during pregnancy can influence metabolic function in the offspring by altering the level of DNA methylation in specific target genes, leading to long-lasting changes in gene expression and associated metabolic dysfunction. These epigenetic events therefore appear to have a central role in the pathway linking altered prenatal nutrition with poor metabolic outcomes after birth. Importantly, these epigenetic changes sometimes can be transgenerationally inherited, such that nutritional perturbations in the F0 generation can be stably transmitted to the F2 progeny 33,35 .

There have been fewer studies investigating the role of prenatal over-nutrition in early development on epigenetic regulation of genes related to metabolic phenotypes including obesity, hyperleptinaemia, hyperglycaemia and hyperinsulinaemia in the offspring¹⁰⁷. However, Plagemann and colleagues showed that rats exposed to early

postnatal over-nutrition induced by reducing litter size to 3 pups at birth, had increased DNA methylation of two CpG dinucleotides within the promoter region of the appetite-inhibiting neuropeptide, pro-opiomelanocortin (*POMC*) promoter after weaning¹⁰⁷. This suggested that the decrease in *POMC* expression reported in earlier studies by this group was due to altered methylation of this gene, and the lower expression of this appetite inhibitor would also account for the increased appetite and susceptibility to weight gain seen in these animals¹⁰⁷. Hence, this study indicated that over-nutrition during pregnancy could increase the susceptibility to obesity in later life via a persistent alteration in the methylation level of a gene which regulated energy homeostasis (Figure 1.8).



Figure 1.8: Schematic representation of results of study by Plagmann and colleagues in relation to effects of early life over-nutrition on POMC methylation and associated phenotype (increased appetite and increased fat deposition) of offspring post-weaning¹⁰⁷.

Table 1.3: Summary of studies which have investigated association betwee	en nutritional intake of dams during pregnancy and
altered methylation level in specific genes, related to metabolic function	

Reference	Species	Intervention	Intervention Period	Age of Offspring at Time of Assessment	Assessed Genes	Methylation Change in Intervention Group
Bertram C, et al. 2001 ⁹⁸	Rat	18% casein (control) or	Pregnancy	4, 8, 12, and 16	GR	\downarrow
	nat	9% casein	riognarioy	weeks of age	PPAR-α	\downarrow
Lillycrop KA, et al. 2005 ⁹⁵	Rat	180g protein/kg or 90g casein/kg	Pregnancy	6 days after weaning	GR	\rightarrow
					PPAR-α	\rightarrow
					PPAR-γ1	Unchanged
Lillycrop KA, et	Rat	Rat 180g casein/kg or 90g casein/kg Pregnancy and lactation 34 days after birth	Pregnancy and	34 days after birth	GR	\downarrow
al. 2007 ⁹⁶	Rat		o r dayo anor birtir	PPAR-α	\downarrow	
Burdge GC, et	Rat	18% (w/w) (control) or 9% (w/w)	Pregnancy	80 days of age	GR	\downarrow
al. 2006 ¹⁰²	Γαι	casein	Freghancy	of days of age	PPAR-α	\downarrow
Burdge GC, et al. 2004 ¹⁰³ Rat	Pat	18% (w/w) (control) or 9% (w/w)	Pregnancy	6 days after weaning	PPAR-α	\rightarrow
	Ναι	casein			PPAR-γ1	Unhchanged
Waterland RA, et al. 2003 ¹⁶⁴	Mouse	Methyl donors and cofactors folic acid, vitamin B ₁₂ , choline chloride and anhydrous betaine	Pregnancy and lactation	21 days after weaning	Agouti gene	Î
Gluckman PD,), Rat	Under-nutrition 30% of ad libitum	Pregnancy	170 days of age	GR	1
et al. 2007 ⁹¹	nat		regnancy		PPAR-α	1
Burdge GC, et al. 2009 ¹⁶⁵ Rat	Rat	18% (w/w) or $9% (w/w)$ casein	Pregnancy	84 days of age	GR	\downarrow
			regnancy		PPAR-α	\downarrow
Plagemann A, et al. 2009 ¹⁰⁷	Rat	Small litter size: 3 litters/nest Normal: 12 litters/nest	Lactation	Postnatal day 21	POMC	Î

1.5.2. Human Studies

Although there is increasing evidence that epigenetics has an important role in the early origins of obesity in animal studies, this has not been clearly demonstrated in humans. A recent paper from Godfrey and colleagues, however, showed that decreased intake of carbohydrate during pregnancy was associated with increased DNA methylation of the retinoid X receptor- α (*RXRA*) in the umbilical cord blood at delivery¹⁰⁵. The increased methylation status of this gene was also associated with increased body fat mass in the children at 9 years of age¹⁰⁵. However, this was an observational study and doesn't demonstrate clearly that there is a cause and effect relationship between maternal nutrition and epigenetic status in infants/children. Another study conducted in the Dutch Hunger Winter cohort¹⁶⁶, suggested that individuals who were exposed to famine during early gestation had reduced DNA methylation of the imprinted insulin-like growth factor II (IGF2) gene in adulthood compared with their unexposed, same-sex siblings¹⁶⁷. This study suggested that the early life nutritional environment could induce life-long epigenetic changes in humans¹⁶⁶. More direct evidence for the involvement of epigenetics in the response to altered perinatal nutrition comes from a recent randomised controlled trial. This study reported that maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation (400mg/day DHA) during pregnancy increased global DNA methylation levels compared to control group (olive oil) in cord blood of children (n=52) whose mothers were smokers³², providing the first evidence that increasing the intake of a specific nutrient (DHA) during fetal development in addition to global under-nutrition has the potential to result in altered DHA methylation in the children at birth³². Thus, while very few human studies have been conducted to date, the results of those published thus far have supported the suggestion that the nutritional environment during embryonic and

fetal development, including global nutrition and specific nutrients (including n-3 LCPUFA), can cause epigenetic modifications in human infants and children, and that these may therefore contribute to the early origins of obesity and metabolic diseases in human populations induced by altered prenatal nutrition.

1.6. The Placenta

Fetal growth is largely dependent on the availability of nutrients to the fetus during development⁴⁶. Failure to grow normally *in utero* is associated with an increased risk of complications at birth as well as increased mortality and long-term morbidity⁴⁶. As the only organ connecting mother and fetus, the placenta is the single most important organ for fetal development and provides oxygen, water, carbohydrates, amino acids, lipids, vitamins, minerals and other nutrients to the fetus from the maternal circulation, whilst removing carbon dioxide and other waste products^{46,168}. It also metabolises a number of substances and can release metabolic products into the maternal and/or fetal blood^{46,168}. The placenta also releases hormones into both the maternal and fetal circulations which fulfil a wide range of functions, including contributing to the regulation of maternal and fetal metabolism, fetal growth, and the initiation of parturition^{46,168}. In addition, the placenta also acts as a selective barrier for substances, including xenobiotics and certain toxins, that could be circulating in maternal blood and restricts their movement into the fetal circulation⁴⁶.

The human placenta is a haemochorial villous organ, in which maternal blood comes into direct contact with placental trophoblast cells and allows an intimate relationship between the developing embryo and its supply of nutrients⁴⁵. Placental formation and function is a highly coordinated process involving interactions between maternal and embryonic cells^{45,46}. The invasive extravillous trophoblasts of the human placenta are critical for successful pregnancy outcome ¹⁶⁹. Trophoblast cell invasion of uterine tissues and remodelling of uterine spiral arterial walls ensures that the developing feto-placental unit receives the necessary supply of blood and that efficient transfer of nutrients and gases and the removal of wastes can take place¹⁶⁹⁻¹⁷¹. Dysfunction of

extravillous trophoblasts invasion is directly involved in pre-eclampsia which is a major and frequent complication of human pregnancy with serious fetal and maternal consequences¹⁷².

The crucial role that the placenta plays in fetal development means that changes or defects in placental development or function have significant effects on the development of the fetus and, consequently, on long term health outcomes⁴⁶. The placenta acts as an important mediator of the effect of altered maternal nutrition during pregnancy on the development of the fetus, and therefore plays a critical role in developmental programming⁴⁵. A large number of studies have explored the association between placental growth and functional capacity, mainly determined by its weight and volume, and the incidence of obesity and metabolic diseases in the offspring⁴⁵. A number of studies have demonstrated an association between placental size or fetal/placental weight ratio and the risk of metabolic diseases in the offspring^{45,173-177}. However, measuring the weight and volume of placenta accurately is difficult, and can be affected by blood and other factors⁴⁵. It is therefore still unclear whether the weight or volume of the full-term placenta is related to an individual's future risk of metabolic diseases in humans⁴⁵.

Placental function is influenced by a wide range of maternal factors, as well as factors released by the placenta itself^{168,178}. As shown in Figure1.9, maternal factors including diet, exercise, body composition, metabolism and endocrinology affect the function of the placenta both in terms of its nutrient transport capacity and endocrinology (i.e. the profile of hormones secreted into the maternal and fetal circulations)^{46,178}. Changes in the maternal environment such as changes in nutrient

intake can also affect placental structure, which in turn alters both function and fetal vascular resistance^{45,46}. Changes in placental function can cause redistribution of fetal blood flow and changes in the regulation of gene expression, which may affect the normal pattern of development⁴⁶, and the alteration in gene expression and organ development may persist into adult life and have long-term effects on health⁴⁶. Hence, more studies are needed to examine the impact of different nutritional exposures on the function and/or gene expression prolife of the placenta.



Figure 1.9: The placenta mediates the effects of the maternal environment on the fetus⁴⁶.

1.6.1. The Placenta as a Mediator of Developmental Programming

The placenta is the central organ responsible for nutrients transferring to the fetus¹⁶⁸, and alterations to its structure and/or function has been shown to make a significant contribution to developmental programming⁴⁵. Epidemiological studies have identified associations between placental weight, placental volume and placental weight/birth weight ratio and a range of metabolic outcomes, including blood pressure, coronary heart disease, stroke and glucose tolerance in adulthood ^{45,168,178}. One study conducted in the UK and including 2,571 men, showed a U-shaped relationship between placental weight/birth weight ratio and the incidence of coronary heart disease in adulthood¹⁷⁵. Thus, both a low and a high placental weight/birth weight ratio were associated with an increased odds ratio of death from coronary heart disease ¹⁷⁵. A study of 3,639 men and 3,447 women conducted in Finland identified an inverse relationship between placental weight and the prevalence of type 2 diabetes in adulthood $(p=0.002)^{176}$. Similarly, a higher placental weight/birth weight ratio was associated with a higher odds ratio of impaired glucose tolerance or type 2 diabetes in a study of 266 men and women aged 50 years ¹⁷⁹. These studies provide indirect evidence that placental size/transfer capacity plays an important role in the programming of later metabolic health.

There is also clear evidence from previous studies that maternal diet and nutritional status, especially in early gestation, can have significant effects on placental structure and function^{45,46}. A prospective observational study of 538 mothers who delivered at term reported that high carbohydrate intake in early pregnancy and low dairy and meat protein intake later in pregnancy was associated with a lower placental weight at term¹⁸⁰. In this study, placental weight decreased by 49g (95% confidence interval

16g to 81g, p=0.002) for each gram increase in the intake of carbohydrate in early pregnancy and by 1.4g (95% confidence interval 0.4g to 2.4g, p=0.005) for each gram decrease in protein intake in late pregnancy¹⁸⁰. Another study which examined the association between under-nutrition during pregnancy and placental development in the Dutch Winter Hunger Famine cohort also reported that the combination of famine exposure in early pregnancy followed by higher food intake in mid-later pregnancy resulted in a higher placental weight at term than women from the same region who gave birth prior to the famine¹⁸¹.

A number of animal studies have also provided evidence of substantial effects of maternal nutrition on placental growth, structure and function¹⁸². In a guinea pig model, Dwyer and colleagues reported that under-nutrition (60% ad libitum) in early pregnancy (until 15 days of gestation) resulted in a decreased interlobium weight (p=0.05) and increased placental weight/birth weight ratio (p=0.05) at both 45 days of gestation and at term¹⁸². Another study in guinea pigs also demonstrated that maternal under-nutrition during pregnancy could reduce placental weight and alter placental structure¹⁸³. In this study, compared with guinea pigs fed ad libitum, animals fed 70% of *ad libitum* before and during pregnancy had decreased placental weight (p=0.001), total placental surface area (p=0.02 and 60 day of gestation, p < 0.0005), the surface density of trophoblast (p=0.01) in mid and late pregnancy¹⁸³. These changes in placental weight and structure would be expected to be associated with an impaired placental capability for substrate transfer, and were indicative of a delay in the structural maturation of the placenta^{183,184}. Other experiments in sheep and rats have also suggested that maternal nutritional status during pregnancy is important for placental growth¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁸⁷. Kwong and colleagues reported that maternal

low protein (9% casein) diet during the preimplantation period (0-4.25 days after mating) decreased proliferation of the inner cell mass (both early and mid/late blastocyst) and trophectoderm lineages (mid/late blastocyst) in the placenta¹⁸⁷. There is therefore clear evidence from both human studies and animal models that maternal nutritional status can impact on placental structure and function and that these changes may have an important role in mediating the effect of nutritional exposures *in utero* on offspring outcomes.

Despite significant evidence pointing to the ability of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation to increase gestation length in humans, there are relatively few mechanistic studies which have evaluated the role of n-3 LCPUFA/DHA in placental development and function. Recent studies have, however, provided evidence that n-3 LCPUFAs consumed in the diet are incorporated into placental cells, and can influence the balance of lipid-derived mediators in this organ. A rat study showed that maternal DHA supplementation from day 1 of pregnancy resulted in increased concentrations of DHA derived anti-inflammatory resolvins and protectins in the placenta on days 17 and 22 of gestation¹⁸⁸. Similarly, in a randomised, placebo controlled trial, supplementation of n-3 LCPUFA (3.7g of n-3 LCPUFA containing 56.0% DHA and 27.7% EPA) from 20 week of gestation until birth increased placental levels of DHA by about 80% (p<0.01) and elevated placental concentrations of a number of physiologically significant anti-inflammatory lipidderived mediators including 17-HDHA by about twofold (p<0.005) and 18-HEPE by threefold (p<0.0001), compared to women who took olive oil (placebo)¹⁸⁹. DHA has also been reported to promote angiogenesis in vitro, which could enhance placental function by improving placental blood flow¹⁹⁰.

In addition, there is evidence that DHA can assist in resolving oxidative stress in the placenta, which is important given the role of placental oxidative stress in the pathophysiology of several pregnancy complications, including intrauterine growth restriction¹⁹¹⁻¹⁹⁴. In rats, maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation from of the start pregnancy resulted in significant increases in labyrinth zone weight and decreases in labyrinth zone F-2 isoprostanes (a marker of oxidative damage) on both 17 and 22 d of gestation. Importantly, this was associated with a reduction in placental oxidative stress and consequent increase in placental and fetal growth¹⁹⁵. Hence, previous studies have shown that increased maternal intake of n-3 LCPUFA during pregnancy can alter the balance of lipid-derived mediators and oxidative factors in the placenta which in turn would be expected to have positive effects on placental function. However, there is still limited understanding of whether and to what extent effects of DHA on the placenta may be involved in mediating the effects of increasing n-3 LCPUFA intake during pregnancy on offspring outcomes. Hence, further studies are needed to explore in greater detail how increased prenatal n-3 LCPUFA exposure impacts on the placenta, and how these changes relate to effects on offspring outcomes.

1.7. Summary

Obesity and type 2 diabetes are currently major public health issues in many countries across the world and the number of individuals affected by these diseases continues to increase. To prevent obesity and type 2 diabetes in adulthood, it is important to identify interventions which can be introduced early in life, before these conditions develop. Both human and animal studies have shown that there is association between the intrauterine environment and an increased risk of obesity, cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes in child and adult life. This early programming of poor metabolic health is thought to occur as a result of the ability of the nutritional environment experienced *in utero* to permanently alter the expression of genes in the offspring which regulate key metabolic processes. The mechanisms through which prenatal nutrition induces these gene expression changes is not clearly understood, however there is growing evidence that epigenetic processes have a critical role in mechanistic pathway through which prenatal nutritional environment impacts on the neonate's susceptibility to obesity in later life.

A large number of studies in rodents have shown that altering maternal nutrition affects the DNA methylation status of specific genes, and that these epigenetic modifications persist after birth and cause stable changes in gene expression in genes related to lipid and carbohydrate metabolism and appetite. Thus far, however, virtually all studies of the role of epigenetics in the programming of obesity have been carried out in animals, and knowledge of the role of epigenetics in the response of the fetus to nutritional exposures *in utero* and in the prenatal programming of obesity in humans is limited. Thus, the central aim of this thesis was to determine the effect of a specific nutritional intervention (maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation)

on global and gene-specific DNA methylation profiles in children at birth and at 5 years of age, and whether these changes were associated with markers of metabolic health (BMI, percent body fat, insulin sensitivity) in these same children at 5 years of age.

As shown in previous studies, maternal nutritional environment during pregnancy can have effects on placental structure and function¹⁸². Moreover, these placental changes have been reported to relate to measures of metabolic health in the offspring later in life^{45,168,178}. As the most critical single organ contributing to fetal development, it has been suggested that that effects of maternal nutritional factors on the long-term health outcomes, including metabolic health outcomes, could potentially be mediated by effects on the placenta. In addition, there is accumulating evidence that increasing maternal DHA status can significantly alter the fatty acid composition of the placenta, and result in changes in the balance of pro-inflammatory/anti-inflammatory lipid mediators in this tissue. Despite this, however, there is currently limited understanding of how DHA affects placental growth/development and its impact on placental gene expression.

1.7.1. Specific Aims

While studies in adults and *in vitro* had suggested that n-3 LCPUFA could improve metabolic health outcomes, whether increasing the DHA supply before birth had benefits for the metabolic health of the children was unclear. The aim of Chapter 2 of this thesis, therefore, was to determine the effect of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on insulin sensitivity in the children at 5 years of age (an early marker of their type 2 diabetes risk). This aim was achieved as part of a 3 and 5 year follow-up of children whose mothers had participated in the DOMInO RCT, in which women were provided with either a high-dose n-3 LCPUFA supplement, chiefly as DHA, or placebo from 20 weeks gestation until delivery.

The aim of Chapter 3 and 4 of this thesis is to determine the impact of maternal DHA supplementation in pregnancy on global DNA methylation (Chapter 3) and gene-specific DNA methylation (Chapter 4) in the infants at birth and at 5 years of age. Global DNA methylation level (Chapter 3) and genome-wide DNA methylation level (Chapter 4) were assessed from blood samples collected in children at birth and at 5 years of age to determine the impact of maternal DHA supplementation during the second half of pregnancy on global DNA methylation and gene-specific genome-wide DNA methylation in children at birth and at 5 years. In Chapter 3, relationships between global DNA methylation status of the children at either birth and 5 years of age and measures of BMI, body fat mass or insulin sensitivity in early childhood were also investigated.

Other than epigenetic modifications, the placenta has been shown to be an important mediator of the effects of prenatal nutritional exposures on subsequent development. Previous studies have shown that n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy can affect size and structure, lipid-derived mediators and oxidative stress in the placenta which in turn would be expected to affect placental function. These alterations in placental structure and function can, in turn, alter pregnancy outcomes. However, there was limited understanding of the effect of DHA on placental development and function, and whether this could account for the impact of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on pregnancy and/or infant/child outcomes. Therefore, Chapter 5 of this thesis aimed to determine the impact of treatment with a DHA enriched fish oil emulsion on fatty acid composition, proliferation rate and gene expression profile in a human placenta first trimester cell line and to compare these effects with those resulting from treatment with a soy oil emulsion containing no DHA or other n-3 LCPUFA.

This thesis describes the results of studies which aimed to investigate the effects of specific nutritional exposure (n-3 LCPUFA) during pregnancy on epigenome of the children both at birth and in early childhood. Moreover, these studies attempt to relate these epigenetic changes to phenotypic effects. The results from this thesis provide new insights into the effects of prenatal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on the infant/child and the mechanisms which could potentially underlie these effects.

CHAPTER 2: THE EFFECTS OF MATERNAL N-3 LCPUFA SUPPLEMENTATION ON INSULIN SENSITIVITY IN CHILDREN

2.1. Candidate Contribution

I was responsible for tracking all the samples collected as part of this clinical trial and undertook all sample processing and cataloguing. I validated the glucose and insulin assays to confirm their suitability for analysis of paediatric blood samples and undertook the glucose, insulin and fatty acid analyses for all samples in this clinical trial. I collated the results of these assays and calculated the HOMA-IR.

2.2. Introduction

The incidence of type 2 diabetes in Australia and worldwide has increased dramatically over the last decade, and continues to increase^{1,2}. According to estimates made by the WHO, the number of type 2 diabetic individuals world-wide will reach 300 million by 2025 and this disease will be 7^{th} leading cause of death by $2030^{65,93}$. This type 2 diabetes epidemic threatens to reduce the length and quality of life of current and future generations⁶⁵. Hence, there is a need for safe and effective strategies for prevention which can feasibly be implemented on a population level⁹³. As discussed in the literature review, there is evidence from both human and animal studies that the pathway to developing insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes begins very early in life, and that the nutritional environment an individual experiences before birth and in early infancy is a key determinant of their risk of later development of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes^{10,93}. This has led to the suggestion that nutritional interventions that are applied during the perinatal period are likely to be most effective in improving the long-term metabolic health of an individual, including their risk of type 2 diabetes^{3-5,40-48}. To date, however, there have been few studies which have determined the effect of nutritional interventions applied during pregnancy and/or infancy on insulin sensitivity of individuals later in childhood.

In this context, there has been growing interest in the potential role of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation to improve insulin sensitivity, and thus reduce the risk of type 2 diabetes, in the children. This is based on studies *in vitro* and in adult rodents which have suggested that the n-3 LCPUFA, in particular DHA and EPA, can reduce inflammation in adipose tissue and stimulate the synthesis and secretion of the

insulin sensitising hormone, adiponectin, from adipose cells and thereby improve peripheral insulin sensitivity¹⁹⁶. While the data from human studies has been less consistent, some studies have also reported beneficial effects of n-3 LCPUFA supplementation in adults on several features of the metabolic syndrome including insulin resistance. In one study, Mori and colleagues found that a supplement providing 3.65g/day n-3 LCPUFA in conjunction with an energy restricted diet for 16 weeks was associated with improvements in insulin sensitivity in overweight and obese adults that were significantly greater than those given the energy restricted diet alone¹⁹⁷. In another study, consuming supplements containing 3g DHA + EPA per day for 8 weeks significantly increased insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetic subjects¹⁹⁸. Similarly, Tsitouras and colleagues found that 8 weeks of dietary intake of 720g/week of fatty fish and 15mL/day sardine oil significantly increased insulin sensitivity in men and women over 60 years of age $(n=12)^{199}$. Despite these encouraging results, however, no studies have determined whether increasing the supply of n-3 LCPUFA during the critical period of fetal/infant development can improve subsequent insulin sensitivity, and thereby reduce the susceptibility to type 2 diabetes in child and adulthood.

Therefore, the aim of this Chapter was to determine the effect of maternal supplementation with n-3 LCPUFAs, mainly as DHA, during the second half of pregnancy on insulin sensitivity of their children at 5 years of age. This study was performed as part of a follow-up of a large double blinded randomised controlled trial, the DOMInO trial¹²⁸.

2.3. Materials and Methods

2.3.1. Study Population

The present project was nested within a follow-up study of a subset of children whose mothers participated in the DOMInO trial¹²⁸.

2.3.2. The DOMInO Trial

DOMInO is the largest double-blinded randomised placebo-controlled trial to date to investigate the impact of maternal supplementation with n-3 LCPUFA, predominately as DHA, in the second half of pregnancy. The DOMInO trial was registered at <u>www.anzctr.org.au</u> as ACTRN12605000569606. A total of 2,399 women were enrolled from 5 centres across Australia, of which 1,660 were enrolled at Adelaide-based centres including the Women's and Children's Hospital (WCH), Flinders Medical Centre (FMC) and private hospitals. Women were eligible to participate if they had a singleton pregnancy and were less than 20 weeks of gestation. Women who were already taking supplements containing DHA, had a known fetal abnormality, had a bleeding disorder in which tuna oil was contraindicated, were taking anticoagulant therapy, had a history of drug or alcohol abuse or for whom English was not the main language spoken in the home were excluded¹²⁸.

All women recruited into the DOMInO study were randomly assigned to either the treatment group (DHA) (n=1,197) or control (placebo) (n=1,202) group. Women in the treatment group were asked to consume 3×500 mg capsules which contained DHA-rich fish oil daily, and which provided 800mg DHA and 100mg EPA per day. The women in the control group consumed 3×500 mg capsules of vegetable oil without DHA (placebo). The composition of the placebo capsules was designed to match with the average dietary fatty acids profile in the typical Australian diet. All women took their assigned capsules from ~20 weeks gestation until the birth of their child, and compliance was 97.3% in the DHA group and 96.1% in the control group¹²⁸. There were no differences between the treatment groups in demographic

and clinical characteristics at baseline indicating that the randomisation process was appropriate¹²⁸.
2.3.3. Growth and Insulin Resistance Follow Up of the DOMInO Children

The growth and insulin resistance follow-up at 3 and 5 years included the children of participants who were recruited at any of the DOMInO's Adelaide centres (WCH, FMC and private hospitals). The study was approved by Children, Youth and Women's Health Service Research Ethics Committee and Flinders Medical Centre Research Ethics Committee. All eligible participants (n=1,618 of the original sample of 1,660 DOMInO participants in Adelaide) were sent an information sheet and consent form when the children were two and half years of age. The follow-up study commenced in March 2009 and was completed in October 2013. 1,516 participants consented to the study, and 1,414 children (93.2% of consenters) completed the clinic appointment at 5 years of age. All staff and researchers involved in the 3 and 5 year DOMInO follow up study were blinded to group allocation until the end of the study.

2.3.4. 5 Year Clinic Assessments

Anthropometric measurements including weight, height, blood pressure and head-, waist- and hip-circumferences of the children were collected by trained research staff at the 5 year appointment and recorded in each participant's Case Report Form. Total fat mass and percentage body fat was measured using Bioelectrical Impendence Spectroscopy (BIS). A 5mL blood sample was taken from 714 children at 5 years of age into a 10mL purple cap EDTA vacuum tube. After collection, the blood samples were stored at 4°C before being transferred to the laboratory for processing. Each sample was labelled with study ID, subject's name and sex, date of birth, date and time of collection. Every sample was recorded in a bar-code tracking system to trace the location, analysis details and other information. The sample collection commenced in May 2011 and was completed in July 2013.

2.3.5. Processing and Storage of Blood Samples

Whole blood samples were centrifuged at 3,200rpm for 10 mins to separate red blood cells (RBC), plasma and buffy coat within 24 hours of collection. The clear upper plasma layer was placed into 4 separate cryotubes and stored at -80°C for subsequent analysis of glucose and insulin concentrations. The buffy coat was placed in a separate cryotube and stored at -80°C for subsequent DNA extraction. The lower RBC layer was mixed with 0.9% saline and stored at 4°C for processing for fatty acid analysis within 48 hours. I undertook the blood sample processing for all the samples collected in the follow-up study. The number of samples on which glucose, fatty acid composition and insulin analysis were conducted is shown in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Diagram showing the number of samples used for fatty acid analysis, and insulin and glucose measurements from the blood samples collected from DOMInO children at 5 years of age.

2.3.6. Fatty Acid Analysis

2.3.6.1.Fatty Acid Extraction from RBC

Of the 715 blood samples collected at 5 years, 687 had a sufficient volume of red blood cells remaining after processing for the analysis of fatty acid composition. Of these samples, 6 produced physiologically implausible results, and were excluded from the analysis. Total lipids were extracted from RBC with chloroform/isopropanol (2:1, v/v). Butylated hydroxyanisole (BHT, 0.005%, w/v) was added to all organic solvents except n-heptane to prevent fatty acid oxidation.

Within 24 hours of sample collection, RBC were washed 3 times with cold 0.9% saline to remove any residual plasma or buffy coat. 0.5mL of the RBC was then transferred into a 10mL plastic centrifuge tube, followed by the addition of 1mL 0.9% saline and 2mL isopropanol. The samples were mixed by inversion, and then 4mL chloroform was added to each sample. The samples were mixed vigorously and then allowed to stand at room temperature for at least 5 mins before being centrifuged for 10 mins at 3,000rpm to separate the aqueous and organic solvent phases. The bottom organic layer was then transferred carefully into a labelled 20mL glass scintillation vial using a disposable glass pasteur pipette and evaporated to dryness using a nitrogen evaporator. 150µL of chloroform/methanol (9:1) was then added to the vial for further total lipid separation.

2.3.6.2.Lipid Classes Separation by Thin Layer Chromatography

The phospholipid and triglyceride fractions were separated from total lipid extracts by thin layer chromatography (TLC) on silica gel plates (Silica gel 60H, Merck, Darmstadt, Germany). A TLC standard 18-5 (Nu-Chek Prep Inc, MN, USA) was run on the plates for lipid identification. The mobile phase for TLC was petroleum spirit/acetone (3:1, v/v). The TLC plates were sprayed with fluorescein 5isothiocyanate in methanol, and the lipid classes present were visualised under UV light. The phospholipid fraction remained at the bottom of TLC plates while other fatty acids fractions migrated to the upper portion of the plate. The phospholipid fractions for each sample were scraped and transferred individually into vials containing 2mL 1% (v/v) H₂SO₄ (18M AR grade, BDH, Sussex, UK) in anhydrous methanol in a 5mL sealed vial (Wheaton, Millville, USA) for transmethylation at 70°C for 3 hours. After cooking and cooling the vial to room temperature, 0.25mL of distilled water and 0.75mL of heptane was added into the bottle, and mixed by vortexing. The upper clear heptane layer, containing fatty acid methyl esters (FAME), was transferred into a 2mL Agilent Gas Chromatograph (GC) auto-injector vial containing a few grams of anhydrous Na₂SO₄ (dehydrating agent) and sealed for analysis by gas chromatography.

2.3.6.3.GC Analysis of Fatty Acid Methyl Esters

FAME were separated and quantified using a GC (Hewlett-Packard 6890; Palo Alto, CA, USA) equipped with a BPX70 capillary column 50m×0.32mm, film thickness 0.25µm (SGC Pty Ltd., Victoria, Australia), programmed temperature vaporisation injector (PTV) and a flame ionisation detector (FID). The PTV temperature was set at 250°C and FID temperature at 300°C, a programmed temperature ramp (140-240°C) was used. Helium gas was used as a carrier at a flow rate of 35cm per second in the column and the inlet split ratio was set at 20:1. The identification and

quantification of FAME was achieved by comparing the retention times and peak area values of unknown samples to those of commercial lipid standards (Nu-Chek Prep Inc., Elysian, MN, USA) using the Hewlett-Packard Chemstation data system. This method is routinely used for the measurement of fatty acid composition in human plasma samples in the FOODplus group¹²⁸.

2.3.7. Infinity Glucose Hexokinase Assay

Of the 715 samples collected from the DOMInO children at 5 years of age, 714 underwent analysis for glucose and insulin concentrations. The remaining sample was of insufficient volume (total blood volume less than 0.1mL) to perform these assays. Plasma concentrations of glucose were determined using the Infinity Glucose Hexokinase kit (Thermo Electron, Pittsburgh, PA, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. Assays and analyses were conducted using a Konelab 20 (Thermo Scientific, Vantaa, Finland). Quality controls were tested with every batch of samples. The inter- and intra-assay coefficients of variation were both <10%. Each sample was tested in duplicate.

2.3.7.1. Validation of Infinity Glucose Hexokinase Kit

Methods of measuring glucose level in plasma were validated in our laboratory in accordance with the European Medicine Agency ICH topic Q2 (R1) Validation of Analytical Procedures ²⁰⁰ based on 5 tests: linearity, specificity, parallelism, precision and detection and reporting limits.

2.3.7.1.1. Linearity

For the linearity assessment, 8.5 and 6.5mmol/L stock glucose solutions provided by the kit manufacturer (Thermo Electron, Pittsburgh, PA, USA) were diluted by factors of 1, 1.25, 1.67, and 2.5 to generate a dilution series. These diluted concentrations were expected to cover the range of plasma glucose levels that would be present in the majority of this study population²⁰¹. These diluted samples were then all run in a single assay and a graph of dilution factor (x axis) vs assay result (y axis) plotted for each sample using Microsoft Excel. The equation and R^2 value for the line of best fit

for each of these graphs was determined using the software built into this program. Slope, y-intercept, slope uncertainty and intercept uncertainty, residue and R^2 were used to evaluate the degree of linearity.

2.3.7.1.2. Specificity

In order to test the specificity of the assay, a recovery test was conducted in which samples of unknown glucose concentration were spiked by the addition of a known amount of glucose. A 600 μ L volume of two plasma samples with unknown glucose concentrations were spiked with 100 μ L of a glucose solution with a concentration of 4.5mmol/L. This spiked solution was then serially diluted by combining equal volumes of the previous dilution and un-spiked plasma to make up two additional solutions. The glucose levels in the un-spiked solution, spiked solution and three diluted solutions were then measured in the glucose assay.

The expected glucose level in the first spiked solution was calculated (expected concentration) according to the equation:

Expected concentration in spiked solution

= $\frac{amount \ of \ glucose \ in \ unspiked \ solution + amount \ of \ glucose \ added \ to \ sample}{total \ volume}$

All subsequent serial dilutions were at a ratio of 1:1 of the preceding dilution and the un-spiked plasma sample. Therefore, for the first dilution, the concentration could be calculated as the average of the expected concentration of spiked and concentration of un-spiked solution.

The same principle was applied for all subsequent dilutions.

Concentration of dilution = average [*C* (*unspiked*)*and C* (*spiked*)]

Once the expected concentrations of spiked and diluted solutions were calculated, the efficiency of the assay was calculated by determining the percentage recovery according to the equation:

$$Recovery = \frac{Observed\ concentration}{Expected\ concentration}$$

Where the observed value is the measurement obtained in the assay and the expected concentration is the calculated value based on the amount of glucose added.

2.3.7.1.3. Accuracy

The method was validated for accuracy by comparing the glucose level obtained for five replicates of three glucose solutions at concentrations of 6, 4.5 and 3mmol/L provided by the manufacturer (Thermo Electron, Pittsburgh, PA, USA) in one assay. The relative standard deviation (RSD) of repeatability, 95% confidence interval (CI) and recovery rate (measured value/provided concentration from the manufacturer) were calculated to assess the accuracy of the assay.

2.3.7.1.4. Precision

The precision test consisted of two parts: intra- and inter-assay. In order to determine the intra-assay coefficient of variation (CV), three samples with different glucose level were run in four replications in a single assay. Two samples were run in triplicate in three separate assays all conducted on different days in order to determine the inter-assay CV. 2.3.7.1.5. Limit of Detection (LOD), Method Quantitation Limit (MQL) and Instrument Quantitation Limit (IQL)

LOD refers to the lowest concentration where it is possible to distinguish a signal from the background. For this study, the definition of the limit of detection was set by the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry²⁰² and the National Association of Testing Authorities, Australia²⁰³. According to this definition, LOD was calculated as the mean concentration plus 3 times the standard deviation of the concentration of a calibration blank measured in the same assay at least seven times. In our study, 10 calibration blanks were measured to determine LOD.

The MQL is defined as the minimum concentration of an analyte that can be measured within specific limits of precision and accuracy and is calculated as $3\times$ LOD multiplied by the dilution factor. IQL is calculated as $3\times$ LOD.

2.3.8. Insulin Assay

Plasma insulin levels in the samples collected from the DOMInO children were tested using the ALPCO Immunoassay Ultrasensitive Insulin ELISA kits (ALPCO Diagnostics, NH, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 25μ L plasma and 100µL Detection Antibody were added into each well of a 96-well microplate followed by a 1 hour incubation at room temperature with shaking at 700-900rpm on a Platform Mixer (AdeLab, Adelaide, Australia). The microplate wells were washed 6 times with 350μ L of working strength wash buffer (ALPCO Diagnostics, NH, USA). 100µL of TMB Substrate was then added into each well followed by a 30-min incubation at room temperature on a Platform Mixer at 700-900rpm. After 30 mins, 100µL of Stop Solution was added into each well to stop the reaction, and the microplate was read by a calibrated BioTek EL808 microplate reader (BioTek Instruments, USA) at a wavelength of 450nm. In every analytical run, the same standards (0, 0.15, 1, 3, 10, 20µIU/mL), 1 reconstituted control and 2 plasma samples (as quality controls) were tested on each plate. Each sample was tested in triplicate.

2.3.8.1.Validation of ALPCO Immunoassay Ultrasensitive Insulin ELISA Assay

The ALPCO Immunoassay Ultrasensitive Insulin ELISA kit was validated in our lab in accordance with the European Medicine Agency ICH topic Q2 (R1) Validation of Analytical Procedures ²⁰⁰ using same approach as for the Infinity Glucose Hexokinase kit. As mentioned previously, five tests were included in the validation: linearity, specificity, parallelism, precision and detection and reporting limit.

2.3.8.1.1. Linearity

For the linearity assessment, two stock solutions with unknown concentrations (ALPCO Diagnostics, NH, USA) were diluted by factors of 1, 1.25, 1.67, and 2.5 to generate a dilution series. The slope, y-intercept, and R^2 of the line of best fit of the plot of measured insulin concentration and dilution factor were determined to evaluate linearity.

2.3.8.1.2. Specificity

In order to test the specificity of the assay, two plasma samples (48μ L) of unknown insulin concentration from volunteers were spiked with standard insulin solution (12μ L) which contained 20μ IU/mL insulin (provided by the manufacturer, ALPCO Diagnostics, NH, USA). This spiked solution was then serially diluted to generate two further solutions. The specificity was determined following the same principle as described above for the glucose assay.

2.3.8.1.3. Accuracy

The method was validated for accuracy by comparing the insulin level obtained for five replicates of one commercial insulin solution with concentrations ranging from 7.98µIU/mL to 10.39µIU/mL (ALPCO Diagnostics, NH, USA) in one assay. The RSD of repeatability and 95% confidence interval (CI) were calculated to check the accuracy.

2.3.8.1.4. Precision

The precision test consisted of two parts: intra- and inter-assay. In order to determine the intra-assay CV, 6 samples with different insulin concentrations were run in

triplicate in a single assay. Five samples were run in triplicate in seven separate assays all conducted on different days in order to determine the inter-assay CV.

2.3.8.1.5. LOD, MQL and IQL

Ten calibration blanks were measured to determine limit of detection. The same equation and calculation methods as in the glucose validation were used to determine the LOD, MQL and IQL for the insulin assay.

2.3.9. Assessment of Insulin Sensitivity, the HOMA-IR

The HOMA-IR was used to provide a measurement of insulin resistance in all DOMInO children. HOMA-IR was calculated from the fasting glucose and insulin concentrations according to the equation:

$$HOMA - IR = \frac{[fasting glucose (mmol/L)] \times [insulin (\mu IU/mL)]}{22.5}$$

2.3.10. Statistical Analysis

The statistical analyses for the DOMInO 3 and 5 year growth and insulin resistance follow-up study were conducted by the Data Management and Analysis Centre (DMAC) at the University of Adelaide, and were conducted using SAS version 9.3 (Cary, NC, USA). All analyses were performed on an intention-to-treat basis. Multiple imputation was performed separately by treatment group using chained equations to create 100 complete datasets for analysis, under the assumption that data were missing at random. The primary analysis was based on imputed data and included all participants who consented to the follow-up study. Sensitivity analyses were performed on the available data and on imputed data for all 1,660 children born to women enrolled in Adelaide-based centres. All analyses produced similar results and only the results of the primary (imputed) analysis are included in this Chapter.

The effect of maternal DHA supplementation on continuous outcomes, including anthropometric measures, plasma glucose and insulin and HOMA-IR were analysed using linear regression models, with treatment effects expressed as differences in means. The HOMA-IR values in the dataset were skewed and were therefore log transformed prior to analysis. A priori secondary analyses were performed to test for effect modification by sex.

All analyses were adjusted for the stratification variables for the DOMInO trial, centre and parity, as well as child sex and PPAR γ genotype and mother's secondary education, further education, smoking status and BMI at baseline. The PPAR γ single-nucleotide polymorphism is strongly related to risk of obesity/type 2 diabetes and has a population prevalence of approximately 20%²⁰⁴. Statistical significance was assessed at the 2-sided *p*<0.05 level.

2.4. Results

2.4.1. Validation of Infinity Glucose Hexokinase Assay

There was a linear relationship between glucose concentration and dilution factor with the R² for the line of best fit for both samples being close to 1 (Figure 2.2). The recovery rate of observed/expected glucose concentrations were between 95.7% and 98.7%, indicating a high degree of specificity (Table 2.1). Glucose solutions at concentrations of 6, 4.5 and 3mmol/L produced average recovery rates of 101.01%, 101.19% and 100.13% respectively when they were tested five times (Table 2.2). The high recovery rates indicated that the glucose assay has the ability to provide an accurate indication of glucose concentration in human plasma samples. The intra-(Table 2.3) and inter-assay (Table 2.4) CV were 3.2% and 5.7%, respectively, which indicated a high degree of precision and little variation in results obtained for the same sample when it was run either multiple times in the same assay or in different assays on separate days. The LOD of the assay, calculated from the results of ten blanks (MilliQ water) was 0.026mmol/L. Since the dilution factor of measured solution was 1, the IQL was equal to the MQL, which was 0.078mmol/L.



Figure 2.2: Scatter plot of glucose concentration measured in the glucose assay (y axis) against sample dilution factor (x axis) for 2 plasma samples. The linear trend lines show a significant negative relationship between glucose concentrations and dilution factor, with R^2 of 0.9997 and 0.9976 respectively.

Sample		Observed [glucose]	Expected [glucose]	Recovery (%)
	Un-spiked sample	4.773	-	-
Sample	Spiked sample	4.522	4.682	96.6
A	Dilution 1	4.610	4.727	97.5
	Dilution 2	4.637	4.750	97.6
	Un-spiked sample	5.330	-	-
Sample	Spiked sample	4.892	5.053	96.8
В	Dilution 1	4.969	5.191	95.7
	Dilution 2	5.197	5.260	98.8

 Table 2.1: Specificity test results for the Infinity Glucose Hexokinase assay

 validation

[glucose]: glucose concentration (mmol/L).

Sample [glucose] 1				[alucoso] 5	Mean	CV%	Expected	Recovery	
	[giucose] i	[giucose] z	[giucose] s	[giucose] 4	[giucose] 5	Wean	CV %	[glucose]	(%)
А	6.087	6.091	6.114	6.121	5.891	6.061	1.6%	6	101.01
В	4.668	4.529	4.497	4.567	4.507	4.554	1.5%	4.5	101.19
С	3.002	2.879	3.113	3.015	3.011	3.004	2.8%	3	100.13

 Table 2.2: Accuracy results for Infinity Glucose Hexokinase assay

[glucose]: glucose concentration (mmol/L).

CV: coefficient of variation

Sample	[glucose]1	[glucose]2	[glucose]3	[glucose]4	Mean	SD	CV%
А	8.646	8.307	8.583	8.537	8.518	0.148	1.7%
В	6.881	6.807	6.267	6.798	6.688	0.283	4.2%
С	4.529	4.222	4.179	4.222	4.288	0.162	3.8%
Average CV%							3.2%

Table 2.3: Intra-assay CV of three samples in same batch

[glucose]: plasma glucose concentration (mmol/L).

SD: standard deviation.

CV: coefficient of variation.

Table 2.4: Inter-assay	V CV of two	samples in	three separate as	says
------------------------	-------------	------------	-------------------	------

Sample	[glucose] 1	[glucose] 2	[glucose] 3	Mean	SD	CV%
A	5.118	5.015	5.570	5.234	0.295	5.6%
В	5.315	5.585	4.971	5.290	0.308	5.8%
Average CV%:						5.7%

[glucose]: plasma glucose concentration (mmol/L)

SD: standard deviation.

CV: coefficient of variation.

2.4.2. Validation of ALPCO Immunoassay Ultrasensitive Insulin ELISA Assay There was a negative curvilinear relationship between insulin concentration and dilution factor which was parallel to the assay standard curve with the R^2 of the linear trend lines of both samples close to 1 (Figure 2.3). The recovery rates as determined by observed/expected insulin concentrations in the recovery test were between 92% and 107%, indicating a high degree of specificity (Table 2.5). The insulin concentrations obtained for the commercial insulin solution were within the acceptable range provided by the manufacturer (Table 2.6). The high recovery rate indicated that the ALPCO Immunoassay Ultrasensitive Insulin ELISA assay had the ability to provide an accurate measure of insulin concentrations in human plasma samples. The intra- (Table 2.7) and inter-assay (Table 2.8) CV were 1.9% and 13.8%, respectively. Ten blanks were tested to obtain the LOD for the assay, which was 0.028mmol/L; and, the IQL which was equal to MQL was 0.084 mmol/L.



Figure 2.3: Scatter plot of insulin concentration measured in the insulin assay (y axis) against sample dilution factor (x axis) for 2 plasma samples. The curve trend lines indicate significant negative relationships between insulin concentrations and dilution factor, with R^2 of 0.9473 and 0.9586 respectively.

Sample		Observed [insulin]	Expected [insulin]	Recovery (%)
	Un-spiked		-	-
	sample			
Sample A	Spiked sample	7.7	8.0	96
	Dilution 1	6.8	7.4	92
	Dilution 2	6.7	7.2	95
	Un-spiked			
	sample		-	-
Sample B	Spiked sample	15.0	14.6	103
	Dilution 1	14.9	14.3	105
	Dilution 2	15.2	14.9	107

Table 2.5: Specificity test results for the ALPCO Immunoassay UltrasensitiveInsulin ELISA assay validation

[insulin]: insulin concentration (µIU/mL).

Table 2.6: Accuracy test results for ALPCO Immunoassay Ultrasensitive

Insulin EL	ISA assay.
------------	-------------------

	[insulin] 1	[insulin] 2	[insulin] 3	[insulin] 4	[insulin] 5	Mean	CV%
Sample	8.171	8.786	8.749	9.576	8.665	8.390	9.5%

[insulin]: insulin concentration (μ IU/mL).

CV: coefficient of variation.

The accepted range specified for this external standard by the manufacturer was between 7.969-10.386.

Sample	[insulin] 1	[insulin] 2	[insulin] 3	Mean	SD	CV (%)
А	0.136	0.130	0.132	0.133	0.003	2.3%
В	0.152	0.152	0.153	0.152	0.001	4.0%
С	0.304	0.304	0.306	0.305	0.001	4.0%
D	0.596	0.550	0.578	0.575	0.023	4.0%
Е	1.598	1.599	1.601	1.599	0.002	0.1%
F	3.074	2.882	2.875	2.944	0.113	3.8%
Average CV						1.9%

Table 2.7: Intra-assay CV of six samples in same batch.

[insulin]: plasma insulin concentration (μ IU/mL).

SD: Standard deviation.

CV: coefficient of variation.

Sample	[insulin]	s۵	CV (%)							
	Batch 1	Batch 2	Batch 3	Batch 4	Batch 5	Batch 6	Batch 7	Mean	30	CV (76)
1	0.020	0.032	0.016	0.022	0.022	0.020	0.022	0.022	0.005	22.7%
2	0.172	0.156	0.124	0.134	0.144	0.113	0.142	0.141	0.020	14.1%
3	0.437	0.421	0.336	0.387	0.372	0.321	0.352	0.375	0.043	11.5%
4	1.451	1.345	1.064	1.121	1.125	1.209	1.272	1.226	0.138	11.3%
5	2.812	2.674	2.329	2.159	2.331	2.619	2.409	2.476	0.231	9.3%
Average CV										13.8%

Table 2.8: Inter-assay CV of five samples in seven different days.

[insulin]: plasma insulin concentration (µIU/mL).

S.D: Standard deviation.

CV: co-efficient of variation.

2.4.3. Characteristics of the DOMInO Participants at Enrolment

As published previously, there were no differences in maternal baseline characteristics, including maternal weight, height, BMI and gestational age at enrolment into the DOMInO trial between women randomised to the DHA or control treatment groups¹²⁸ and there were also no differences in these parameters between groups in the sub-sample who participated in the 3 and 5 year growth and insulin resistance follow-up (Table 2.9). In addition, lifestyle factors, including maternal drinking, smoking and intake of non-DHA containing nutritional supplements, were not different between the two treatment groups both in the whole DOMInO population¹²⁸ and in the sub-sample selected from the follow-up study (Table 2.9). Socioeconomic factors, including maternal ethnicity, maternal education and maternal occupation and the number of male and female children were also not different between the treatment groups¹²⁸ (Table 2.9).

Table 2.9: Baseline characteristics in the sub-sample of DOMInO participants

who participated in the 3 and 5 year growth and	insulin resistance follow-up.
---	-------------------------------

Oberesterictic	DUA	Ocarta-1	T = 4= 1
Cnaracteristic	DHA (n=770)	(n=761)	i otai (n=1531)
Maternal Weight (kg): Median	72.0 (64.0-83.1)	72.0 (62.0-82.8)	72.0 (63.0-83.0)
(IQ range) Maternal Height (cm): Median	165.0 (160.0	164 0 (160 0	165.0 (160.0
(IQ range)	169.0)	169.0)	169.0)
Maternal BMI at Baseline:	26.2 (23.5-30.1)	26.3 (23.2-30.5)	26.3 (23.4-30.4)
Median (IQ range)			
Maternal BMI Category at Baseline: N (%)			
. Missing	4 (0.5)	6 (0.8)	10 (0.7)
. Underweight	11 (1.4)	9 (1.2)	20 (1.3)
. Normal Weight	273 (35.5)	288 (37.8)	561 (36.6)
. Overweight	285 (37.0)	247 (32.5)	532 (34.7)
. Obese	197 (25.6)	211 (27.7)	408 (26.6)
Gestational Age at	19.0 (19.0-20.0)	19.0 (19.0-20.0)	19.0 (19.0-20.0)
Randomisation: Median (IQ			
range) Number of Previous Births: N			
(%)			
. 0	322 (41.8)	323 (42.4)	645 (42.1)
. 1-2	381 (49.5)	374 (49.1)	755 (49.3)
. 3-4	55 (7.1)	55 (7.2)	110 (7.2)
. 5 or more	12 (1.6)	9 (1.2)	21 (1.4)
Mother Was Current Smoker			
at Enrolment: N (%)	106 (12 0)	101 (12 7)	210 (12 7)
21 - 40 per day	100 (13.0) A (0.5)	104 (13.7) A (0.5)	210(13.7) 8 (0 5)
No	4 (U.3) 660 (95 7)	4 (U.D) 653 (95 9)	0 (U.J) 1313 (95 9)
Mother Smoked Loading Un	000 (03.7)	000 (00.0)	1313 (03.0)
to Pregnancy: N (%)			
. 1 - 20 per day	175 (22.7)	218 (28.6)	393 (25.7)
. 21 - 40 per day	37 (4.8)	28 (3.7)	65 (4.2)
. No	558 (72.5)	514 (67.5)	1072 (70.0)
. Missing	0 (0.0)	1 (0.1)	1 (0.1)
Mother Was Current Drinker: N (%)			
. Up to 1 to 2 per week	74 (9.6)	70 (9.2)	144 (9.4)
. Up to 7 - 10 per week	0 (0.0)	4 (0.5)	4 (0.3)
. No	696 (90.4)	687 (90.3)	1383 (90.3)
Mother Drank Leading Up to Pregnancy: N (%)			
. Up to 1 to 2 per week	305 (39.6)	333 (43.8)	638 (41.7)
. Up to 7 - 10 per week	155 (20.1)	140 (18.4)	295 (19.3)
. More than 10 per week	26 (3.4)	20 (2.6)	46 (3.0)
. No	284 (36.9)	268 (35.2)	552 (36.1)
Mother Further Education: N			

(%)			
. Certificate/Diploma	321 (41.7)	355 (46.6)	676 (44.2)
. Degree	160 (20.8)	147 (19.3)	307 (20.1)
. Higher Degree	34 (4.4)	31 (4.1)	65 (4.2)
. None	255 (33.1)	228 (30.0)	483 (31.5)
Father Further Education: N			
(%)			
. Certificate/Diploma	329 (42.7)	352 (46.3)	681 (44.5)
. Degree	120 (15.6)	118 (15.5)	238 (15.5)
. Higher Degree	35 (4.5)	31 (4.1)	66 (4.3)
. Missing	26 (3.4)	26 (3.4)	52 (3.4)
. None	260 (33.8)	234 (30.7)	494 (32.3)
Infant Gender: N (%)			
. Female	384 (49.9)	382 (50.2)	766 (50.0)
. Male	386 (50.1)	379 (49.8)	765 (50.0)

IQ: inter-quartile range

BMI: body mass index

2.4.4. Anthropometric Measurements of the DOMInO Children at 5 years of Age

There was no differences in body weight, body weight z-score, body fat percentage, BMI or BMI z-score at 5 years of age between treatment groups, either in the whole sample or when male and female children were analysed separately (Table 2.10).

Table 2.10: Anthropometric	measurements of the	DOMInO	children at	5 years
----------------------------	---------------------	--------	-------------	---------

of age

Outcome	DHA (n=770)	Control (n=761)	p value
Body Weight at 5 Years (kg): mean (SD)			
. Male	20.19 (2.90)	20.12 (2.99)	0.85
. Female	19.71 (3.08)	19.61 (3.13)	0.81
. Total	19.95 (3.00)	19.87 (3.07)	0.68
Weight z-score at 5 Years: mean (SD)			
. Male	0.55 (0.99)	0.51 (0.97)	0.58
. Female	0.36 (0.96)	0.33 (0.96)	0.57
. Total	0.45 (0.98)	0.42 (0.97)	0.43
Body Fat Percentage at 5 Years: mean (SD)			
. Male	20.52 (6.23)	20.99 (6.09)	0.38
. Female	26.41 (6.08)	25.82 (6.17)	0.21
. Total	23.46 (6.82)	23.42 (6.59)	0.75
BMI at 5 Years (kg/m ²): mean (SD)			
. Male	16.20 (1.54)	16.19 (1.73)	0.96
. Female	16.17 (1.68)	16.20 (1.73)	0.90
. Total	16.19 (1.61)	16.20 (1.73)	0.99
BMI z-score at 5 Years: mean (SD)			
. Male	0.63 (0.98)	0.59 (1.07)	0.60
. Female	0.49 (0.95)	0.50 (0.98)	0.95
. Total	0.56 (0.97)	0.54 (1.03)	0.66

SD: standard deviation

BMI: body mass index

2.4.5. Fatty Acids Status of the DOMInO Children at 5 Years of Age

There was no significant difference in linoleic acid (LA), arachidonic acid (AA), EPA, docosapentaenoic Acid (DPA) and DHA status at 5 years of age between the treatment groups in either males or females, or in the population overall (Table 2.11).

	DHA (n=335)	Control (n=346)	P value
LA (%): mean (SD)			
. Total	10.78 (1.30)	10.93 (1.25)	0.15
. Male	10.74 (1.26)	10.99 (1.19)	0.17
. Female	10.81 (1.34)	10.87 (1.31)	0.55
AA (%): mean (SD)			
. Total	13.00 (1.36)	13.06 (1.31)	0.24
. Male	12.98 (1.35)	12.96 (1.28)	0.84
. Female	13.03 (1.36)	13.15 (1.32)	0.24
EPA (%):mean (IQ range)			
. Total	0.63 (0.18)	0.62 (0.17)	0.30
. Male	0.66 (0.17)	0.65 (0.18)	0.46
. Female	0.65 (0.18)	0.63 (0.17)	0.14
DPA (%): mean (SD)			
. Total	2.51 (0.39)	2.47 (0.35)	0.62
. Male	2.55 (0.39)	2.51 (0.34)	0.15
. Female	2.46 (0.38)	2.44 (0.35)	0.48
DHA (%):mean (IQ range)			
. Total	3.57 (0.92)	3.57 (0.83)	0.62
. Male	3.73 (0.92)	3.78 (0.87)	0.47
. Female	3.71 (0.89)	3.58 (0.83)	0.07

Table 2.11: Fatty acids status of the DOMInO children at 5 years of age.

%: percentage of total fatty acids

SD: standard deviation

IQ: inter-quartile range

2.4.6. Insulin Sensitivity of the Domino Children at 5 Years of Age

As shown in Table 2.12, HOMA-IR at 5 years of age was significantly higher in the DHA group (0.80) than in the control group (0.68, p=0.013). While there was no interaction between treatment and sex for HOMA-IR, when the data were analysed separately in males and females HOMA-IR was higher (p=0.0032) in the DHA group in males, but not in females (Table 2.12). Fasting insulin concentrations were also significantly higher (p=0.016) in the DHA group compared with control group overall. Again, while there was no significant interaction between treatment and sex, this effect appeared to be driven mostly by males; fasting insulin levels were significantly higher in the DHA group in males (p=0.014), but were not different in females when the data from the sexes were analysed separately. There was a significant interaction between DHA treatment and sex for fasting glucose levels at 5 years of age, such that fasting glucose levels were significantly higher (p=0.043) in the DHA group in males, but not in females. No child in either treatment group was diagnosed with type 2 diabetes at the time of the 5 year assessment.

Outcome	DHA (n=364)	Control	p value
HOMA-IR: mean (IO range)	(11=304)	(11=3+3)	
			0.04
. Iotal	0.80 (0.43-1.71)	0.68 (0.38-1.31)	0.01
. Male	0.86 (0.44-1.88)	0.62 (0.35 -1.21)	<0.001
. Female	0.75 (0.43-1.58)	0.74 (0.41-1.41)	0.52
Glucose: mean (SD)			
. Total	4.07 (1.08)	4.02 (1.02)	0.56
. Male	4.26 (1.07)	4.03 (1.00)	0.04
. Female	3.87 (1.04)	4.01 (1.04)	0.29
Insulin: mean (IQ range)			
. Total	4.63 (2.68-9.20)	4.01 (2.38-7.25)	0.02
. Male	4.75 (2.70-9.63)	3.63 (2.22-6.81)	0.01
. Female	4.55 (2.66-8.90)	4.40 (2.56-7.72)	0.37
NO. of type-2 diabetes: N			
. Total	0	0	-
. Male	0	0	-
. Female	0	0	-

Table 2.12: Fasting insulin, glucose and HOMA-IR in the DOMInO children at5 years of age.

HOMA-IR: homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance

IQ: inter-quartile range

SD: standard deviation

N: number

2.5. Discussion

The results of this Chapter showed that, contrary to expectations, insulin sensitivity was actually significantly lower in children of mothers who had been allocated to a high dose DHA supplement during the second half of pregnancy compared with the control group. This effect appeared to be mainly driven by males in whom both fasting glucose and fasting insulin were significantly increased in the DHA group. The results therefore provide evidence that the maternal DHA supplementation during pregnancy had sex-specific effects on insulin sensitivity in children and may have a negative effect on insulin sensitivity in males.

Given that a number of previous human studies have shown that dietary n-3 LCPUFA supplementation can have beneficial effects on insulin sensitivity¹⁹⁷⁻¹⁹⁹, the apparently negative effect of maternal DHA supplementation on insulin sensitivity in the children was unexpected. However, it is important to note that most human studies that have reported improvements in insulin sensitivity have been conducted in overweight, diabetic and/or elderly adults, and therefore may not be representative of children or infants. In addition, previous studies have had small sample sizes (between 6 and 63 participants) and were probably underpowered to detect differences in insulin sensitivity between groups. Furthermore, not all studies of n-3 LCPUFA supplementation (2.7g EPA + DHA for 2 months and then 1.7g/day for 4 months) had no effects on insulin sensitivity in type 2 diabetic patients with hypertriglyceridemia²⁰⁵. Importantly, another study actually reported negative effects of n-3 LCPUFA supplementation (4g/day for 6 weeks) on short term

glycaemic control in type 2 diabetic participants aged from 40 to 75 years²⁰⁶. Thus, the evidence from previous studies in adults on the effect of increased n-3 LCPUFA on insulin sensitivity, glucose control and the risk of type 2 diabetes is not entirely consistent. Moreover, there are some limitations in these previous studies including small number of participants, lack of representative populations and the fact that the n-3 LCPUFA supplementation was typically applied in conjunction with other diet/lifestyle changes, such as reduced caloric intake.

It is also important to note that this is the first study to test the impact of increased exposure of DHA during development on insulin sensitivity in the children, and it is increasingly clear that the effect of the same treatment on the developing organism often differs considerably from its effects in adults³¹. Despite the evidence suggesting that increased DHA supplementation can have beneficial effects on metabolic health in adults, studies have suggested that DHA can have very different (and potentially negative) effects when applied during development. A study conducted in rats, for example, showed that maternal DHA supplementation (15mg/kg/day) during pregnancy and lactation resulted in increased fat accumulation in both male and female offspring (n=11), particularly in subcutaneous fat depots, when compared with offspring of rats fed on a standard chow containing no DHA $(n=10)^{31}$. Similarly, a human RCT trial reported that providing women with a supplement of 4.5g/day of fish oil (n=72) during lactation was associated with a significantly higher BMI in their children at 2.5 years of age compared to children of mothers in the control group (who received 4.5g/day olive oil during this same period) $(n=29)^{207}$. Another RCT also reported that maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation (1.5g/day) during the first 4 months of lactation was associated with
adverse effects on blood pressure, energy intake and physical activity in boys at 7 years of age²⁷. These data therefore supports the suggestion that the effect of exposure to n-3 LCPUFA during critical developmental periods is likely to have different effects on later metabolic health in the child than the same intervention in adults.

The results of this study also suggested that males are more susceptible to negative effects of prenatal DHA supplementation on insulin sensitivity than females. This is consistent with the results of previous studies which have shown that males are more susceptible to the effect of early life nutritional exposure (e.g. under-nutrition, low protein) on insulin sensitivity than females^{79,208}. This greater susceptibility of males to the negative effects of prenatal exposures on subsequent insulin sensitivity may be due to sex differences in body composition, glucose and insulin action, and energy balance²⁰⁹. For a given BMI, men have higher lean mass and more visceral and hepatic adipose tissue, whereas women have higher levels of total body fat²⁰⁹. These differences in adipose tissue distribution contribute to greater insulin sensitivity in women, as visceral and hepatic adiposity is associated with increased insulin resistance^{209,210}. In sheep, previous studies have demonstrated that young males are at greater risk than females for the onset of co-morbidities associated with juvenileonset obesity, due to the sex-specific differences in adipose tissue distribution and function²¹¹. In humans, differences in skin-fold thicknesses (a measure of subcutaneous body fat) between males and females have also been reported in children aged between 5 to 19 years, with higher values in females compared to males at the same age²¹². It has been suggested that the lower estrogen levels in males compared to females may also play a role in the greater susceptibility of males

to insulin resistance, since this hormone has a favourable effect on insulin and glucose homeostasis, adipose tissue distribution, and pro-inflammatory markers²⁰⁹. Therefore, it is possible that estrogen may counter any negative influence of prenatal DHA exposure on subsequent insulin sensitivity in females, but that this is not the case in males²⁰⁹. Although not measured in the current study, previous studies have reported that circulating concentrations of adiponectin, an insulin-sensitising hormone, are also significantly higher in females compared with males, and this may also contribute to the reduced susceptibility of the females in this study to the negative effects of prenatal DHA supplementation on insulin sensitivity²⁰⁹.

To date, the underlying mechanism of how increased DHA exposure during development may impact on later insulin sensitivity in the child is unclear, and further investigation is required. We found that the n-3 LCPUFA status of the children at 5 years of age was similar between treatment groups. Since the measure of fatty acid status in red blood cells, which was used in this study, reflects long-term fatty acids status, this suggests that the long-term intake of n-3 LCPUFA in the period leading up the assessment of HOMA-IR was similar between the treatment groups. This, coupled with the similar baseline characteristics of the DOMInO women and children between the treatment groups, implies that it was exposure to increased DHA *in utero*, rather than any other differences in other intrauterine exposures, postnatal environmental influences or differences in current DHA intake, which was the reason for the difference in HOMA-IR between the groups at 5 years of age. This suggests that exposure to increased DHA *in utero* may result in altered development of the pathways that control insulin signalling/insulin action, and that

this effect persists until at least 5 years of age. This clearly implicates epigenetic changes as driving this phenotype.

There is growing evidence from animal and human studies that epigenetic process play an important role in the pathway through which the prenatal nutritional environment impacts on the susceptibility of the offspring to metabolic diseases in later life^{12,33,34}. Studies in animal models have shown that the maternal nutritional environment can induce alterations in the epigenetic status of offspring, particularly in genes that have an important metabolic function, and that these epigenetic modifications are associated with persistent changes in gene expression levels and, consequently, metabolic function^{12,95,96,98,102,103}. While data from human studies is more limited, a recent paper by Godfrey and colleagues reported that decreased intake of carbohydrate during pregnancy was associated with increased DNA methylation status *RXRA* in the umbilical cord blood at delivery¹⁰⁵. The increased methylation status of this gene was also associated with increased body fat mass in offspring at 9 years of age¹⁰⁵. It therefore appears that epigenetic modifications induced by changes in maternal nutrition are also likely to play a central role in the mechanisms underlying metabolic programming in humans. Hence, it is important to explore the potential for increased DHA exposure during fetal life to induce epigenetic changes in the children and, in particular, to establish whether these changes could contribute to the reduced insulin sensitivity observed in these children at 5 years of age.

This study produced the unexpected result that increased DHA exposure during late gestation appeared to be associated with a decreased insulin sensitivity in children at 5 years of age. However, due to lack of sufficient cohort sizes to establish normative ranges for insulin sensitivity in young children, and lack of adequate longitudinal studies to relate childhood insulin sensitivity to long-term outcomes, standards for insulin resistance in children have not yet been established²¹³. Hence, it is difficult to conclude if this increased HOMA-IR in children in the DHA supplemented group is likely to be of any clinical relevance. However, the difference between the groups was quantitatively small, and it is therefore unlikely that this difference would be clinically significant. However, since the development of type 2 diabetes typically occurs later in life, it will be important to follow up these children at older ages to see if this small but significant difference in insulin sensitivity at 5 years translates into differences in the number of children who go on to develop type 2 diabetes or other metabolic problems in adolescence and adulthood.

2.5.1. Limitations

The results from this study were secondary outcomes, and not primary outcomes of the DOMInO trial or its subsequent follow up studies. Hence, the results from this study may be a chance finding, and need to be interpreted with caution. Moreover, the difference of HOMA-IR, fasting glucose and fasting insulin between treatment groups were small. While participants were instructed that their child should be fasted for at least 4 hours before the appointment, we were not able to confirm that this had been achieved in all cases, and it would be important to repeat this study in a more controlled clinical environment in order to confirm the findings. In addition, given the large number of appointments that needed to be completed, it was not possible to conduct all appointments at the same time of day. Hence, it is not possible to draw a definitive conclusion from the results of the current study that increased n-3 LCPUFA exposure early in life can decrease insulin sensitivity in humans, and further studies are needed to confirm these findings.

2.5.2. Conclusion

To conclude, maternal DHA supplementation during pregnancy was associated with decreased insulin sensitivity at 5 years of age, an effect which was mainly driven by males. It is unknown if this small but significant change in insulin sensitivity at 5 years will affect the children's future risk of type 2 diabetes, and it will be important to follow up these children later in life in order to determine this. This will provide a clear conclusion about the relationship between supplementation of DHA during pregnancy and the risk of insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes or related metabolic problems later in life. It will also be important to determine the mechanism through which increased DHA exposure in fetal life can affect future insulin resistance, in particular the potential role of epigenetic modifications in this mechanistic pathway.

<u>CHAPTER 3: THE EFFECTS OF MATERNAL N-3</u> <u>LCPUFA SUPPLEMENTATION ON GLOBAL</u> <u>METHYLATION STATUS IN CHILDREN</u>

3.1. Candidate Contribution

I was responsible for receiving, cataloguing and tracking all the samples collected as part of the 3 and 5 year follow-up of the DOMInO study (715 blood samples). I processed all of the blood samples and developed a barcode database for tracking sample locations. I performed the DNA extractions of the buffy coat for all blood samples collected from the DOMInO children at 5 years of age and all of the quality checks for these DNA samples. I had primary responsibility for sending and tracking the consent forms to DOMInO participants in order to obtain consent to access their child's newborn screening cards (NSCs). Once informed consent was obtained, I was responsible for locating, collecting, cataloguing and storing all of the neonatal samples. I also assisted with the global methylation analyses.

3.2. Introduction

Obesity and type 2 diabetes are major public health issues worldwide, and this has led to a growing interest in identifying strategies to reduce the risk of individuals developing these diseases^{1,2}. The evidence linking poor nutritional status *in utero* to an increased risk of obesity and associated metabolic diseases in the offspring has led to suggestions that nutritional interventions that are applied before birth and/or in early infancy are likely to be more effective for improving the long-term metabolic health of future generations than interventions which are applied later in life^{2,6-8}.

N-3 LCPUFAs, in particular DHA, are known to play a critical role in fetal and infant development¹²⁶⁻¹²⁸. Recently, there has been growing interest in the potential benefits of an increased supply of these fatty acids *in utero* for later metabolic health outcomes in the child. However, existing studies, including the results presented in Chapter 2 of this thesis, have provided little evidence to support a beneficial effect of prenatal DHA supplementation on body fat mass, BMI or insulin sensitivity later in childhood²¹⁴. Indeed, the results in Chapter 2 suggest that, at least in males, prenatal DHA supplementation may actually be detrimental for insulin sensitivity in early childhood. However, the potential effects of maternal DHA supplementation on the offspring at a genetic or epigenetic level, and therefore the potential mechanisms underlying the observed effect on insulin sensitivity, or other physiological pathways, are not clearly defined.

Although the mechanisms which link the nutritional environment before birth with metabolic outcomes in the child are not clearly understood; previous animal studies have strongly suggested that the programming of both body fat mass and insulin sensitivity/insulin resistance is mediated, at least in part, by (semi) permanent epigenetic alterations, such as changes in DNA methylation and modifications to histone proteins^{9,215}. These epigenetic changes persist after birth, resulting in permanent changes in gene expression and/or the response of the gene to the environment which, in turn, are associated with alterations in the phenotype^{33,34}. There is also emerging evidence that *in utero* exposures, including malnutrition⁹, smoking^{216,217}, toxicants²¹⁸ or exposure to specific diets and micronutrients²¹⁵ can affect global and/or gene-specific patterns of methylation in infancy and beyond.

While data are limited, previous studies have also provided some evidence that exposure to an increased n-3 LCPUFA supply before birth has the capacity to alter DNA methylation in the infant/child^{32,219,220}. In rats, feeding dams a high n-3 LCPUFA diet during pregnancy was associated with a significant increase in DNA methylation levels in the promoter of the fatty acid desaturase (FADS2) gene, which encodes an important enzyme in PUFA metabolism, in the liver of the offspring²¹⁹. In another rat study, n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy in dams fed on a folic or vitamin B12 deficient diet decreased global DNA methylation level in the liver of the offspring on postnatal day 22^{220} . Importantly, and of direct relevance to this study, a recent RCT showed that maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation (400mg/day DHA) during pregnancy increased global DNA methylation levels compared to control group (olive oil) in cord blood in children (n=52) whose mothers were smokers, but not in those children whose mothers were non-smokers³². This suggested, therefore, that exposure to an increased n-3 LCPUFA supply before birth has the potential to induce methylation changes at multiple sites across the genome, and that these effects may be different in different population subgroups³².

While these data support the hypothesis that epigenetic modifications may play an important role in mediating the effects of early life nutritional/environmental exposures on outcomes in the child, very few human studies have been conducted to date²¹⁵, and those that have had small sample sizes, making it difficult to draw robust conclusions. Therefore, it remains unclear whether a defined nutritional treatment during pregnancy such as n-3 LCPUFA supplementation can influence the epigenetic status of the offspring either in the short-term (at birth) or later in life.

The aim of the following two Chapters, therefore, was to determine the impact of maternal DHA supplementation in pregnancy on (a) global DNA methylation (Chapter 3) and (b) gene-specific DNA methylation (Chapter 4) in blood samples collected from children at birth and at 5 years of age. The global DNA methylation level was measured as hypomethylation in LINE-1. While it is recognised that the epigenetic profile in blood may not necessarily reflect that of metabolic target tissues, in the absence of access to these tissues it nevertheless provides an indication of the extent to which a specific exposures influence the epigenome of the child. A secondary aim of this Chapter (Chapter 3) was to determine whether there were any relationships between global DNA methylation status of the children at either birth and 5 years of age and measures of BMI, body fat mass or insulin sensitivity in early childhood.

3.3. Methods and Materials

3.3.1. Study Population

As described in the previous Chapter, the present project was nested within a followup study of the DOMInO trial¹²⁸.

3.3.2. Neonatal Sample Collection

3.3.2.1.Obtaining Consent to Access Neonatal Screening Cards (NSCs) from the DOMInO Children

The neonatal side study of the DOMInO trial was approved by the Women's and Children's Health Network Human Research Ethics Committee. A consent pack which included the approved participant information sheet requesting permission to access their NSCs for the purpose of epigenetic tests, consent form and reply paid envelope, was sent to all DOMInO participants who had consented to participate in the 3 and 5 year growth and insulin resistance follow-up and had not subsequently withdrawn from the DOMInO study (n=1536 participants). Of the 1,536 participants who were contacted, a total of 1015 provided consent for us to access their child's NSC.

3.3.2.2.Neonatal Screening Card Retrieval

Once written informed consent was obtained from the participants, a set of unique identifiers for each DOMInO participant who consented (mother's full name and date of birth, child's full name and date of birth and Hospital) were used to search the SA Pathology database in order to retrieve the unique laboratory number for the NSC allocated by SA Pathology at the time of collection. This information was then used to identify the location of the NSC in the SA Pathology storage system. The NSCs for the 1,015 DOMInO participants who provided consent for the neonatal study were stored in 18 separate boxes at an off-site storage facility. The boxes were subsequently delivered to SA Pathology at the Women and Children's Hospital 3 boxes at a time. The unique lab number for each child's NSC was then used to locate the NSCs for each DOMInO participant. The unique identifying information on the

card was then cross-checked against the information from the database in order to confirm that only NSCs from the correct individuals were retrieved.

3.3.2.3.Blood Spot Collection from the Neonatal Screening Cards

One blood spot was selected from the NSC of each participant, and 3×3mm diameter punches were collected from a region of the spot that was fully infiltrated with dried blood using a standard hole punch. The punches were placed into a 2mL Eppendorf safe-lock tube (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany) labelled with participant details. Thirty punches were made in a sheet of blank collection paper between each of the samples in order to prevent cross-contamination between NSCs. All samples were stored at room temperature prior to DNA isolation. The procedure followed for the neonatal side study, including obtaining consent and sample retrieval and collection, is summarised in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Flow chart showing the process of retrieving and collecting bloods spots from NSCs from the DOMInO children.

3.3.3. Blood Sample Collection at 5 Years of Age

The blood samples used in this study were collected from DOMInO children who participated in the 3 and 5 year growth and insulin resistance follow-up of DOMInO and from whom a blood sample was collected at 5 years of age and parental consent provided to undertake (epi)genetic studies.

At the time of the 5 year appointment, blood samples (~5mL into EDTA) were collected from 715 DOMInO children, the primary carer of 669 of whom had provided consent for genetic analysis of the blood samples collected at 5 years of age. After collection, the blood samples were placed in the fridge (4°C), and were then transferred to the laboratory for processing on ice within 24 hours of collection. The blood samples were centrifuged at 3,200rpm for 10 mins to separate RBC, plasma and buffy coat. The buffy coat layer was isolated and transferred to a separate cryovial and stored at -80°C until DNA extraction. The number of samples which were tested for global DNA methylation is shown in Figure 3.2.

3.3.3.1.Anthropometric Measurement

Weight and height were measured in all DOMInO children at the time of the 5 year appointment as described in Chapter 2. BMI was calculated based on the equation: BMI=weight (kg)/height $(m)^2$. The average of two weight and height measurements was used. Each child's BMI was converted to an age and sex specific z-score using the WHO child growth standards (for children under 61 months old at the time of measurement) or the WHO growth reference 5-19 years (for children 61 months or older at the time of measurement)²²¹. Total fat mass and percentage body fat was measured using BIS as described in Chapter 2.



Figure 3.2. Diagram summarising the number of samples obtained from DOMInO children at birth (NSC) and 5 years (blood), and the number of these samples used for global and genome wide DNA methylation analyses at each time point.

3.3.4. DNA Extraction

3.3.4.1. DNA Extraction from the Neonatal Samples

DNA from neonatal samples were extracted using GenSolve technology (IntegenX, Pleasanton, CA America) followed by purification using the QIAamp DNA micro kit (Qiagen, Doncaster, VIC Australia) and an additional ethanol precipitation step. Briefly, the $3\times3mm$ punches from a Guthrie card were incubated for 1 hour at 65° C in 620μ L recovery solution A in 1% LiDS, in the presence of protease. After incubation the blood spots were transferred to a spin basket in a new tube and centrifuged for 2 mins at full speed for optimal recovery of the lysate. Subsequently, the spin basket and blood spots were discarded and 20μ L of recovery solution B was mixed with the lysate before proceeding with the DNA purification. A volume of 600μ L ethanol was added to the lysate and loaded onto a QIAamp micro column. The DNA was purified on the column according to the manufacturer's instructions (Qiagen, Doncaster, VIC Australia) with the modification that the columns and the elution buffer were incubated for 10 mins at 70°C prior to the final centrifugation step.

After elution, the DNA was ethanol precipitated with Glycoblue (Life Technologies, Mulgrave, VIC Australia) and the resulting pellet was dissolved in 60μ l AE buffer with 0.01% Triton X100.The quality and quantity of all newborn and 5 year DNA samples was assessed using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer and the Quant-iT Picogreen dsDNA assay (Life Technologies, Mulgrave, VIC Australia). The total amount of DNA obtained from the 3 x 3 mm punches of the neonatal blood spots ranged from ~50 ng to 1500 ng, with an average yield of 450 ng/sample. The

extraction of DNA from neonatal samples was performed by collaborators in CSIRO, Sydney.

3.3.4.2. DNA Extraction from Buffy Coat at 5 Years

DNA from 669 buffy coat samples collected at 5 years of age was extracted using the QIAamp DNA mini kit (Qiagen Inc., Valencia, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 200µL of buffy coat was lysed by 20µL Proteinase K (Qiagen) and 200µL Buffer AL. After a 10-min incubation at 56°C, 200µL 100% ethanol was added into lysates and these were then loaded onto the QIAamp spin column. 500µL of Wash buffers (AW1 and AW2) were used to remove impurities and pure, ready-to-use DNA was then eluted in 200µL Elution Buffer. The quality and concentration of the DNA was determined by measuring the absorbance at 260 and 280nm using a spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE). Ratios of less than 1.8 for either of these measures were considered to be indicative of contamination with proteins or chemicals used in the extraction procedure. No samples had a ratio less than 1.8 and therefore no samples were excluded on this basis. 1µL of DNA solution from every sample was used to check DNA integrity by agarose gel electrophoresis (0.75% w/v agarose gel). All extracted DNA samples were stored at - 80°C prior to epigenetic analysis.

3.3.5. Global DNA Methylation

Measures of global DNA methylation was undertaken for both neonatal (n=1,015) and 5 year DNA samples (n=669). DNA hypomethylation levels in LINE-1 in neonatal and 5 year DNA samples were quantified using the end-specific PCR (ESPCR) assay³⁶. In this assay, the relative cutting of the DNA by the methylation-sensitive enzyme HpaII (GeneSearch, Arundel, QLD Australia) is compared with that of the methylation-insensitive enzyme Dra1 (GeneSearch, Arundel, QLD Australia) to give a measure of DNA hypomethylation. The method depends upon the use of 5'-tailed, 3'-blocked oligonucleotides called facilitator oligonucleotides (Foligos). Only cut DNAs with specific matching sequences at their 3' ends can copy the tails of the Foligos and thus become tagged and available for subsequent PCR. Samples were run in triplicate and the DNA hypomethylation levels in the samples were normalised to a reference DNA sample from human blood (Roche Applied Sciences, Dee Why, NSW Australia).

In the ESPCR assay two values, including the level of the hypomethylation in all LINE-1 elements and measure of the amount of DNA in each sample, were calculated. The hypomethylation level of each sample was calculated based on these two values as a ratio of hypomethylation/total DNA amount. One reference sample, consisting of blood from one healthy adult individual was also analysed on each plate. To eliminate plate to plate differences due to slight variations in PCR conditions over time, the plate differences were corrected by dividing the value obtained for each DOMInO sample by the value obtained for the reference sample on the same plate. Hence, the resulting values of each sample are a relative measurement of the degree of LINE-1 hypomethylation in our samples compared to

a standard reference. Thus, a value of 1.5 for the hypomethylation analyses indicates that the LINE-1 hypomethylation level in that sample is 1.5 times higher than the reference. A higher hypomethylation level is indicative of a lower level of global methylation (i.e. the two measures are inversely related).

3.3.6. Statistical Analysis

3.3.6.1. Relationship between DHA Supplementation and Global DNA Methylation

The primary analysis focused on the effect of maternal DHA supplementation in the second half of pregnancy on global DNA methylation at birth and 5 years of age. A linear regression model was fitted with a treatment-by-time interaction term to investigate whether the effect of maternal DHA supplementation at birth differed from the effect of maternal DHA supplementation at 5 years of age. A Generalised Estimating Equation (GEE) with exchangeable correlation was used to account for repeated measures (birth and 5 years). Both unadjusted and adjusted models were fitted, with the adjusted models including centre, parity and sex as covariates.

A secondary question was whether the effect of treatment group was modified by infant sex. To address this question, separate models were fitted for global DNA methylation at birth and at 5 years, with a treatment-by-sex interaction term. Both unadjusted (no covariates other than treatment group and sex) and adjusted models were fitted; the adjusted models included centre and parity as covariates. Differences in global methylation between males and females and between 3 and 5 years were assessed using a Student's unpaired *t*-test and paired *t*-test respectively. p<0.05 was considered significant in all analyses.

3.3.6.2. Relationship between Metabolic Health Measures at 5 Years and Global DNA Methylation at Birth and at 5 Years of Age

Secondary analyses were carried out to investigate whether there was any association between global DNA methylation (at birth, or at 5 years) and measures of metabolic health in the children at 5 years of age (BMI z-score, fat mass percent, insulin, glucose and HOMA-IR). Both insulin and HOMA-IR was log transformed for analysis due to skewed distributions. In addition, interactions between treatment groups (DHA vs control) and sex (male vs female) and relationships between global DNA methylation at birth and at 5 years of age and childhood metabolic health outcomes were also assessed.

The investigation of associations was carried out using Fisher's z-score transformations of the observed correlation coefficients, with z-tests performed to test whether the overall correlation between global DNA methylation (at birth or at 5 years) was significantly different from zero; and also to test whether there was a significant difference in correlation between treatment groups, or between sexes. Analyses of all samples were performed using SAS version 9.3 or later (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC USA). A p value of <0.05 was accepted as the level of statistical significance.

3.4. Results

3.4.1. DHA Supplementation and Global DNA Methylation Level at Birth and at 5 Years of Age

There was no difference in the global DNA hypomethylation level between treatment groups either at birth or at 5 years of age (Figure 3.3). There were also no differences in global methylation level either at birth or at 5 years of age between treatment groups when data were analysed separately in males and females (Figure 3.4 and 3.5).

Independent of treatment group, global DNA hypomethylation was higher in females compared to males both at birth and at 5 years of age (p=0.016 at birth, p=0.011 at 5 years). The global DNA hypomethylation level decreased between birth and 5 years, independent of treatment group or sex; indicating that global DNA methylation levels increased from birth to 5 years of age (p<0.0001) (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3: The effect of maternal DHA treatment and age on global DNA methylation in children at birth and 5 years of age. Data plotted is mean and SD. * denotes a significant difference between at birth and at 5 years of age within same treatment group (p<0.05). There was no significant difference between treatment groups at either time point.



Figure 3.4: The effect of maternal DHA treatment on global DNA methylation in male and female DOMInO children at birth. Data plotted is mean and SD. * denotes a significant difference between male and female children at birth, independent of treatment group (p<0.05). There was no significant difference between treatment groups in either male or female infants.



Figure 3.5: The effect of maternal DHA treatment and sex on global DNA methylation in male and female DOMInO children at 5 years of age. Data plotted is mean and SD. * denotes a significant difference between male and female children at 5 years of age, independent of treatment group (p<0.05). There was no significant difference between treatment groups in either male or female children at 5 years of age.

3.4.2. Association between Global DNA Methylation Levels at Birth and Measures of Body Composition and Insulin Sensitivity at 5 Years of Age

There was no relationship between global DNA hypomethylation levels at birth and BMI z-score in the sample overall or when data from the DHA and control groups were analysed separately. However, there was a significant difference between the sexes in the relationship between these parameters, such that global DNA hypomethylation at birth and BMI z-score at 5 years of age were positively correlated in males (r=0.009; p=0.044, Table 3.2, Figure 3.5), but not in females. There was also a significant influence of sex on the relationship between global methylation at birth and percentage fat mass at 5 years (p=0.021 for the interaction), however the relationship between these variables was not statistically significant in either males or females when the sexes were analysed separately.

There were no significant correlations between global DNA methylation at birth and fasting glucose or insulin concentrations or HOMA-IR at 5 years of age in either the combined group, or when the DHA and control groups were analysed separately. There were also no significant relationships between global methylation levels at birth and any of these factors when data from male and female children were analysed separately, although there was a trend (r=0.061; p=0.06) towards a positive relationship between global DNA hypomethylation and log insulin concentrations at 5 years of age in males. There was also a trend (r=0.119; p=0.055) towards a positive relationship between global DNA hypomethylation at birth and fasting plasma glucose concentration at 5 years of age in the Control group (Table 3.2).

Correlation		r	p value ¹	p value for difference ²
Methylation and BMI z-score				
. Overall		0.008	0.794	-
. By treatment	DHA	-0.008	0.861	0.579
group	Control	0.028	0.548	0.576
. By sex	Males	0.009	0.044 [*]	0.032*
	Females	-0.048	0.302	01002
Methylation and fat mass percent				
. Overall		0.057	0.097	-
. By treatment group	DHA	0.062	0.197	
	Control	0.054	0.285	0.912
. By sex	Males	0.085	0.080	0.021
	Females	-0.076	0.128	
Methylation and log insulin				
. Overall		0.064	0.131	-
. By treatment group	DHA	0.064	0.274	0.937
	Control	0.057	0.358	
Buser	Males	0.110	0.061 [#]	0 220
. By sex	Females	0.026	0.673	0.329
Methylation and glucose				
. Overall		0.028	0.515	-
. By treatment group	DHA	-0.026	0.661	0.090
	Control	0.119	$0.055^{\#}$	
. By sex	Males	0.033	0.572	0.941
	Females	0.050	0.417	0.041
Methylation and log HOMA-IR				
. Overall		0.057	0.183	-
. By treatment group	DHA	0.051	0.388	0.017
	Control	0.060	0.339	0.917
. By sex	Males	0.095	0.106	0.461
	Females	0.032	0.609	

 Table 3.1: Association between global DNA methylation at birth and measures

 of body composition and metabolic health at 5 years of age

1: p value for the hypothesis that there is a non-zero overall correlation between the two variables

2: p value for the hypothesis that there is a difference in correlation between treatment groups/ sexes

BMI: body mass index

HOMA-IR: homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance

*: considered as significance when p < 0.05

[#]: trend towards significance when $p \le 0.65$



Figure 3.6: Relationship between global DNA methylation at birth and BMI z-score at 5 years of age in male children.

3.4.3. Association between Global DNA Hypomethylation at 5 Years of Age and Measures of Body Composition and Insulin Sensitivity at 5 Years of Age

Global DNA hypomethylation at 5 years of age was positively correlated (r=0.097; p=0.013) with percentage fat mass across the whole study population. While there was no significant difference in this relationship between treatment groups, the positive relationship (r=0.134; p=0.014) was only present in the DHA treatment group when the treatment groups were separated in the analysis (Table 3.3, Figure 3.11).

Plasma glucose concentrations at 5 years of age were negatively correlated (r=-0.082; p=0.036) with global methylation at this age across the whole study population. This relationship was also significantly different between the DHA and control treatment groups (p<0.001), such that the significant negative correlation between glucose and global methylation at 5 years of age was only present in the DHA group (r=-0.205; p<0.001) when the treatment groups were separated in the analysis (Table 3.3, Figure 3.13). Global methylation at 5 years of age also tended to be positively correlated with HOMA-IR in the control group (r=0.107; p=0.055) and in males (r=0.104; p=0.051), but not in the study population overall. There were no significant relationships between global DNA methylation at 5 years and BMI z-score or plasma insulin levels either in the population overall or when data were separated by treatment or sex.

Correlation between		Correlation	p value for corr=0 ¹	p value for difference ²
Methylation and BMI z-score				
. Overall		-0.047	0.233	-
. By treatment	DHA	-0.052	0.338	0.892
. By sex	Control	-0.041	0.461	0.727
	Females	-0.013	0.611	
Methylation and fat mass			0.102	
. Overall		0.097	0.013 [*]	-
. By treatment group	DHA	0.134	0.014 [*]	0.356
	Control	0.062	0.275	
. By sex	Males	0.048	0.374	0.171
	Females	-0.060	0.297	
Methylation and log insulin				
. Overall		0.050	0.203	-
. By treatment group	DHA	0.031	0.569	0.647
	Control	0.067	0.234	
. By sex	Males	0.090	0.094	0.204
	Females	-0.010	0.866	
Methylation and glucose				
. Overall		-0.082	0.036 [*]	-
. By treatment group	DHA	-0.205	<0.001 [*]	<0.001*
	Control	0.051	0.363	
. By sex	Males	-0.055	0.301	0.962
	Females	-0.059	0.299	
Methylation and log HOMA-IR				
. Overall		0.039	0.320	-
. By treatment group	DHA	-0.032	0.559	0.074
	Control	0.107	0.055#	
. By sex	Males	0.104	0.051 [#]	0.086
	Females	-0.030	0.600	

Table 3.2: Association between global methylation and health measurements at5 years of age

1: p value for the hypothesis that there is a non-zero overall correlation between the two variables

2: p value for the hypothesis that there is a difference in correlation between treatment groups/ sexes

*: considered as significance when p < 0.05

[#]: trend towards significance when $p \le 0.65$

BMI: body mass index

HOMA-IR: homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance



Figure 3.7: Relationship between global DNA hypomethylation at 5 years of age and fat mass percent at 5 years of age in children in the DHA group.



Figure 3.8: Relationship between global DNA hypomethylation at 5 years of age and plasma glucose level at 5 years of age in children in the DHA group.

3.5. Discussion

In this Chapter, I investigated the effects of early life exposure to n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on global DNA methylation levels in the infant at birth and at 5 years of age in a large and well-conducted randomised controlled trial. I found no evidence to support the hypothesis that maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy alters global DNA methylation levels in children either at birth or at 5 years of age. I did, however, identify significant relationships between global DNA methylation levels at birth and BMI z-score at 5 years of age in male children, and between global DNA methylation level at 5 years of age and percentage fat mass and plasma glucose levels at this same age in the DHA group, although it is important to note that the correlation coefficients for these relationship were low and therefore the potential biological relevance of these findings is unclear. Overall, the results of this Chapter indicate that exposure to increased n-3 LCPUFA in utero has no effect on global DNA methylation level in blood samples collected from children at birth or 5 years of age. In addition, the results provide the first evidence suggesting that global DNA methylation increases from birth to 5 years of age, and is significantly higher in males than in females from the time of birth.

3.5.1. Sex Differences in Global DNA Methylation Level

I found that the global DNA methylation level was lower in females than in males both at birth and at 5 years of age. This finding is consistent with previous studies in separate study populations, which have also reported lower global methylation levels in females compared to males across a wide range of ages and using a range of different techniques for assessing global methylation^{147,222,223}. In a combined analysis of 1,465 healthy human subjects (aged from 10 to 100 years) from 5 separate studies, the LINE-1 global DNA methylation level in blood leucocyte which was analysed by using PCR pyrosequencing was lower (β = 0.796, 95% CI 0.261 to 1.330) in females compared to males²²². Another study (n=192) which estimated the global methylation level in DNA from whole blood using a luminescence methylation assay, also reported that males (average age was 24.8 years) had significantly (*p*<0.0003) higher global methylation compared to females (average age was 24.3 years)²²³. While the reason for differences in global methylation levels between males and females is unclear; a number of possibilities have been suggested including differences in body composition and/or hormone levels between the sexes^{209,211,212}.

3.5.2. Age Dependence of Global DNA Methylation Level

The results in this Chapter showed that global DNA hypomethylation level was lower at 5 years of age than in the early neonatal period, indicating a higher level of global DNA methylation level in children at 5 years of age compared to at birth, independent of treatment group or sex. These data therefore suggest that increasing age, at least in the first few years of life, is associated with an increase in the global DNA methylation levels in blood. This is different from the results of several previous studies in both humans and animal models, which have demonstrated that aging is associated with a decrease, rather than an increase, in global DNA methylation. For example, one study which compared the global DNA methylation level in leukocytes in 126 elderly adults (aged from 60 to 88) with 33 healthy younger individuals (aged from 18 to 35) reported that young healthy people had significantly higher levels of (p=0.047) global DNA methylation in their leukocytes, as assessed using an ELISA-based method²²⁴. Similarly, another study which investigated age-dependent variation of global DNA methylation in human peripheral blood leukocytes, measured by HPLC, showed that the older individuals (average age 65.9 years, n=22) had lower global methylation level compared with younger adults (average age 19.3, n=21)²²⁵. While our finding is opposite to these previous studies, the majority of these previous studies have not assessed global methylation in the same individuals at different ages. Since epigenetic status can be affected by environment, the different environmental and lifestyle factors to which separate individuals are exposed during their lifetime, independent of the aging process, have the potential to affect the global DNA methylation level. Therefore it is not possible to conclude with certainty from these studies that global methylation in the same individual decreases over time^{33,35}.
In addition, few studies have assessed changes in global methylation as early in childhood as reported in this Chapter (5 years). Thus, another possibility is that global DNA methylation undergoes an initial increase from birth to early childhood, followed by a decline between later childhood/adolescence and through adulthood. In support of this, Martino and colleagues reported that most (approximately 90% of differentially methylated regions) of the age-associated changes involved an increase in DNA methylation from at birth to 18 months of age in matched samples of 10 pairs 5 dizygotic twin monozygotic twin and pairs using Infinium HumanMethylation450 BeadChip data acquisition and processing²²⁶. Their results indicated a trend towards increased methylation with age in all regions of the genome in the first 18 months of life, which is consistent with our finding²²⁶. Thus, the study described in this Chapter, which included a large number of participants and is one of the first to evaluate differences in global DNA methylation level at birth and at 5 years in the same individuals, supports the suggestion that age-related changes in global methylation occur across the first few years of life, and from the time of birth, in humans.

It is also important to note, however, that the DNA samples used in our study at birth and at 5 years were extracted from two different sources of material (dried blood spots at birth and buffy coat at 5 years). A human study which examined the methylation of four differentially methylated regions associated with the *IGF2/H19* locus in multiple birth tissues derived from 91 twin pairs has indicated that considerable variation in DNA methylation was observed between buccal epithelial cells, cord blood-derived mononuclear cells and granulocytes and umbilical vein endothelial cells²²⁷. It is therefore possible that part of the reason for the age-related differences in global methylation observed in this study was the use of different sample types at the two time points assessed.

3.5.3. Effect of Prenatal Nutritional Environment on Global DNA Methylation Level

The results presented in this Chapter showed that there was no difference in global methylation level between treatment groups at either birth or at 5 years of age. These results suggest that maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy from 20 weeks of gestation until delivery has no significant impact on the global DNA methylation level in peripheral blood in their children either immediately following the intervention (i.e. at birth) or later in childhood.

While limited in number, there are a few previous studies which have investigated the effect of increased exposure to n-3 LCPUFA prenatally on global methylation levels at or after birth, however the dosing and timing of the n-3 LCPUFA supplementation has varied and the studies have produced mixed results. A study in Wistar rats investigated the impact of maternal supplementation with fish oil (1g/kg body weight daily) during pregnancy and lactation on the global DNA methylation level in soleus skeletal muscle and liver using the Imprint Methylated DNA Quantification Kit in both 1st generation and 2nd generation offspring²²⁸, and reported that fish oil supplementation significantly decreased global DNA methylation level in liver, but not in soleus skeletal muscle, but only in 2nd generation offspring²²⁸. The results of this study are important, since they suggest that the effect of increased prenatal n-3 LCPUFA exposure on global DNA methylation level is tissue specific and may not appear in offspring until the F2 generation.

There is only one previous human study which has investigated the effect of n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy on global DNA methylation level in the children³². This study assessed global methylation level in umbilical cord blood samples from infants (n=237) whose mothers were supplemented with 400mg algal DHA or a placebo daily from 18-22 gestational week till birth by pyrosequencing 32 . The results of this study found no effect of DHA supplementation during pregnancy on global methylation in the cord blood, consistent with the results of the present study. However, when they split the population into smokers and non-smokers, they found a trend towards increased (p=0.06) global methylation level in the DHAsupplemented group in children whose mothers were smokers, but not in nonsmokers³². In our study, there were not enough smokers to investigate the effect of DHA supplementation on global methylation within subgroups of smokers and nonsmokers. The results presented in this Chapter suggest that prenatal exposure to increased n-3 LCPUFA has no effect on the global methylation level in children at birth overall in the general population, which is consistent with the results of the only other human study in this area. It is possible, however, that different subgroups may respond differently and this will be important to investigate in future studies. Moreover, given the limited number of human studies which have investigated the effect of prenatal n-3 LCPUFA exposure on global methylation, further studies are needed to confirm our findings.

3.5.4. Global Methylation Level at Birth and BMI in Childhood

The finding in this Chapter that there was a positive association between global methylation level at birth and BMI z-score at 5 years of age in males raises the intriguing possibility that global methylation levels at birth may be predictive of later BMI. However, the correlation between BMI z-score at 5 years of age and global DNA methylation level at birth was extremely low, and is therefore unlikely to be of biological or clinical relevance. Furthermore, the capacity of global methylation levels at birth to be of any clinical value in predicting BMI z-score later in childhood is likely to be limited. Nevertheless, this is the first study to identify this relationship and determining whether it can be reproduced in other, and potentially larger, study populations would be of interest. Some studies have determined correlations between BMI and the global methylation level in peripheral blood leukocytes in adults; however, the results have been inconsistent. The majority of these studies, however, have not identified any significant correlation between BMI and global methylation levels^{143,222,229}. Zhang and colleagues reported that there was no correlation between BMI and global methylation level in peripheral blood samples in 161 cancer-free subjects aged from 45 to 75 years²²⁹. Similarly, a large study combining individual data from 1,254 healthy subjects (aged from 19 to 100 years) from 4 studies also failed to identify any correlation between BMI and global methylation level in blood samples²²², and a smaller study of 228 individuals aged from 49 to 51 years also came to a similar conclusion 143 .

There are a few studies, however, which have reported an inverse relationship between global methylation level in blood and BMI in adulthood, which this is in the opposite direction to that reported in this Chapter²³⁰. In one study, it was reported

that women were significantly more likely to have BMI more than 25kg/m^2 when LINE-1 methylation level was less than 62% in peripheral blood (odds ratio of BMI \geq 25 vs <25kg/m² was 1.89, 95% CI was 1.21 to 2.94, p=0.002)²³⁰. Another study which examined the association between lifestyle factors and global genomic methylation level in white blood cell DNA from 165 cancer-free subjects (aged from 18 to 78 years) also reported that individuals with a BMI $\geq 25 \text{kg/m}^2$ had a significantly lower level of LINE-1 methylation than those with BMI <25kg/m² $(p=0.03)^{231}$. There is also one previous adult study which identified a significant association between LINE-1 methylation and markers of metabolic and cardiovascular diseases. In this study, which included 355 adult Samoans (88 men and 267 women), the researchers used quantitative bisulphite pyrosequencing to determine global methylation in DNA from peripheral blood samples. While these authors also found a positive association between BMI and LINE-1 methylation, as in this Chapter, they found that the relationship was only present in females, and not males as I did $(p=0.03)^{232}$; however, this may have been due to the low number of male subjects or different methodology used to assess global methylation than in this Chapter²³². Hence, based on these previous studies and low correlation coefficient between global DNA methylation level at birth and BMI-z score at 5 years of age in our study, there is currently insufficient data to draw any robust conclusions about association between/global DNA methylation in human blood and the BMI/metabolic health.

3.5.5. Association between Global Methylation Level and Metabolic Health

While I did not find any effects of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on global methylation levels in the children either at birth or at 5 years of age, the relationships between global methylation and both percentage body fat mass percent and plasma glucose levels in the children at 5 years appeared to be altered by prenatal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation. Thus, these relationships were significant in the DHA group, but not the control group, when the treatment groups were analysed separately. This is the first study to show that n-3 LCPUFA supplementation prenatally could potentially alter the relationship between global methylation and measures of metabolic health later in childhood. The mechanisms through which this could operate, and the potential clinical significance of this finding, however, remain unclear.

Global methylation level is considered as a hallmark of cancer because of its correlation with increased mutation events and chromosomal instability in cancer tissue²³³. However, the correlation of global methylation level and other diseases, including obesity and type 2 diabetes, is less well defined. A human study (n=738) which explored the association of global leukocyte DNA methylation levels with various features of the metabolic syndrome, including fasting glucose, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, triglycerides, blood pressure and waist circumference, reported that a lower level of global methylation in leukocyte DNA was correlated with increased fasting plasma glucose (p=0.004) and high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (p=0.004)²³⁴. In this same study, it was also reported that individuals (aged 50 to 87 years) with type 2 diabetes or impaired glucose metabolism had lower global DNA methylation levels compared to individuals with normal blood glucose

level $(p=0.004)^{234}$. The results presented in this Chapter were opposite to those of this previous study, since they identified a negative relationship between global DNA hypomethylation level and fasting plasma glucose level (indicative of a positive relationship with global DNA methylation level) and a positive relationship between global DNA hypomethylation level and fat mass percent at 5 years of age (indicative of a negative relationship with global DNA methylation level), but only in children whose mothers were supplemented with DHA in the second half of pregnancy. Although we reported opposite results to the previous study, the population used in our study were much younger (average about 5 years of age) compared to the previous study (average about 69 years of age). In addition, the previous study used different method of determining DNA methylation (liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry vs end-specific PCR assay), all of which may have contributed to the disparate findings.

The global DNA methylation level assessed in this study does not provide information on the specific genes/regions of the genome in which methylation is altered. Although the correlation coefficient (r=0.013 for global DNA hypomethylation vs fat mass percent, r=0.036 for global DNA hypomethylation vs glucose) was very low for both relationships, they presence of these relationships nevertheless raises the possibility that prenatal DHA supplementation could influence DNA methylation of specific genes that are linked to body fat mass and insulin sensitivity and that these changes persist until 5 years of age.

3.5.6. Limitations

While the results in this Chapter suggest that prenatal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation does not influence global DNA methylation level at either birth or 5 years of age, it is important to note that global DNA methylation provides a sum total of methylation changes across the whole genome, rather than at specific genes or regions. Therefore, it is still possible that DHA induces methylation changes in individual genes/regions, but that the number of genes/regions whose methylation level was increased was balanced by those in which it was decreased. Hence, further genome-wide methylation data are needed in order to look at whether prenatal DHA can induce methylation changes in specific genes or regions of the genome.

Human studies have suggested that global DNA methylation patterns can be tissuespecific²²⁷. The DNA used in this study was extracted from peripheral blood, and it isn't clear whether the methylation levels in blood reflects those in target tissues which are responsible for regulating whole-body insulin sensitivity (e.g. adipose tissue, pancreas or muscle). As indicated above, the different source of DNA from individuals at birth and at 5 years of age (blood spots vs buffy coat), may at least in part explain the differences we observed in global methylation at the two ages. Another factor which may have influenced the findings was that the NSCs from which blood spots were obtained were not stored separately, meaning that there was potential for contact of dried blood samples from different subjects and therefore DNA cross-contamination during storage. It is also important to note that global methylation in each individual at each time point was only assessed in a single sample. While this is a common approach in human epigenetic studies, particularly where there are limited opportunities for sample collection, as is the case in infants; it is nevertheless possible that the global methylation on the day of sample collection was not fully representative of the global methylation of the individual over a longer time period.

3.5.7. Conclusion

In conclusion, the results of this Chapter suggest that global methylation level is age dependent and sex specific. The results further suggest that maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation does not significantly alter global methylation levels either at birth or 5 years of age in either male or female children in blood, although it remains possible that different effects would have been observed had we been able to access metabolic target tissues, in particular the skeletal muscle, adipose tissue, liver and pancreas. Moreover, the results of this Chapter demonstrated that global methylation level in peripheral blood was correlated with fasting plasma glucose concentration and fat mass percent at 5 years of age only in children whose mothers were supplemented with n-3 LCPUFA during the second half of pregnancy. This raises the possibility that prenatal DHA supplementation might potentially influence methylation in specific genes that are linked to fat deposition and insulin sensitivity and that these changes persist until 5 years of age, however the very low correlation coefficients for these relationships raises questions about the clinical relevance of the relationships. While global methylation levels in blood does not appear to be influenced by prenatal DHA treatment, there is a need for further studies to investigate whether there are epigenetic changes in specific loci or regions related to body fat mass and glucose metabolism induced by increased exposure to n-3 LCPUFA before birth.

<u>CHAPTER 4: THE EFFECTS OF MATERNAL N-3</u> <u>LCPUFA SUPPLEMENTATION ON GENOME-WIDE</u> <u>DNA METHYLATION STATUS IN CHILDREN</u>

4.1. Candidate Contribution

I was responsible for tracking all the samples collected as part of this clinical trial and undertook all the sample processing and cataloguing. I performed the DNA extractions for all the blood samples taken at 5 years of age and undertook the associated quality control checks. I played the principal role in the process of sending and receiving consent for collecting neonatal samples from the neonatal screening cards (NSCs). I was also responsible for locating, collecting, cataloguing and storing all of the neonatal samples, and for preparing DNA to be shipped to the external analysis site. I was also involved in discussions with bioinformaticians related to the analysis of the DNA methylation data and undertook all of the PANTHER analysis of the differentially methylated regions and interpretation of these results.

4.2. Introduction

It is now well established that the nutritional environment experienced before birth and/or in early infancy is an important determinant of an individual's risk of developing obesity and metabolic diseases, including type 2 diabetes, in child and adulthood^{5,77,79,84,208,235,236}. Although the mechanisms underlying this association are not fully understood, there is increasing evidence that the prenatal environment can alter the epigenome and that this plays an important role in the early origins of obesity and poor metabolic health^{9,32,215}. Studies of adult individuals whose mothers were exposed to an acute period of famine (the Dutch Huger Winter) during pregnancy provided the first human evidence to support the importance of the epigenome in metabolic programming. These studies showed that the increased risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes in adult individuals exposed to the famine in utero occurred in conjunction with altered DNA methylation of the *IGF2* gene^{167,237}. This, together with extensive studies in animal models, has led to the hypothesis that changes in the nutritional environment during critical periods in development can alter the epigenetic status of specific genes involved in metabolic processes and that this has long-term effects on that individuals risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes later in life²¹⁵.

The n-3 LCPUFAs, DHA and EPA, are well known for their role in immune regulation, neurodevelopment and growth through the life-course^{111,112,136,238}. More recently, there has been growing interest in the potential role of the n-3 LCPUFAs in metabolic health. The potential for increased dietary n-3 LCPUFA intake to reduce body fat accumulation and improve insulin sensitivity has been demonstrated in a number of randomised controlled trials in adults^{18-22,115}. These findings have led to

the suggestion that n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy could potentially reduce the risk of developing obesity and type 2 diabetes in children after birth. However, the results of studies which have investigated this have produced inconsistent results, and there is a lack of robust evidence as to whether prenatal DHA supplementation is associated with improved metabolic health in the children^{25,119-122}. In Chapter 2 of this thesis, I reported that maternal n-3 LCPUFAs supplementation in the second half of pregnancy was actually associated with decreased insulin sensitivity in children at 5 years of age, however the mechanistic basis of this is not known.

Recently, a number of studies have provided evidence to suggest that n-3 LCPUFA have the capacity to influence epigenetic processes in both developing and adult individuals²³⁹. In rats, intake of n-3 LCPUFAs during pregnancy was shown to increase DNA methylation levels in the promoter region of the *Fads2* gene in the liver of the offspring, a gene which plays a critical role in PUFA metabolism, which was negatively correlated with *Fads2* mRNA expression²¹⁹. The results of this study suggested that consuming a diet enriched in n-3 LCPUFAs during pregnancy can persistently change epigenetic status in the offspring and result in long-term effects on gene expression and PUFA synthesis²¹⁹. A human study also reported differences in DNA methylation at 27 sites between adult individuals with high and low n-3 PUFA intakes²⁴⁰. In another human study, maternal supplementation with n-3 LCPUFAs during the second half of pregnancy altered the global methylation level in cord blood in women who were smokers, but had no effect in non-smokers³².

In Chapter 3 of this thesis, I reported that maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation in the second half of pregnancy did not result in any change in the global methylation level in children at birth and at 5 years of age. However, as discussed in that Chapter, the global methylation level only provides information on the overall methylation status of the genome, and does not indicate if there are alterations in the methylation level of specific genes or regions. In Chapter 3, I also identified significant associations between global DNA methylation levels and the fat mass percent and plasma glucose levels in children at 5 years of age that were only present in the DHA treatment group, but not the control group. This led me to hypothesise that exposure to an increased supply of n-3 LCPUFA *in utero* could potentially alter DNA methylation patterns in some specific genes or regions involved in fat deposition and/or glucose metabolism, and that these changes persist at 5 years of age. However, no previous human studies have determined the effects of increased exposure to n-3 LCPUFA prenatally on DNA methylation in offspring.

Therefore, the aim of this Chapter was to determine the impact of maternal DHA supplementation during the second half of pregnancy on gene/region-specific genome-wide DNA methylation in children at birth and at 5 years of age using DNA samples from the DOMInO RCT.

4.3. Methods and Materials

4.3.1. Study Population

As described in the previous Chapter, the present project is nested within a follow-up study of the DOMInO trial¹²⁸, details of which have been provided in Chapter 2.

4.3.2. Neonatal Sample Collection

The same procedure for obtaining consent to access the NSCs for the DOMInO children, locating the NSCs and obtaining the dried blood punches were followed as described in Chapter 3.

4.3.3. Blood Sample Collection at 5 Years of Age

The subset of DOMInO children whose blood samples were used in this study consisted of children from whom blood samples were collected at 5 years of age and who had provided consent for (epi)genetic tests/DNA isolation to be conducted on these blood samples. Details of the procedures followed for sample collection, processing and storage of samples were described in Chapter 3. The number of samples which were tested for genome-wide DNA methylation is shown in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Diagram depicting the number of samples from the DOMInO children utilised for genome-wide DNA methylation from DNA extracted from neonatal screening cards (NSCs) at birth and buffy coat samples collected at 5 years of age.

4.3.4. DNA Extraction

4.3.4.1. DNA Extraction of Neonatal Samples

DNA extraction of neonatal samples was conducted as described in Chapter 3. Briefly, DNA from neonatal samples was extracted using GenSolve technology (IntegenX, Pleasanton, CA America) followed by purification using the QIAamp DNA micro kit (Qiagen, Doncaster, VIC Australia) and an additional ethanol precipitation step. The quality and quantity of all samples was assessed using a NanoDrop spectrophotometer and the Quant-iT Picogreen dsDNA assay (Life Technologies, Mulgrave, VIC Australia). The extraction of NSC blood spots was performed by collaborators in CSIRO, Sydney.

4.3.4.2. DNA Extraction from Buffy Coat at 5 Years

The DNA extraction of blood samples collected from 5 year olds was conducted as described in Chapter 3. Briefly, DNA was extracted from the buffy coat fraction using the QIAamp DNA mini kit (Qiagen Inc., Valencia, CA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The quality and concentration of the DNA was determined by measuring the absorbance at 260 and 280nm (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE). 1µl of DNA from each sample was used to confirm DNA integrity by agarose gel electrophoresis (0.75% w/v agarose gel).

4.3.5. Genome-wide DNA Methylation Analysis

Genome-wide DNA methylation was assessed using the Illumina Infinium HumanMethylation450 (450K) BeadChip in DNA samples from a subset of 369 children at birth and 65 children at age 5. The Illumina Infinium HumanMethylation 450 BeadChip is a high-density microarray for quantifying the methylation level of over 450,000 CpG sites within human genome²⁴¹. The 450K platform covers 99% of RefSeq genes with multiple sites in the annotated promoter (1500bp or 200bp upstream of transcriptin start site), 5' UTR, first exon, gene body and 3' UTR. From the CpG context, it covers 96% of Cpg islands with multiple sites in the annotated CpG Islands, shores (regions flanking island) and shelves (regions flanking shores)^{241,242}. Hence, the 450K platform is a powerful tool for exploring methylation profile in these annotated regions²⁴¹. The subset of DOMInO children at birth comprised of those for which a sufficient quantity of DNA was obtained from the neonatal screening card for individual analysis (>300ng) and for whom DNA samples were also available at age 5 years. The subset of 65 children at age 5 years was selected at random by an external statistician to ensure an equal distribution of treatment groups and sexes.

All selected DNA samples were submitted to the Australian Genome Research Facility (Parkville, VIC Australia) for bisulfite conversion using the Zymo EZ DNA Methylation kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA USA). Bisulfite treated DNA was hybridised to the 450K arrays and the arrays were processed following standard protocols. Samples were randomised across arrays according to treatment group, sex and date of birth to minimise the impact of batch effects.Statistical Analysis Normalisation of the raw intensity data from the 450K array was performed using the *dasen* method from the Bioconductor software package *wateRmelon*²⁴³. The union of probes located on the sex chromosomes (n=11,648), probes targeting CpGs located 2 or fewer nucleotides from a known Single Nucleotide Polymorphism (SNP) with a minor allele frequency >0.05 (n=29,476), and known cross-hybridising probes $(n=30,969)^{244}$ were excluded from the analysis. Probes were also excluded if they failed in one or more samples, based on a detection *p* value of greater than 0.05.

To identify differentially methylated probes in the DHA group compared to the control group, the limma package²⁴⁵ was used on quantile normalised beta values to compute a moderated t- test. Raw p values were corrected for multiple testing using the Benjamini-Hochberg method and significant differentially methylated probes were identified based on a False Discovery Rate (FDR) *p*-value <0.05. The methylation values are expressed as beta values, on a scale of 0 (unmethylated) to 1 (fully methylated), these can also be interpreted as percentage methylation (1=100%, 0.5=50%, 0=0%).

The methylated regions (DMRs) between the DHA and the control group were identified using the Bioconductor package $DMRcate^{246}$, which extracts these regions via kernel density modelling. A bandwidth size of 500bp was used, and based on a FDR *p*-value cut-off of <0.05, the most significant DMRs in the genome were agglomerated and extracted. Only regions that constituted of more than 1 probe were selected.

The difference of methylation level in DMRs between two treatment groups is expressed as maximum beta difference. This refers to the maximum beta difference (average beta value for DHA group minus average beta control group) that was calculated for each probe that was found within that DMR. For example, a maximum beta difference of 0.01 indicates a 1% difference in methylation level at that DMR.

Biological pathway analysis of DMRs was assessed using the PANTHER (Protein Analysis Through Evolutionary Relationships) Classification System (version 9.0, release date 20th Jan 2014) which contains 7,180 protein families, divided into 52,768 functionally distinct protein subfamilies.

4.4. **Results**

4.4.1. Genome-wide DNA Methylation

4.4.1.1.Effect of Prenatal DHA Supplementation on Genome Wide DNA Methylation at Birth

There was no significant difference in the average DNA methylation levels obtained by annotation across all probes on the 450K array between the DHA and control groups at birth (Table 4.1). DNA methylation level in males was higher than in females across all designations.

There were a total of 44 (adjusted p < 0.05) DMRs identified between the DHA and control group at birth, 37 of which were associated with a gene and 7 of which were intergenic (Table 4.2). Interestingly, the majority of DMRs showed higher methylation levels in the DHA group compared to the control group, with only 6 DMRs showing lower methylation in the control group. The beta differences (average beta value for DHA group minus average beta value for control group) between groups indicated that the methylation differences between the DHA and control groups were very small, ranging from -5% to 4%. To investigate whether the DMRs clustered in any particular biological pathways, they were analysed using the Protein Analysis Through Evolutionary Relationships (PANTHER) Classification System (Figure 4.2). The results of the PANTHER analysis indicated that the 44 DMRs were mainly clustered in metabolic (14 DMRs), cellular (13 DMRs), developmental (9 DMRs) and immune system (7 DMRs) processes (Figure 4.2).

	DHA group ¹		Control group		Group comparison (p value) ²	Sex comparison (p value)
	Male	Female	Male	Female		
TSS1500	0.332	0.331	0.332	0.331	0.876	<0.001
TSS200	0.177	0.176	0.178	0.176	0.292	<0.001
5'UTR & 1st Exon	0.298	0.296	0.298	0.296	0.521	<0.001
Body	0.593	0.592	0.593	0.592	0.878	<0.001
3'UTR	0.691	0.689	0.691	0.689	0.682	<0.001
Intergenic	0.564	0.563	0.565	0.563	0.876	<0.001
All (combined)	0.472	0.471	0.472	0.471	0.781	<0.001

Table 4.1 Global DNA methylation levels across all probes by genomic location

¹ mean methylation beta value by genomic location as annotated on the Illumina Infinium 450k arrays, ² all P values in the table are Benjamini Hochberg adjusted P values

Abbreviations: TSS1500, 1500 base pairs from the transcription start site; TSS200, 200 base pairs from the transcription start site; 5'UTR, 5' Untranslated Region, 3'UTR, 3'Untranslated Region.

Genomic range	Probes	Gene symbol	Gene name	Genomic location	Adjusted p value	Max beta difference [*]
chr3:138152837- 138153439	11	ESYT3	extended synaptotagmin-like protein 3	TSS1500,TSS200,1stExon,5 'UTR	2.63E-08	0.04
chr12:132293329- 132293702	5				2.55E-06	0.03
chr15:34610829- 34611069	4	SLC12A6	solute carrier family 12 (potassium/chloride transporter), member 6	Body,1stExon,5'UTR,TSS20 0	1.42E-05	0.01
chr3:42201314- 42201898	6	TRAK1	trafficking protein, kinesin binding 1	TSS1500,Body,TSS200,1stE xon	6.79E-05	0.02
chr6:166876490- 166877038	7	RPS6KA2	ribosomal protein S6 kinase, 90kDa, polypeptide 2	Body	2.88E-04	-0.02
chr10:134221503- 134222507	8	PWWP2B	PWWP domain containing 2B	3'UTR,Body	2.96E-04	0.03
chr17:75445905- 75446661	7	SEPT9	septin 9	Body,TSS1500,TSS200,1stE xon,5'UTR	5.15E-04	0.01
chr8:59058254- 59058660	5	FAM110B	family with sequence similarity 110, member B	5'UTR	5.29E-04	0.01
chr7:1882776-1883876	9	MAD1L1	MAD1 mitotic arrest deficient-like 1 (yeast)	Body	5.29E-04	-0.02
chr12:7780736-7781431	6				2.88E-03	0.05
chr3:42306150- 42307193	10	ССК	cholecystokinin	5'UTR,1stExon,TSS200,TSS 1500	2.92E-03	0.01
chr4:62382932- 62383240	4	LPHN3	latrophilin 3	Body	4.19E-03	0.02
chr6:150346721- 150347053	10	RAET1L	retinoic acid early transcript 1L	TSS200,TSS1500	4.37E-03	0.01
chr6:31549853- 31550241	4	LTB	lymphotoxin beta (TNF superfamily, member 3)	Body,1stExon,TSS200	4.62E-03	0.01
chr6:150038536- 150038700	2	LATS1	large tumor suppressor kinase 1	5'UTR	4.86E-03	0.00
chr22:32599511- 32599648	3	RFPL2	ret finger protein-like 2	TSS200,5'UTR,TSS1500	8.25E-03	0.04
chr3:71276214- 71276336	2	FOXP1	forkhead box P1	5'UTR	9.88E-03	0.02

 Table 4.2: Differentially Methylated Regions (DMRs) between the DHA-supplemented and control group at birth

chr6:1619094-1621093	8				0.010	0.01
chr10:134755862- 134756994	9	CFAP46	cilia and flagella associated protein 46	Body,1stExon,TSS200,TSS1 500	0.010	0.02
chr3:49236800- 49237500	8	CCDC36	coiled-coil domain containing 36	TSS200,5'UTR,1stExon	0.011	0.01
chr19:50861262- 50862121	6	NAPSA	napsin A aspartic peptidase	3'UTR,Body	0.012	0.02
chr2:242800973- 242801252	3	PDCD1	programmed cell death 1	1stExon,5'UTR,TSS200	0.012	0.01
chr12:130824015- 130824831	6	PIWIL1	piwi-like RNA-mediated gene silencing 1	5'UTR	0.014	0.02
chr1:240656217- 240656737	6	GREM2	gremlin 2, DAN family BMP antagonist	3'UTR,Body	0.014	0.02
chr4:1107202-1107259	2	RNF212	ring finger protein 212	1stExon,5'UTR	0.014	0.01
chr1:156260918- 156261403	6	TMEM79	transmembrane protein 79	Body,3'UTR	0.016	-0.01
chr1:245319261- 245319431	2	KIF26B	kinesin family member 26B	Body	0.017	0.00
chr17:80541737- 80542118	4	FOXK2	forkhead box K2	Body	0.019	0.02
chr19:53540845- 53541287	4				0.021	0.01
chr16:2907859-2908554	6	PRSS22	protease, serine, 22	Body,1stExon,5'UTR,TSS20 0,TSS1500	0.025	0.01
chr15:93580022- 93580327	4				0.029	-0.03
chr10:105210937- 105210980	2	CALHM2	calcium homeostasis modulator 2	5'UTR,Body	0.029	0.01
chr8:117950244- 117950504	7	AARD	alanine and arginine rich domain containing protein	TSS1500,TSS200,1stExon,5 'UTR	0.029	0.01
chr20:13620031- 13620048	2	TASP1	taspase, threonine aspartase, 1	TSS1500	0.038	-0.01
chr8:29172906- 29172998	3				0.041	0.02
chr2:48844728- 48845068	8	GTF2A1L,S TON1	general transcription factor IIA, 1- like, stonin 1	TSS1500,Body,TSS200,1stE xon,5'UTR	0.045	0.02
chr20:3051954-3052345	9	OXT	oxytocin/neurophysin I	TSS1500,TSS200,1stExon,5	0.045	0.01

			prepropeptide	'UTR		
chr15:45571596- 45571636	2				0.045	0.01
chr17:76975944- 76976091	4	LGALS3BP	lectin, galactoside-binding, soluble, 3 binding protein	1stExon,5'UTR,TSS200	0.046	0.01
chr19:57988860- 57989134	7	ZNF772	zinc finger protein 772	1stExon,5'UTR,TSS200	0.046	0.01
chr6:30460244- 30460322	2	HLA-E	major histocompatibility complex, class I, E	Body	0.046	0.01
chr21:43823604- 43823835	4	UBASH3A	ubiquitin associated and SH3 domain containing A	TSS1500,TSS200	0.046	0.01
chr6:29910755- 29910776	2	HLA-A	major histocompatibility complex, class I, A	Body	0.048	-0.01
chr8:141359539- 141359786	4	TRAPPC9	trafficking protein particle complex 9	Body	0.049	0.02

*: The beta difference (average beta value for DHA group minus average beta for control group) is calculated for each probe, and the maximum beta difference shows the highest beta difference that was found within that DMR.

TSS1500: 1500 base pairs from the transcription start site.

TSS200: 200 base pairs from the transcription start site.

5'UTR: 5' untranslated region.

3'UTR: 3' untranslated region.



Figure 4.2: Pie chart analysis results showing the biological processes associated with genes identified as differentially methylated between DHA and control group at birth as determined using the PANTHER Classification System.

4.4.1.2.Effect of Prenatal DHA Supplementation on Genome Wide DNA Methylation at 5 Years

Consistent with data at birth, there was no significant difference of mean DNA methylation levels by annotation across all probes on the 450K array between DHA and control group at birth. DNA methylation level in males was higher than in females across all designations

At 5 years of age, a total of 30 (p < 0.05) DMRs were identified between the DHA and control groups. 22 of these DMRs were associated with a gene and 8 DMRs were intergenic (Table 4.3). Interestingly, and similar to the findings at birth, the majority of DMRs showed higher methylation levels in the DHA group compared to the control group, with only 5 DMRs showing lower methylation in the control group. Moreover, methylation differences between the DHA group and control group were small, which is also consistent to the findings at birth. Biological process analysis from PANTHER showed that these 30 DMRs were mainly clustered in metabolic (14 DMRs), cellular (8 DMRs) and developmental (8 DMRs) processes, which was a similar pattern to that observed in the neonatal samples. In addition, one gene (*MD1L1*) was differentially methylated at both birth and 5 years of age; however, the direction of change in *MD1L1* was different at 5 years (max beta difference: 0.06) of age compared to at birth (max beta difference: -0.02).

Genomic range	No. probes	Gene symbol	Gene name	Genomic location	Adjust ed p	Max beta difference [*]
chr1:75198211- 75199496	12	TYW3, CRYZ	tRNA-yW synthesizing protein 3 homolog, crystallin	TSS1500,5'UTR,TSS200,1stExon, Body	1.9E-09	0.05
chr1:152161237- 152162507	8				2.7E-08	0.09
chr19:11784246- 11785337	15	ZNF833	zinc finger protein 833, pseudogene	TSS1500,TSS200,Body	3.4E-08	0.05
chr3:39543515- 39544326	6	MOBP	myelin-associated oligodendrocyte basic protein	5'UTR,Body	6.3E-06	0.07
chr8:38757532- 38757859	5	PLEKHA 2	pleckstrin homology domain containing, family A member 2	TSS1500	1.1E-05	0.08
chr1:92012148- 92012736	6				5.9E-05	0.05
chr3:46758813- 46759698	10	PRSS50	protease, serine, 50	Body,1stExon,5'UTR,TSS200,TSS 1500	6.1E-05	0.06
chr1:42611386- 42612518	5				1.1E-04	0.07
chr15:74218418- 74219307	12	LOXL1	lysyl oxidase-like 1	TSS1500,TSS200,5'UTR,1stExon	1.6E-04	0.03
chr10:134938144- 134938528	3	GPR123	G protein-coupled receptor 123	Body	3.5E-04	0.05
chr19:46526100- 46527410	11	PGLYRP 1	peptidoglycan recognition protein 1	1stExon,5'UTR,TSS200,TSS1500	4.5E-04	0.03
chr11:637885-638076	2	DRD4	dopamine receptor D4	Body	9.9E-04	-0.05
chr1:207842303- 207843560	6	CR1L	complement component (3b/4b) receptor 1-like	Body	1.1E-03	0.05
chr6:41376295- 41376604	2				1.7E-03	-0.04

 Table 4.3: DMRs between the DHA-supplemented and control group at 5 years of age

chr1:110254662- 110255096	10	GSTM5	glutathione S-transferase mu 5	TSS1500,TSS200,1stExon,5'UTR, Body	2.1E-03	0.10
chr17:17109239- 17110207	13	PLD6	phospholipase D family, member 6	1stExon,5'UTR,TSS200,TSS1500	3.5E-03	0.07
chr16:88589918- 88590467	6	ZFPM1	zinc finger protein, FOG family member 1	Body	0.010	0.04
chr6:164506861- 164507305	6				0.011	0.05
chr17:19628012- 19628421	4				0.012	0.05
chr6:169977394- 169977608	2	WDR27	WD repeat domain 27	Body	0.013	0.05
chr3:182817190- 182817626	11	MCCC1	methylcrotonoyl-CoA carboxylase 1 (alpha)	1stExon,5'UTR,TSS200,TSS1500	0.016	0.02
chr17:78912765- 78913111	2	RPTOR	regulatory associated protein of MTOR, complex 1	Body	0.016	-0.12
chr6:31695415- 31695599	3	DDAH2	dimethylarginine dimethylaminohydrolase 2	Body	0.016	0.04
chr6:30419491- 30419612	6				0.019	-0.05
chr8:144654887- 144655030	4	C8orf73/ MROH6	maestro heat-like repeat family member 6	1stExon,5'UTR,TSS200	0.023	0.04
chr15:26874098- 26874515	4	GABRB3	gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) A receptor, beta 3	Body	0.024	0.04
chr10:105420747- 105421249	4	SH3PXD 2A	SH3 and PX domains 2A	Body	0.028	0.04
chr19:47507399- 47507691	4	GRLF1/A RHGAP3 5	Rho GTPase activating protein 35	3'UTR	0.030	0.06
chr7:1915268-1915363	3	MAD1L1	MAD1 mitotic arrest deficient-like 1 (yeast)	Body	0.037	0.06
chr6:7468673-7468973	4				0.046	-0.04

*: The beta difference (average beta value for DHA group minus average beta for control group) is calculated for each probe, and the maximum beta difference shows the highest beta difference that was found within that DMR.

TSS1500: 1500 base pairs from the transcription start site. TSS200: 200 base pairs from the transcription start site. 5'UTR: 5' untranslated region. 3'UTR: 3' untranslated region.



Figure 4.3: Pie chart results showing the biological processes associated with genes identified as differentially methylated between DHA and control group at 5 years of age as determined using the PANTHER Classification System.

4.4.1.2.1. DMRs between DHA and Control Group in Males and Females

When the number of DMRs between DHA and control group at birth and at 5 years of age were analysed separately in males and females, more DMRs were identified between the DHA group and control group in males compared to females at both time points (Table 4.4).

Multiple comparisons were undertaken to compare the DMRs between treatment groups in the different sexes at the different time points (Table 4.5). Interestingly, three of the DMRs between the DHA and control group in males (chr15:93652578-93653310, *KIF19* and *SLC6A18*) were identified both at birth and at 5 years of age (Table 4.5). The differences in methylation between treatment groups for these 3 DMRs were small, but consistent over multiple probes (Figure 4.4-4.6).

 Table 4.4 Number of DMRs between the DHA and control group in separate

 analysis of males and females

		Number of DMRs
Birth	Male	150
	Female	79
5 years	Male	230
	Female	43

hg19 coordinates	no. probes	gene symbol	gene name	group	DMR in comparison
chr1:175122830-175123194	3				birth females, 5 years males
chr10:103530053-103530255	4	FGF8	fibroblast growth factor 8	3'UTR,Body	birth females, 5 years males
chr10:88022641-88023243	7	GRID1	glutamate receptor, ionotropic, delta 1	Body	birth females, 5 years males
chr12:132293329-132293702	5				birth all, 5 years females
chr15:93652578-93653310	7				birth males, 5 years males
chr17:19628012-19628421	4				birth females, 5 years all, 5 years males
chr17:72350354-72350710	4	KIF19	kinesin family member 19	Body	birth males, 5 years males
chr3:138152837-138152902	2	ESYT3	extended synaptotagmin-like protein 2	TSS1500	birth females, 5 years males
chr3:138152837-138153439	11	ESYT3	extended synaptotagmin-like protein 3	TSS1500,TSS200,1st Exon,5'UTR	birth all, birth males
chr5:1245669-1246795	5	SLC6A18	solute carrier family 6 (neutral amino acid transporter), member 18	Body,3'UTR	birth males, 5 years males
chr6:150346721-150347053	10	RAET1L	retinoic acid early transcript 1L	TSS200,TSS1500	birth all, 5 years males
chr6:28945182-28945507	8				birth pools all, 5 years females

Table 4.5: DMRs between the DHA and control group that were found in multiple comparisons


Figure 4.4: DMR multiple boxplots of chr15:93652578-93653310 between treatment groups (green box represents the control group and blue box represents the DHA group) in male a) at birth and b) at 5 years of age. The middle line in each box is the median methylation level in each group. The box shows values within the 25th and 75 percentile range and the upper/lower whiskers show a 95% confidence interval.



Figure 4.5: DMR multiple boxplots of SLC6A18 between treatment groups treatment groups green box represents the control group and blue box represents the DHA group) in male a) at birth and b) at 5 years of age. The middle line in each box is the median methylation level in each group. The box shows values within the 25th and 75 percentile range and the upper/lower whiskers show a 95% confidence interval.



Figure 4.6: DMR multiple boxplots of KIF19 between treatment groups treatment groups green box represents the control group and blue box represents the DHA group) in male a) at birth and b) at 5 years of age. The middle line in each box is the median methylation level in each group. The box shows values within the 25th and 75 percentile range and the upper/lower whiskers show a 95% confidence interval.

4.5. Discussion

In the previous Chapter, it was reported that there was no effect of prenatal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on global DNA methylation at either birth or 5 years of age. However, it was also demonstrated that prenatal DHA supplementation was associated with a significant relationship between global DNA methylation levels in blood at birth and percentage fat mass and plasma insulin and glucose levels in children at 5 years of age. This raised the possibility that exposure to an increased supply of n-3 LCPUFA before birth may alter DNA methylation in specific genes related to fat mass and/or insulin sensitivity/secretion. In the current Chapter, it was reported that while prenatal DHA supplementation was associated with small DNA methylation changes in specific genomic regions at birth and at age 5 years, there was little evidence of any effect of prenatal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on DNA methylation patterns in individual genes or genomic regions related to fat deposition or insulin action. The results of this Chapter also suggested that males might be more susceptible to the effects of increased prenatal DHA exposure compared to females at an epigenetic level, indicating that it will be important to evaluate effects in males and females separately in future studies.

4.5.1. DMRs at Birth and at 5 Years of Age

DNA methylation analyses identified 44 DMRs at birth and 30 DMRs at 5 years of age between the DHA and control group in the combined population. Interestingly, the majority of these DMRs at both birth and 5 years of age showed higher methylation levels in the DHA group compared to the control group. Although the DMRs between treatment groups were different between birth and at 5 years of age, they were mainly clustered in metabolic, developmental and immune system processes at both time points. While it is important to note that no gene specific methylation changes were observed in this current study, the finding that maternal DHA supplementation had effects of methylation of genomic regions involved in immunological processes is interesting in the context of previous studies which have demonstrated that maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy can have immunologic effects. These studies have demonstrated effects of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on umbilical cord blood immune markers (blood cytokine mRNA²⁴⁷, plasma cytokines²⁴⁸, LTB4 production from neutrophils²⁴⁹, cytokine production by mononuclear cells²⁵⁰) and an altered cord blood haematopoietic progenitor phenotype²⁵¹ which might be expected to impact on allergic sensitisation and on the development of atopic disease²⁵². Olsen and colleagues have also previously reported that fish oil supplementation (2.7g n-3 LCPUFAs daily, n=266) in late pregnancy (from gestation week 30 until delivery) reduced the risk of asthma (p=0.03) and allergic asthma (p=0.01) in children at 16 years of age compared to olive oil treatment $(n=136)^{253}$. This study suggested that increased intake of n-3 LCPUFAs during pregnancy can cause long-term effects on the immune function of the children²⁵³. Another large double blinded RCT (n=706) reported that maternal supplementation with n-3 LCPUFA (900mg daily) from 21 weeks' gestation until birth decreased percentage of infants diagnosed as having atopic eczema (7% vs 12%, p=0.04) and sensitised to egg (9% vs 15%, p=0.02) compared to control group (vegetable oil)²⁵⁴. The results of the present study therefore suggest that these effects of prenatal DHA on subsequent immune function could potentially be mediated by epigenetic modifications.

Although clinical studies have reported that increased n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy can improve immune system in children; there is very limited information to date as to the effects of n-3 LCPUFAs on the epigenetic status of gene/genome regions involved in immune regulation. Recently, a double blinded, randomised controlled trial reported that daily 400mg DHA supplementation from 18 to 22 week of gestation to parturition was associated with changes in DNA methylation levels in LINE-1 repetitive elements (p=0.03) in infants of mothers who smoked during pregnancy³². This same study also reported that DHA supplementation tended to result in altered methylation of the immune factors $TNF-\alpha$ and *IL13* in the cord blood (p=0.06) in the maternal smoking group³². Since the IFNy and IL13 genes encode Th1 and Th2 cytokines respectively, this result supports the suggestion that n-3 LCPUFA can act to alter the subsequent immune function of the offspring via epigenetic mechanisms. While there was no effect of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on the DNA methylation of IFNy and IL13 in the current Chapter, this may be explained by the fact that the majority of mothers in our study were non-smokers.

While few DMRs were identified between DHA and control groups in the neonatal samples, one interesting finding was that the methylation of genetic regions encoding

the *CCK* (cholecystokinin) gene was increased in the DHA group compared to control group. *CCK* stimulates the release of digestive enzymes which catalyse the digestion of fat, protein, and carbohydrates, and therefore promote the hydrolysis of starch into sugars²⁵⁵⁻²⁶¹. However, effect of changing methylation status of CCK on gene and protein levels need to be determined in future studies.

Of the DMRs identified at 5 years of age, *ARHFAP35* is of particular interest. *ARHFAP35* (Rho GTPase activating protein 35) has previously been shown to act as a switch between adipogenesis and myogenesis during differentiation of the common mesenchymal precursor that gives rise to both adipocytes and myocytes²⁶²⁻²⁶⁴. As a result, if the methylation differences observed in the Rho GTPase gene translated into differences in activity of this enzyme between the DHA and control groups, this could influence the fate of cells in the differentiation of adipocyte and myocyte precursors and alter the balance between muscle and fat cell formation²⁶³. However, since the results in Chapter 2 showed no difference in of the percentage fat mass in children in the DHA treatment compared to control group, the functional significance of the alteration in methylation of this gene is unclear.

4.5.2. Sex Differences in the Sensitivity to Increased Prenatal Exposure of N-3 LCPUFAs

The results of this Chapter indicated that there were more DMRs between the treatment groups in males compared to females at both birth and 5 years of age. Moreover, there were 3 DMRs (SLC6A18, chr15:93652578-93653310, and KIF19) in males which were identified at both birth and 5 years of age; but, no DMRs were found to be altered at both time points in females. *SLC6A18* is involved in kidney amino acid transport²⁶⁵, and it has previously been reported that silencing of *SLC6A18* is associated with a defect in glycine uptake at the level of the late proximal tubule in mice^{265,266}. The DMR of chr15:93652578-93653310 is intergenic and has not been associated with any known gene; so, the significance and potential physiological effects of this change are unclear. *KIF19* is a protein coding gene for kinesin family member 19^{267} and there are limited studies on this gene. None of these three DMRs have previously been related to obesity and metabolic health; and further studies are required to examine this in more detail.

As discussed in Chapter 3, there are significant differences in metabolic systems and body composition between males and females. In addition, the data presented in Chapter 2 showed that males were more susceptible to negative effects of DHA supplementation on insulin sensitivity compared to females. The results are in line with data from numerous previous studies that have indicated that males are more susceptible to the programming effects of a large range of prenatal insults in comparison to females^{79,208}. The results of the current Chapter add to this evidence, and suggest that males are more responsive to the effects of prenatal exposure to an increased supply of n-3 LCPUFAs compared to females on epigenetic level. Although no previous studies have reported sex difference in the effect of increased prenatal n-3 LCPUFA exposure on the epigenome in offspring; it has been demonstrated in a number of previous studies that male offspring respond differently to other nutritional exposures *in utero* on an epigenetic level compared to female offspring²⁶⁸. For example, Castillo and colleagues reported in a rat study that methylation in CpG sites related to the phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (*PEPCK*) and acyl-CoA oxidase (*AOX*) genes in the liver was altered in male offspring of dams that were given cadmium treatment (50 ppm) during pregnancy compared to the control group, but not affected in females²⁶⁸. Although the evidence is limited; these results raise the possibility that epigenetic response in offspring to the alteration of specific nutrients *in utero* might be sex dependent. This will be important to examine in more detail in future studies and highlights the importance of separating analyses by sex in studies of developmental programming.

4.5.3. Limitations

As discussed in Chapter 3, there are a number of limitations which need to be considered when interpreting the results of the epigenetic analyses presented in this thesis. One limitation is the fact that the DNA at birth and 5 years was isolated from different source material (dried blood spot at birth, buffy coat at 5 years of age). The results of this Chapter also suggested that there were not many genetic regions that were differentially methylated between treatment groups and that the difference of DNA methylation were small. This suggests that n-3 LCPUFA supplementation in the second half of pregnancy did not cause dramatic epigenetic changes in the infant/child. Furthermore, the relatively small changes induced by n-3 LCPUFA supplementation identified in the large sample of DOMInO children in which genome-wide methylation was assessed at birth (369 participants), could be difficult to replicate in the smaller number (65 participants) assessed at 5 years of age. This was most likely due to insufficient statistical power, which could at least partly explain why most of the DMRs detected at birth were not present at 5 years of age, although it may also be that the changes simply did not persist beyond the immediate neonatal period. Moreover, the n-3 LCPUFA supplementation in the DOMInO study was only given to women from about 20 gestational weeks until delivery, i.e. during mid to late pregnancy. This is potentially significant since previous studies have shown that nutritional exposures experienced during the peri-conceptional period and in early gestation have a more profound effect on the epigeneome and later metabolic health than the same nutritional exposure in late gestation^{4,5,67,74,77,83}. This suggests that the timing of nutritional intervention is likely to be critical for its effect on the epigenetic status in offspring^{9,11}, and it is possible that the n-3 LCPUFA

supplementation in our study commenced too late in gestation to induce substantial epigenetic changes in the offspring.

4.5.4. Conclusion

To conclude, the results of this Chapter have shown that most of the alterations in DNA methylation in specific regions in children at birth and 5 years by supplementation of n-3 LCPUFAs during pregnancy were not related to glucose/insulin metabolism and fat deposition. The DMRs between n-3 LCPUFA and control groups at both birth and 5 years of age were, however, mainly clustered in metabolic, cellular, developmental and immune system processes and it is possible that the observed changes may therefore indirectly contribute to changes in the metabolic phenotype. The methylation level of two interesting regions, CCK and ARHFAP35, were increased in DHA group compared to control group, and these changes need to be validated in further studies. In addition, the results of this Chapter have suggested that the response to increased DHA exposure prenatally on an epigenetic level is more pronounced in males compared to females. While the effects observed were not large, small changes in DNA methylation in regulatory parts of the genome, such as in gene promotor or enhancers, may have biological relevance. However, whether this is the case in our study this needs further investigation. This study is the first to investigate the effect of increased prenatal exposure of n-3 LCPUFAs on DNA methylation later in life, and the results provide novel insights and potential future study directions regarding the mechanism of how maternal n-3 LCPUFAs supplementation during pregnancy affects children's health later in life. However, due to the limitations discussed previously, further studies are needed to confirm these results.

CHAPTER 5: OMEGA-3 FATTY ACID TREATMENT STIMULATES PROLIFERATION AND ALTERS GENE EXPRESSION IN THE FIRST TRIMESTER PLACENTAL TROPHOBLAST CELL LINE <u>HTR8/SVNEO</u>

5.1. Candidate Contribution

I was responsible all of the experiments including cell culture work and fatty acid analysis of the emulsions, cells and culture media. I also performed the proliferation assay and carried out all the RNA extraction from cells. I conducted all of the statistical analysis for the lipid composition and cell proliferation studies. I was also involved in discussions with bioinformaticians related to the analysis of the gene expression data and was responsible for the pathway analysis, tabulation and interpretation of the data.

5.2. Introduction

As discussed in the previous Chapters, evidence from *in vitro* and experimental animal and vlinical studies pointing to the beneficial effects of n-3 LCPUFA on fat deposition and insulin sensitivity have led to suggestion that prenatal exposure to increased DHA could improve metabolic health of the child. The results from Chapter 2 suggested however that maternal supplementation of n-3 LCPUFA from the second half of pregnancy was actually associated with reduced insulin sensitivity in children at 5 years of age. However, the underlying mechanism of how the nutritional environment *in utero* can impact on metabolic health later in life is unclear. While increasing evidence has suggested that epigenetic modifications play an important role in metabolic programming, the results from Chapter 3 and 4 of this thesis provide limited evidence to support a significant role of the epigenetic effects in mediating the effects of prenatal n-3 LCPUFA exposure on infant and child outcomes.

As the only organ connecting the mother and fetus, the placenta is the single most important organ for fetal development and ensures that essential nutrients are transferred to the fetus from the maternal circulation⁴⁶. Moreover, the placenta also produces hormones involved in regulating fetal metabolism and growth^{46,168}. Since the placenta has a crucial role in fetal development, changes or defects in placental structure and/or function have a significant impact on fetal development, and, consequently, the potential to influence long term health outcomes⁴⁶. Previous studies have demonstrated that the placenta acts as an important mediator of the effect of a number of maternal nutritional perturbations (e.g. under-nutrition) during pregnancy on the development of the fetus, and therefore plays a critical role in developmental programming⁴⁵. Maternal factors affect the function of the placenta both in terms of nutrient transport and endocrinology and also placental structure, which alters both placental function and fetal vascular resistance^{45,46,178}. A study which examined the association between under-nutrition during pregnancy and placental development in the Dutch Winter Hunger Famine cohort also reported that increased placental weight was associated with the combination of famine exposure in early pregnancy and high food intake in mid-later pregnancy¹⁸¹. Changes in placental function may cause redistribution of fetal blood flow and changes in the regulation of gene expression, which both have the potential to alter the normal pattern of development and, therefore, to have long-term effects on offspring health⁴⁶.

Early placental development, including the establishment of placental vascularisation, plays a critical role in subsequent placental function¹⁹⁰. Recent studies have shown that n-3 LCPUFA treatment *in vitro* promoted angiogenesis during this period, which has the potential to enhance subsequent placental function by improving placental blood flow¹⁹⁰. Both human and animal studies have also suggested that maternal DHA supplementation during pregnancy can increase the concentrations of anti-inflammatory resolvins, protectins¹⁸⁸ and specialised pro-resolving lipid mediators in the placenta¹⁸⁹. While these previous studies suggest that n-3 LCPUFA during have effects on the placenta, there is still limited understanding of the specific impact of n-3 LCPUFA/DHA on placental structure and function and, therefore, whether the placenta could be a mediator of the programming effects of prenatal DHA exposure is unclear.

Therefore, the aim of this Chapter was to determine the impact of treatment with a DHA enriched fish oil emulsion on fatty acid composition, proliferation rate and gene expression profile in a human placenta first trimester cell line and to compare these effects with those resulting from treatment with a soy oil emulsion containing no n-3 LCPUFA.

5.3. Materials and Methods

5.3.1. Reagents

The human first trimester trophoblast cell line, HTR8/SVneo, was kindly provided by Professor Charles Graham (Queen's University, Kingston, Ontario)¹⁷¹. HTR8/SVneo cells used in this study were maintained in RPMI 1640 media (Sigma, St Louis MO, USA) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated fetal bovine serum (HI-FBS) and 2mM L-glutamine (Life Technologies, Grand Island NY, USA). Cells were incubated in a humidified atmosphere at 37°C in 20% O₂ and 5% CO₂.

5.3.2. Fatty Acids Composition in Fish Oil (FO) and Soy Oil (SO) Emulsions

The fatty acid composition of the FO and SO emulsions is shown in Table 5.1. The FO emulsion contained predominantly DHA (81.3% of total fatty acids) and small quantities of other polyunsaturated and monounsaturated fatty acids. In contrast, the SO emulsion predominantly consisted of the n-6 PUFA linoleic acid (LA, 18:2n-6, 47%) and oleic acid (18:1n-9, 30.8%). Importantly, there was no overlap in the fatty acid compositions of the FO and SO emulsions. Both emulsions were kindly donated by Nu Mega Ingredients Pty Ltd (Altona North, VIC, Australia).

Fatty Acid	SO Fatty Acids (%) ¹	FO Fatty Acids (%) ²					
16:0	12.5	ND ³					
18:0	3.6	ND					
18:1n-9	30.8	ND					
18:1n-7	1.6	ND					
18:2n-6	47.0	ND					
18:3n-3	4.6	ND					
20:5n-3	ND	5.6					
22:5n-6	ND	6.3					
24:1	ND	2.3					
22:5n-3	ND	4.4					
22:6n-3	ND	81.3					
 ¹ Fatty acid (%) is present as % of total fatty acids in SO. ² Fatty acid (%) is present as % of total fatty acids in FO. ³ ND: not detected. 							

Table 5.1: Fatty acids composition of SO and FO

5.3.3. Measurement of DHA Accumulation in HTR8/SVneo Cells

DHA accumulation was measured by plating 4×10^5 HTR8/SVneo cells per well in a 6-well plate in RPMI 1640 media supplemented with 0.5% HI-FBS and 2nM L-glutamine (serum reduced media, SRM) at 37°C, 20% O₂ and 5% CO₂ for 72 hours. The cells were then treated with 2mL SRM (no treatment), 2mL SRM containing 100µM FO emulsion or 2mL SRM containing 100µM SO emulsion for 16 hours. At 0, 3, 6, and 16 hours after treatment, cells and media from each treatment were collected for fatty acid analysis. Three replicate experiments were performed on 3 separate occasions for each treatment and time point.

The fatty acid composition of the cells and media was determined as previously described, following the same procedures as in Chapter 2²⁶⁹. Briefly, total lipids were extracted from cells and media with a chloroform/isopropanol (2:1, v/v) solvent system. The total lipids were methylated in 1% H₂SO₄ in methanol at 70°C for 3 h. After cooling, the resulting fatty acid methyl esters (FAME) were extracted into n-heptane and transferred into vials containing anhydrous Na₂SO₄ as the dehydrating agent. Butylated hydroxyanisole (0.005%, w/v) was added to all organic solvents except n-heptane to prevent fatty acid oxidation. FAMEs were separated and quantified using a Hewlett-Packard 6890 gas chromatograph (Hewlett Packard, CA, USA) equipped with a 50m capillary column (0.32mm ID) coated with BPX-70 (0.25µm film thickness, SGE Pty Ltd, Ringwood, Victoria Australia). The injector temperature was set at 250°C and the detector (flame ionization) temperature at 300°C. The initial oven temperature was 140°C and was programmed to rise to 220°C at 5°C/min. Helium was used as the carrier gas at a velocity of 35cm/s.

FAMEs were identified based on the retention time in comparison to that of authentic lipid standards obtained from Nu-Chek Prep, Inc. (Elysian, MN USA).

5.3.4. Cell Proliferation

To assess cell proliferation, $2x10^4$ HTR8/SVneo cells per well were plated in a 96well plate in SRM and incubated for 2 hours at 37°C, 20% oxygen and 5% CO₂. Cells were then treated with 200µL SRM, or 200µL SRM containing 50µM or 100µM FO, or 200µL SRM containing 50µM or 100µM SO. The plates were incubated for 16, 24 or 48 hours at 37°C, 20% O₂ and 5% CO₂. Cell viability was determined using the Calcein AM cell viability assay (Trengen, Gaithersburg, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Six replicates from each treatment group and time point were tested in 3 independent experiments. The proliferation rate was calculated by dividing the average number of cells present in each treatment group by the average number of cells in the no treatment group at the same time point, and results expressed as a percentage (%) of the proliferation in the no treatment group.

5.3.5. Gene Expression Analysis

200,000 HTR8/SVneo cells per well were seeded in SRM in a 6-well plate and incubated for 24 hours at 37°C in 20% O₂ and 5% CO₂. After 24 hours, 2mL of either SRM, SRM containing 50µM FO, or SRM containing 50µM SO were added. Each treatment consisted of 4 replicates. After 24 hours, 1mL TRIzol Reagent (Ambion, Victoria, Australia) was added to the wells. Total RNA was isolated from cells using TRIzol Reagent and purified using the Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit (Hilden, Germany) according to the protocol provided by the manufacturer. The quality and concentration of the RNA was determined by measuring the absorbance at 260 and 280nm (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE) and RNA integrity was quantified using an Agilent Bioanalyser to ensure all samples had RQI (RNA Quality Indicator) >7. RNA samples were hybridized to Illumina Human HT-12 v4 microarrays at the Adelaide Microarray Centre, Australia.

5.3.6. Microarray Data Analysis

The Illumina HT-12 v4 bead array data were pre-processed, quantile normalized and log_2 transformed using the *beadarray* package²⁷⁰. Data quality was assessed by inspecting distance between arrays, array intensity distributions and MA-plots using the *ArrayQualityMetrics* package²⁷¹, with no outliers detected. All probes (47,318) were re-annotated using the *AnnotationDBI* package (IlluminaHumanv4.db), which includes mapping-based probe quality information²⁷². Based on these annotations, data for probes with "no match" or classed as "bad" were removed from the dataset. Testing for differential expression between groups was performed using linear models and Empirical Bayes methods²⁷³, with multiple testing corrected by calculating Benjamini and Hochberg FDR adjusted p-values as implemented in the *Limma* package²⁷⁴. Genes with FDR corrected p-values <0.01 and a fold-change <0.75 or >1.5 were considered to be differentially expressed between groups. All data processing and analyses were performed in the R environment, version 3.0.1.

5.3.7. Statistical Analysis of Lipid Composition and Cell Proliferation

Differences in the fatty acid composition of the cells and media following FO or SO treatment were assessed using a Student's unpaired *t*-test. The effect of FO and SO treatment on cell proliferation was assessed using a one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). Where the one-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect, the Duncan's multiple range test was used post-hoc to identify significant differences between groups. P<0.05 was considered significant in all analyses. IBM SPSS Statistics 19 version for Windows (SPSS Inc., USA) was used for the statistical analyses.

5.4. **Results**

5.4.1. Effect of FO And SO Treatment on the Fatty Acid Composition of HTR8/Svneo Cells

After 16 hours, cells treated with fish oil (FO) exhibited a significant increase in DHA content (from 0.96% to 24.57% of total fatty acids) and total n-3 content (from 1.63 to 27.61% of total fatty acids) (Table 5.2). Accordingly, the levels of DHA and n-3 LCPUFA in the media as a percentage of total fatty acids decreased significantly across the same time period (Table 5.2). In the SO treated cells, LA content increased from 2.61% to 25.06% of total fatty acids and total n-6 PUFA content increased from 6.57% to 31.58% of total fatty acids following 16 hours of incubation, while the levels of the respective fatty acids in the media significantly decreased over the same time period (LA from 38.72% to 36.45% and total n-6 PUFAs from 39.12% to 36.93% of total fatty acids) (Table 5.2). There was also a small but significant decrease in the DHA content of SO treated cells (Table 5.2). There was no significant change in the fatty acid composition of either the cells or the media after the 16 hour incubation period in the no treatment group (Table 5.2).

	Medium						Cells							
	No Treatment		SO		FO		No Treatment		SO		FO			
	0 h	16 h 0 h 16 h		0 h	16 h	0 h	16 h	0 h	16 h	0 h	16 h			
Total Saturates	98.94	98.87	24.52	24.28	54.73	58.82*	55.17	54.18	49.91	26.64*	55.17	42.96*		
Total Trans	0.01	0.01	1.07	1.05	ND	ND	1.18	1.21	3.24	2.01	1.18	0.53		
Total Monos	0.81	0.92	27.19	27.58	3.54	3.61	38.04	39.26	34.04	29.22*	38.04	23.58*		
Total Omega 9	0.62	0.65	24.74	24.71	1.64	1.78	28.24	29.25	22.16	22.75	28.24	16.74		
Total Omega 3	0.09	0.09	0.05	0.04	37.21	32.54*	1.63	1.34	2.67	4.34*	1.63	27.61*		
20:5n-3	ND	ND	ND	ND	2.12	1.93*	0.81	ND	ND	0.47*	0.21	0.99*		
22:5n-3	ND	ND	0.03	0.03	1.83	1.55*	0.41	0.42	0.77	0.91	0.41	2.06*		
22:6n-3	0.09	ND	0.18	0.18	33.13	28.97*	0.96	0.92	1.91	0.75*	0.96	24.57*		
Total Omega 6	0.16	0.15	39.12	36.93*	4.53	4.66	2.44	2.37	6.57	31.58*	2.44	4.61*		
20:4n-6	0.16	0.15	0.24	0.36	0.66	0.63	1.31	1.22	2.31	2.53	1.31	1.07*		
18:2n-6	ND	ND	38.72	36.45*	0.38	0.33	0.76	0.55	2.61	25.06*	0.76	0.77		

Table 5.2: Percentage of different fatty acids in medium and HTR8/SVneo at 0 and 16 hours after treatment

*: Values at 16 hours were significantly different compared with values at 0 hours (p < 0.05) as determined by student *t*-test. Data are mean of n=3 per group.

ND: Not detected

5.4.2. Effect of FO and SO on Cell Proliferation

FO treatment at either 50 or 100 μ M significantly (*p*<0.05) increased the proliferation rate compared with no treatment at all time-points (Figure 5.1). The 50 μ M SO treatment also significantly increased the proliferation at 16 and 48 hours; but not at 24 hours (Figure 5.1a). The proliferation rate of cells treated with 50 μ M FO was significantly greater than those cells treated with 50 μ M SO at 16 and 48 hours. Cells treated with 100 μ M FO had a significantly higher proliferation rate than those treated with 100 μ M SO at 16 and 24 hours after treatment (Figure 5.1b).

a HTR8/SVneo proliferation with 50µM treatment



b HTR8/SVneo proliferation with 100µM Treatment



Figure 5.1: Effect of SO and FO treatment at 50μ M (a) and 100μ M (b) on cell proliferation following 16, 24 and 48 hours. Cell proliferation was measured using the Calcein-AM assay. Proliferation is expressed as a % increase which it is the % of increase compared with no treatment. Data represents mean ±SEM of 18 replicates. Values with different superscripts are significantly different from each other as determined by one-way ANOVA with Duncan post hoc multiple comparison test, *p*-value<0.05.

5.4.3. Genes Differentially Expressed between FO and No Treatment Groups

There were 139 array probes showing significant (p<0.01) differential expression between the FO and no treatment group (67 down-regulated, 72 up-regulated) (Figure 5.2). Pathway and network analyses generated by Ingenuity Pathways Analysis (IPA) software indicated that the 139 genes were clustered in development and function of the haematological system, tissue morphology and cell viability, cell signalling and development, lipid metabolism, cardiovascular and dermatological disease and related conditions (Table 5.3). The most significantly up-regulated genes were GAR1 (Fold Change, FC: 3.88, p=0.0029), MAGEB3 (FC: 3.86, p=0.0081) and CAST (FC: 3.21, p=0.004) (Table 5.4). GAR1 is a member of the small nucleolar ribonucleoproteins gene family involved in rRNA processing and modification²⁷⁵. MAGEB3 (melanoma antigen family B3) belongs to a gene family coding for proteins which direct the expression of tumor antigens associated with human melanomas²⁷⁶. CAST (calpastatin) is an endogenous calpain (calcium-dependent cysteine protease) inhibitor which is involved in muscle protein degradation²⁷⁷. None of these three genes have previously been reported to be associated with preterm delivery, placental function or in relation to n-3 LCPUFA. The top 3 down-regulated genes were ANGPTL4 (FC: 0.05, p=0.00000125), MGLL (FC: 0.23, p=0.0094) and SAMD4A (FC: 0.37, p=0.0042). ANGPTL4 (angiopoietin-like 4) encodes a protein which functions as a serum hormone that regulates glucose homeostasis, lipid metabolism, and insulin sensitivity²⁷⁸⁻²⁸⁰, and also plays a role in cellular growth and proliferation, tissue development and placental angiogenesis^{190,279}. MGLL (monoglyceride lipase) encodes a serine hydrolase that catalyses the conversion of monacylglycerides to free fatty acids and glycerol²⁸¹, while SAMD4A (sterile alpha motif domain containing 4A) is a post-transcriptional regulator which binds to a RNA sequence motif known as the Smaug recognition element²⁸².



Figure 5.2: Volcano plots representing gene expression differences in HTR8/SVneo cells treated with FO emulsion (A) and SO emulsion (B) compared to no treatment. Aqua coloured dots represent array probes showing a significant difference (FDR corrected p-values<0.01) between FO/SO treatment and no treatment (expressed as control in the figure).

	No treatment vs SO	No treatment vs FO					
	Networks	Score	Networks	Score			
1	Lipid metabolism, small molecule biochemistry, vitamin and mineral metabolism	45	Haematological system development and function, tissue morphology, cell death and survival	54			
2	Cell-to-cell signalling and interaction, cellular growth and proliferation, endocrine system development and function	36	Cell signalling, vitamin and mineral metabolism, cellular development	43			
3	Embryonic development, organ development, organismal development	15	Cardiovascular disease, congenital heart anomaly, developmental disorder	29			
4	Cellular development, cellular growth and proliferation, cell-to- cell signalling and interaction	2	Dermatological diseases and conditions, development disorder, hereditary disorder	26			
5			Lipid metabolism, small molecule biochemistry, cell- to-cell signalling and interaction	24			

Table 5.3: Function networks modulated in HTR8 cells by SO or FO treatment as assessed by IPA

	SO							FO						
	Up			Down			Up			Down				
	Gene	FC	Adjusted p	Gene	FC	Adjusted <i>p</i>	Gene	FC	Adjusted <i>p</i>	Gene	FC	Adjusted <i>p</i>		
1	STON1	4.422374	0.00482	ANGPTL4	0.013062	2.49E-08	GAR1	3.876	0.002874	ANGPTL4	0.050	0.00000125		
2	SREBF1	2.656846	0.00000126	F3	0.369185	0.00041	MAGEB3	3.855	0.008081	MGLL	0.230	0.009387		
3	ASNS	2.559882	0.0000103	TOP	0.398636	0.009518	CAST	3.209	0.003972	SAMD4A	0.37	0.004214		
4	MYLIP	2.44855	0.0000233	SAMD4A	0.402265	0.009048	TMPO	2.903	0.009402	F3	0.408	0.000924		
5	ASNS	2.394055	0.00134	MARCH4	0.504606	0.00757	DSG2	2.813	0.00718	SH2D5	0.443	0.007772		
6	CDH24	2.29877	0.007126	CDH5	0.52209	0.005053	COL4A3BP	2.533	0.004276	DDAH1	0.472	0.007026		
7	FADS2	2.274653	0.008399	KCNH1	0.556398	0.004444	ZNF641	2.527	0.006734	KCNH1	0.483	0.001387		
8	SALL4	1.95072	0.009518	PLIN2	0.587875	0.001379	DHRS3	2.292	0.00065	SERPINE1	0.498	0.004606		
9	KIAA0367	1.88457	0.006697	MCL1	0.598611	0.003178	FBXW7	2.288	0.008223	MARCH4	0.515	0.005637		
10	MFAP4	1.838203	0.009518	JUN	0.611565	0.00282	ASNS	2.282	3.95E-05	FOSL1	0.517	0.0084		

 Table 5.4: Top 10 up- and down- regulated genes in SO and FO groups compared with no treatment groups

5.4.4. Genes Differentially Expressed between SO and No Treatment Groups

There were 60 array probes (31 down-regulated, 29 up-regulated) which were differentially expressed between the SO and no treatment groups (Figure 5.2). The majority of these 60 probes corresponded to genes involved in lipid, vitamin and mineral metabolism, cell signalling, cell growth and endocrine development and embryonic/organ development as determined by Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (Table 5.3). The top 3 up-regulated genes in SO were: STON1 (FC: 4.42, p=0.0048), SREBF1 (FC: 2.66, p=0.000001) and ASNS (FC: 2.56 p=0.00001). STON1 (stonin1) is involved in intracellular protein transport and endocytosis²⁸³. SREBF1 (sterol regulatory element binding transcription factor) encodes a transcription factor which regulates the expression of a number of genes involved in lipid biosynthesis ^{284,285} and ASNS (asparagine synthetase) is involved in the synthesis of the amino acid asparagine ²⁸⁶. The top 3 down-regulated genes were ANGPTL4 (FC: 0.013, $p=2.5\times10^{-8}$), F3 (FC: 0.37, p=0.0004) and TOP (FC: 0.40, p=0.009518). F3 codes for a coagulation factor which is a cell surface glycoprotein²⁸⁷. ANGPTL4 has been shown to be involved in placental angiogenesis and TOP contributes to the regulation of placental trophoblast differentiation and placental fatty acid uptake¹⁷⁰.

5.4.5. Genes Differentially Expressed between FO and SO Groups

There were only four genes (*ANGPTL4*, *DHRS3*, *NFAT5* and *PPFIBP1*) which were differentially expressed between the FO and SO group, and all were expressed at a higher level in the FO compared to the SO group. As indicated above, *ANGPTL4* (FC: 3.84, p=0.0046) plays a role in placental angiogenesis. *DHRS3* (FC: 1.94, p=0.008), dehydrogenase/reductase member 3 catalyses the oxidation/reduction of a wide range of substrates including retinoids and steroids²⁸⁸. *NFAT5* (FC: 2.09, p=0.008), nuclear factor of activated T-cells 5, is vital in inducible gene transcription during the immune response²⁸⁹, and previous studies have shown that the expression of this gene is significantly up-regulated in preeclamptic compared to normal placentas²⁹⁰. *PPFIBP1* (FC: 1.77, p=0.008) is involved in cell adhesion²⁹¹, but there are no previous reports of this gene's involvement in placental function.

5.4.6. Genes Differentially Expressed in both FO and SO Groups Compared to No Treatment

There were 37 differentially expressed genes common to both of FO and SO groups in comparison to the no treatment group (Figure 5.3). The IPA results indicate that these 37 genes are involved in three main networks: 1) Cellular growth and proliferation, connective tissue development and function and hematopoiesis; 2) Cardiovascular system development and function, organ morphology, cellular growth and proliferation; and, 3) Lipid metabolism and molecular transport. The most represented pathways were cellular growth and proliferation and lipid metabolism. The direction of the change in expression relative to the no treatment group was the same for the FO and SO groups for the majority of genes. However, 3 genes (*INSIG1*, *MYLIP* and *SREBF1*) were down-regulated in FO compared with no treatment but up-regulated in SO compared with no treatment.


Figure 5.3: Euler diagram representing overlap of probes differentially expressed (FDR p-value <0.01) between the different treatment groups.

5.4.7. Genes Differentially Expressed in the FO Compared with No Treatment Group

There were 96 genes differentially expressed in the FO compared with no treatment group and unique to this treatment. According to the results from IPA, these 96 genes are clustered in pathways involved in 1) cardiovascular system development and function, cancer and gastrointestinal disease; 2) cancer, cell cycle, cell-to-cell signalling and interaction; 3) cellular development, nervous system development and function, connective tissue disorders; and, 4) neurological disease, ophthalmic disease, cardiovascular disease.

5.5. Discussion

The results of this study have demonstrated that fish-oil treatment increases the proliferation rate of a first trimester trophoblast cell line *in vitro* and is more effective in doing so than the same dose of SO. Both FO and SO treatment also induced significant alterations in gene expression of this trophoblast cell line after 24 hours of incubation in both overlapping and unique pathways, and I have identified novel candidate genes with a role in placental development that may be targets of DHA's effects on placental development *in vivo*.

5.5.1. FO and SO both Increase Proliferation of HTR8/Svneo Cells

The finding that the proliferation of *HTR8/SVneo* cells was significantly increased by both FO and SO treatment is consistent with previous studies in which *HTR8/SVneo* cells were treated with pure DHA or AA^{190,292}. The analysis of gene expression identified 37 genes that were differentially expressed in both the FO and SO groups compared to controls. Importantly, the majority of these genes were involved in cellular growth and proliferation and were up-regulated in both the FO and SO groups. These common gene expression changes induced by both FO and SO treatment are consistent with the increased cell proliferation induced by both of these treatments. Since there appeared to be no overlap in the principal fatty acids present in the FO and SO treatments, these results suggest that an increase in the availability of fatty acids (or possibly energy), independent of the specific fatty acid involved, can affect placental cell proliferation at the gene expression level.

While both FO and SO promoted cell proliferation in *HTR8/SVneo* cells, FO had a more pronounced effect. This is consistent with previous studies in which n-3 LCPUFA increased HTR8/SVneo proliferation to a greater extent than a number of other fatty acids, including n-6 PUFA¹⁹⁰. Thus, it appears that FO acts via additional pathways to those induced by SO, in promoting cell proliferation. In comparison to SO, FO treatment was associated with a significantly greater increase in the expression of 3 genes known to be involved in placental development, specifically *ANGTPL4*, *NFAT5* and *PPFIBP1*^{288,289,291}. These genes have previously been implicated in the stimulation of placental angiogenesis and inhibition of cellular apoptosis. Hence, the greater capacity of FO to increase cell proliferation might be due to regulation of this unique set of genes compared with SO treatment.

5.5.2. The Effect of FO Treatment on Gene Expression in HTR8/Svneo Cells

The majority of genes influenced by FO treatment involved genes in pathways related to cardiovascular system function and development. This finding is consistent with the established role of n-3 LCPUFA in regulating processes important for cardiovascular function and disease progression, including platelet aggregation and angiogenesis in adults^{15,111}. It is also in line with more recent studies demonstrating that n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during the perinatal period prevented the agerelated increase in carotid intima-media thickness in individuals of low birth weight²⁹³. In addition, other studies have reported that maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation has favourable effects on cardiovascular function in their infants, in particular increasing heart rate variability^{294,295}. Importantly, many of the processes that are involved in cardiovascular development and function are also important for early placental development, in particular angiogenesis. Contrary to our expectations, given the significant literature reporting anti-inflammatory actions of n-3 LCPUFA¹¹¹, FO treatment appeared to have limited effects on the expression of genes involved in immune and inflammatory pathways in this first trimester trophoblast cell line. It is possible, however, that FO treatment has different effects on the first-trimester placenta compared to later in gestation, and it will be important to address this in future studies.

Interestingly, the 4 genes that were differentially expressed between the FO and SO groups were involved in angiogenesis, apoptosis and placental function, and all of these genes were expressed more highly in the FO compared to SO group. *DHRS3* is known to promote local availability of retinoic acid²⁸⁸, a factor which plays an important role in embryogenesis and maintenance of pregnancy²⁹⁶⁻²⁹⁸. It has been

shown that inflammation results in almost complete suppression of hepatic *DHRS3* expression in adult rats²⁹⁹. Together with the higher expression of the angiogenic factor, *ANGPTL4*, this suggests that FO treatment would have a more favourable effect on placental development, especially in relation to vascularisation, in comparison with SO. The expression of *PPFIBP1* has previously been reported to be suppressed by *VEGF* treatment during angiogenesis in human microvascular endothelial cells, human umbilical vein endothelial cells and telomerase-immortalised microvascular endothelial cells³⁰⁰. Thus, the finding of higher *PPFIBP1* expression following DHA treatment is somewhat at odds with the results of a previous study by Johnsen and colleagues, in which *VEGF* expression was increased by DHA treatment of HTR8/SVneo cells¹⁹⁰. Further studies are required to fully characterise the role of *PPFIBP1* in placental function.

The expression of *NFAT5*, a protein involved in immune function, myogenesis and cancer invasion, was also higher in the FO compared to the SO group. Although no previous studies have explored the role of *NFAT5* in the proliferation of trophoblast cells, it has been reported that homozygous *NFAT5* null mouse embryos fail to develop normally and die after 14.5 days of embryonic development due to abnormal cardiac differentiation of stem cells³⁰¹. In addition, other members of the *NFAT* family have been reported to be involved in promoting carcinoma invasion ³⁰². While this raises the possibility that *NFAT5* may play a role in the regulation of cell proliferation and invasion, more studies are needed to fully characterise the role of *NFAT5* in trophoblast cells in which these two processes feature.

5.5.3. SO vs No Treatment

The genes that were uniquely differentially regulated by SO compared to the no treatment group were involved in lipid, vitamin and mineral metabolism; pathways which were not identified in the FO vs no treatment comparison. This suggests that SO, i.e. n-6 PUFA, treatment, activates a separate set of pathways to those induced by FO treatment. In particular, the individual genes that were most affected by the SO treatment included genes involved in intracellular protein transport, amino acid and lipid biosynthesis. These results are consistent with previous data suggesting that n-6 PUFA promote lipid deposition and expression of lipogenic genes, including *SREBP1*^{284,285}, but to the best of my knowledge no previous studies have reported the effect of n-6 PUFA on the other genes identified in this study.

5.5.4. Limitations

The cell line used in the this experiment was derived from human first trimester trophoblast cells and it is possible that the effects of fatty acids on this cell line differ from those on placental cells *in vivo*, or later in gestation. Therefore, it will be important in future studies to determine whether n-3 LCPUFA/n-6 PUFA have different effects on more mature placental cells. In addition, conducting studies in placental explants derived from human placentas at different stages of gestation will be important to confirm that the results of the present study can be replicated in primary cell cultures.

5.5.5. Conclusion

This Chapter has clearly demonstrated that FO has an effect on both the growth rate and gene expression profile of human first trimester trophoblast cells *in vitro* which are consistent with enhanced proliferation and vascularisation of placental cells in early pregnancy, both of which could contribute to improved placental function later in gestation. The results from this Chapter have also have shown that both FO and SO treatment alters expression of a large number of genes which have not previously been shown to be related to placental function and/or fatty acids. While further studies are clearly required, this study provides evidence supporting the ability of n-3 LCPUFA to modulate placental structure and function, and suggest that the effects of DHA on fetal developmental could be mediated, at least in part, by effects on the placenta.

CHAPTER 6: GENERAL DISCUSSION

The current epidemic of obesity and type 2 diabetes is a major health issue worldwide; and the incidence of these diseases continues to increase¹. Treating obesity and type 2 diabetes is difficult and costly, and once the conditions develop they are difficult to reverse^{8,50,52,113}. Therefore, there has been growing interest in identifying strategies that can be applied early in life which can lower the risk of an individual developing these diseases in order to reduce the population burden of poor metabolic health. Epidemiological, clinical and experimental animal studies suggest that besides genetic factors, environmental exposures early in life are important determinants of the susceptibility of individuals to a range of diseases, including obesity and type 2 diabetes, later in life^{2,8,50}. The effects of these early life exposures persist through the life course, and this phenomenon is therefore termed the "developmental origins of health and disease",4,5,72,74,77,79. The nutritional environment an individual experiences before birth and in early infancy is particularly vital for appropriate development and health through the life course, and exposure to an inappropriate nutrient supply is associated with an increased susceptibility to disease later in life^{4,5,72,74,77,79}. While the mechanisms underlying this are not completely understood, an increasing number of studies have implicated modifications to the epigenome as playing a central role^{215,303}. However, most of this evidence has come from animal studies, and there was limited direct evidence for an effect of nutritional exposures in utero on the epigenome of human infants and children.

In addition to global over/under-nutrition, there is growing evidence that exposure to altered levels of specific macro or micronutrients can also have programming

effect^{215,303}. A number of recent studies have focussed on the effects of prenatal exposure to an increased supply of the n-3 LCPUFAs, DHA and EPA, on the fetus and child. These fatty acids, in particular DHA, are known to play a critical role in the development of the brain and nervous system¹⁴. More recently, however, there has been increasing interest in their metabolic effects, with some studies suggesting that maternal DHA supplementation may reduce the risk of metabolic conditions such as obesity and type 2 diabetes in the child¹⁶. However, there was a lack of consistent evidence from human studies to confirm if increasing the supply of n-3 LCPUFAs during early development could improve the metabolic health of the neonate after birth. Furthermore, whilst there was some prior evidence to suggest that maternal DHA supplementation could alter methylation in a small number of candidate genes, no previous studies had investigated the impact of prenatal DHA exposure on methylation status across the genome in human neonates or children. This thesis therefore aimed to investigate the effect of maternal DHA supplementation during pregnancy on insulin sensitivity in the child. Furthermore, I also aimed to determine the effects of increased prenatal DHA exposure on global methylation and methylation level in specific regions in blood sample collected from the children at birth and later in childhood. In addition to the epigenetic effects of prenatal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation in the children, the effects of increased exposure to n-3 LCPUFA on the placenta were also investigated in vitro, because those studies in animal models have suggested that much of developmental programming is likely to be mediated by effects on the placenta^{38,39}.

The first experimental Chapter of this thesis aimed to determine the effect of maternal DHA supplementation on insulin sensitivity and body composition of the

child at 5 years of age. The results of this Chapter indicated that maternal supplementation with high-dose DHA from 20 gestational weeks until delivery did not alter body composition, but was associated with decreased insulin sensitivity in the children. This was different to our hypothesis, based on previous evidence from studies in animal models and human adults that increased prenatal DHA would improve insulin sensitivity in the child. This suggests that prenatal exposure to increased n-3 LCPUFA has very different effects on the developing fetus than it does in adult humans. It is also important to note that previous studies have not produced consistent results about the effects of n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity, and have been limited by small sample sizes and samples not representative of the general population.

The results from Chapter 2 provided the first evidence that increased exposure to DHA during development could have long-term effect on insulin sensitivity in childhood from a large and robustly-designed randomised controlled trial. The results obtained in Chapter 2 also suggested that maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy had sex-specific effects on insulin sensitivity in children; when the data from children at 5 years of age were analysed separately by sex, HOMA-IR, fasting plasma glucose and insulin level were higher in DHA group compared to control group only in males but not females. This supports previous evidence which has shown that males are more susceptible to the effect of a range of early life nutritional exposures on insulin and glucose homeostasis^{79,208}. Although the mechanism underlying the greater susceptibility of males to the effects of prenatal exposure on subsequent insulin sensitivity is unclear, it may be due in part to sex differences in body composition, glucose and insulin action, energy balance and

hormones environment, which are well described. Males and females have different adipose tissue distribution, and males typically have more visceral and hepatic adipose tissue that is associated with increased insulin resistance^{209,210}. Moreover, the level of insulin-sensitising hormone, adiponectin, is higher in females compared to males which further contributes to an increased risk of insulin resistance/ type 2 diabetes in males compared to females. These differences might therefore contribute to the increased susceptibility to negative effects of prenatal DHA exposure on insulin sensitivity in males compared to females²⁰⁹. Overall, the results of this Chapter suggested that increased prenatal DHA has sex-specific effects on insulin sensitivity in the child and could potentially increase the susceptibility to developing type 2 diabetes in males.

While the results from Chapter 2 suggested that increased exposure of n-3 LCPUFAs during fetal development could have long-term effects on insulin sensitivity in children at childhood, it did not provide any insight into the mechanisms underlying this effect. While emerging evidence had suggested that epigenetic modifications, especially altered methylation, plays an important role in nutritional programming of metabolic diseases, few studies had been conducted in humans. Similarly, information as to the effect of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy on global and genome-wide specific methylation in the child was also limited. In Chapter 3 of this thesis, I found no effect of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on global methylation level of the children either at birth or at 5 years of age, either in the population overall or when data from males and females were analysed separately. This result is consistent with results of a previous double blinded randomised controlled trial which showed that 400mg daily supplementation

DHA from 18-22 gestational weeks until birth didn't change the global DNA methylation level in the cord blood³². Together, the results from both Chapter 3 and this previous study suggest that maternal DHA supplementation during the second half of pregnancy has no significant effect on children's global methylation level either at birth or later in childhood.

While I did not find any effects of maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on global methylation levels in the children both at birth and at 5 years of age, the relationships between global methylation and both percentage body fat mass percent and plasma glucose levels in the children at 5 years appeared to be altered by prenatal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation. This raised the possibility that maternal supplementation of n-3 LCPUFA from the second half of pregnancy might potentially affect DNA methylation in some specific genes/regions that are linked to fat deposition and insulin sensitivity, and that these changes persisted until 5 years of age. Hence, Chapter 4 investigated changes in DNA methylation in specific genes or regions caused by maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during the second half of pregnancy using a genome-wide methylation approach. While prenatal DHA supplementation was associated with small DNA methylation changes in specific genomic regions at birth and at 5 years of age, most of the genes and genomic regions which were identified as being differentially methylated were not reported previously to be related with fat deposition or insulin action. This result might suggest that increased prenatal exposure of n-3 LCPUFAs didn't alter DNA methylation level in genomic regions related to insulin and glucose homeostasis and fat deposition. However, biological pathways analysis revealed that most of DMRs between DHA treatment group and control group were clustered in metabolic, cellular, developmental and immune system processes, suggesting that DHA treatment during fetal development might alter DNA methylation to induce changes in these biological processes and might thereby indirectly influence insulin action.

While there was no DMRs which were identified at both birth and 5 years of age in the overall population; there were three interesting DMRs (*SLC6A18*, *chr15:93652578-93653310*, *and KIF19*) identified at both these time-points in males Together with the results of Chapter 2, indicating that males (but not females) in the DHA group had worse insulin sensitivity and higher fasting glucose levels than controls this raises an interesting question as to whether these three DMRs (*SLC6A18*, *chr15:93652578-93653310*, *and KIF19*) have a role in mediating the effects of prenatal DHA on insulin sensitivity after birth. However, no study has been done to investigate the association between DNA methylation level of these regions and metabolic health, and thus further studies are needed to answer the question. Moreover, there were more DMRs between two different treatment groups in males compared to females at both time points, which also provides additional data to suggest that males are more susceptible to the effects of prenatal DHA supplementation at an epigenetic level. This result further emphasises the importance of separating males and females in studies of developmental programming.

Another interesting result presented in Chapter 3 of this thesis was that there was a higher level of global DNA methylation level in children at 5 years of age compared to at birth, independent of treatment group or sex, suggesting increasing age, at least in the first few years of life, is associated with an increase in the global DNA methylation levels in blood. Interestingly, this finding was in contrast to the results of a number of previous studies, which have shown that aging is associated with a *decrease* in global DNA methylation^{224,225}. However, these previous studies have been conducted in adults and the majority didn't assess global DNA methylation in same individuals at different ages. Our study is the first to provide evidence that the global DNA methylation level increases with age across the first few years of life in humans. These results are consistent with the only other study to track global methylation in early life which also showed increased methylation between birth and 18 months of age. These results imply that methylation levels may increase across early postnatal life, before presumably reaching a maximal value and then declining across later adulthood. The reason for this is currently unclear, but may reflect continued development of the epigenome across the first few years of life.

The placenta is one of the most important organs during fetal development and previous studies had suggested an important role of the placenta in mediating the effect of maternal environment on the fetus. Chapter 5 aimed to investigate how n-3 LCPUFA treatment affected placental growth and gene expression, using an *in vitro* model. The results showed that n-3 LCPUFA increased the n-3 LCPUFAs content and stimulated proliferation in human first trimester trophoblast cells *in vitro* suggesting that DHA could potentially enhance placental growth and development in early pregnancy, and thereby improve placental function later in gestation. Moreover, the gene expression profile of human first trimester trophoblast cells was also affected by n-3 LCPUFA treatment. The majority of genes influenced by n-3 LCPUFA treatment involved genes in pathways related to cardiovascular system function and development which is consistent with the established role of n-3 LCPUFA in regulating processes important for cardiovascular function^{15,111}. The

results of Chapter 5 also indicated that n-3 LCPUFA treatment altered the expression of genes involved in inflammation (*DHRS3*, *NFAT5*) and angiogenesis (*ANGPTL4*) raising the possibility that n-3 LCPUFA could improve placental function by increasing vascularization and/or decreasing inflammatory pathways. The significant impact of n-3 LCPUFA treatment on the placenta in this Chapter supports the suggestion that the effects of DHA on the fetus could potentially be mediated at least in part, by the placenta. However, these studies were conducted in a first trimester placental cell line, and further studies are needed to investigate the effect of DHA/n-3 LCPUFA on the placenta later in gestation and to confirm whether these changes also occur *in vivo*.

6.1. Conclusion

To conclude, the studies reported in this thesis are the first to provide evidence about the effects of prenatal DHA supplementation on global and genome wide DNA methylation in the child, and to start to explore how this may contribute to the longterm effects of prenatal exposure of n-3 LCPUFA on later health outcomes in the offspring, particularly those related to metabolic health. It is the first study to demonstrate that maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during the second half of pregnancy can have negative effects on insulin sensitivity in childhood. N-3 LCPUFAs containing supplements, including fish oil and pregnancy supplements are now being consumed by up to 80% of pregnant women in Australia. Thus, further studies are needed to confirm the potential negative health effects of prenatal DHA supplementation on children.

It was also demonstrated that n-3 LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy didn't affect the global DNA methylation level in children either at birth or in early childhood, which might suggest that changes in global DNA methylation are not a useful biomarker for detecting effects of prenatal supplementation of n-3 LCPUFA. The studies in this thesis were unable to provide clear conclusions about how increased prenatal exposure to n-3 LCPUFA could affect children's insulin sensitivity and could find no strong evidence to support a significant role for epigenetic modifications in programming of offspring health outcomes. I did, however, identify three interesting genomic regions (*SLC6A18, chr15:93652578-93653310, and KIF19*) in which the methylation level was altered by n-3 LCPUFA supplementation at both birth and 5 years of age in male children, and determining the physiological function of these genes/regions will be an important direction for

further study. Moreover, we also demonstrated that males appear to be more susceptible to alteration of prenatal nutritional environment compared to females at an epigenetic level, adding to the growing body of evidence that programming effects are sex-specific.

6.2. Future Directions

There are a number of important questions raised from the results of this thesis and further studies are needed to answer them. First, this thesis reports the unexpected result that increased DHA exposure during late gestation appeared to be associated with decreased insulin sensitivity in children at 5 years of age. However, the observed changes were small, and the clinical relevance of the increased HOMA-IR in children in the DHA supplemented group is unclear. Moreover, the development of type 2 diabetes typically occurs later in life. Hence, it will be important to follow up these children at older ages to see if this small but significant difference in insulin sensitivity at 5 years translates into differences in the number of children who go on to develop type 2 diabetes or other metabolic problems later in life. In addition, other studies will be required to confirm this result and to determine the underlying mechanisms.

The DHA supplementation period in this study was from about 20 weeks of gestation until birth. Previous evidence has indicated that nutritional environment in the early stage of fetal development is more profound in inducing epigenetic changes and for programming of metabolic health outcomes than late gestation. Hence, it will be valuable in future to explore whether applying DHA supplementation earlier in gestation and/or before pregnancy would be associated with more profound epigenetic and phenotypic effects.

Finally, in relation to the potential effects of DHA on the placenta, the cell line used in Chapter 5 was a frozen immobilised first trimester human placental cell line, and therefore the results obtained are unlikely to reflect the effects of DHA treatment on the placenta from mid to late gestation. Therefore, future studies on human placental explants and/or *in vivo* systems will be important to more clearly define the effects of DNA treatment on the placenta in human pregnancy.

Overall, this thesis has made an important contribution to our understanding of how maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation impacts on the epigenome and future metabolic health of the offspring. While further studies are needed in this area, the findings in this thesis are vital to helping us understand the impact of a prenatal exposure to which a large proportion of infants are now exposed, i.e. maternal n-3 LCPUFA supplementation on the future health of children.

Bibliography:

1. James WPT, Rigby N, Leach R. Obesity and the metabolic syndrome - The stress on society. In: Chrousos GP, Tsigos C, eds. Stress, Obesity, and Metabolic Syndrome. Oxford: Blackwell Science Publ; 2006:1-10.

2. Symonds ME. Nutrition and its contribution to obesity and diabetes: a lifecourse approach to disease prevention? Proc Nutr Soc 2009;68:71-7.

3. Catalano PM, Kirwan JP. Maternal factors that determine neonatal size and body fat. Curr Diab Rep 2001;1:71-7.

4. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Cooper C, Thornburg KL. Effect of in utero and early-life conditions on adult health and disease. N Engl J Med 2008;359:61-73.

5. Godfrey KM, Barker DJ. Fetal programming and adult health. Public Health Nutr 2001;4:611-24.

6. McCance DR, Pettitt DJ, Hanson RL, Jacobsson LT, Knowler WC, Bennett PH. Birth weight and non-insulin dependent diabetes: thrifty genotype, thrifty phenotype, or surviving small baby genotype? BMJ 1994;308:942-5.

7. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA, Beedle AS, Raubenheimer D. Fetal and neonatal pathways to obesity. In: Obesity and Metabolism. Basel: Karger; 2008:61-72.

8. Mitchell GA. Genetics, physiology and perinatal influences in childhood obesity: view from the Chair. Int J Obes 2009;33:S41-S7.

9. Tobi EW, Goeman JJ, Monajemi R, et al. DNA methylation signatures link prenatal famine exposure to growth and metabolism. Nat Commun 2014;5:5592.

10. Lillycrop KA, Burdge GC. Epigenetic changes in early life and future risk of obesity. Int J Obes 2011;35:72-83.

11. Dominguez-Salas P, Moore SE, Baker MS, et al. Maternal nutrition at conception modulates DNA methylation of human metastable epialleles. Nat Commun 2014;5:3746.

12. Burdge GC, Lillycrop KA, Jackson AA. Nutrition in early life, and risk of cancer and metabolic disease: alternative endings in an epigenetic tale? Br J Nutr 2009;101:619-30.

13. Zhao JP, Levy E, Fraser WD, et al. Circulating docosahexaenoic acid levels are associated with fetal insulin sensitivity. PLoS One 2014;9:e85054.

14. Guesnet P, Alessandri JM. Docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and the developing central nervous system (CNS) - Implications for dietary recommendations. Biochimie 2011;93:7-12.

15. Mayer K, Seeger W. Fish oil in critical illness. Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care 2008;11:121-7.

16. Robinson LE, Buchholz AC, Mazurak VC. Inflammation, obesity, and fatty acid metabolism: influence of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids on factors contributing to metabolic syndrome. Applied physiology, nutrition, and metabolism = Physiologie appliquee, nutrition et metabolisme 2007;32:1008-24.

17. Lorente-Cebrian S, Costa AG, Navas-Carretero S, Zabala M, Martinez JA, Moreno-Aliaga MJ. Role of omega-3 fatty acids in obesity, metabolic syndrome, and cardiovascular diseases: a review of the evidence. Journal of physiology and biochemistry 2013;69:633-51.

18. Kim HK, Della-Fera M, Lin J, Baile CA. Docosahexaenoic acid inhibits adipocyte differentiation and induces apoptosis in 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. J Nutr 2006;136:2965-9.

19. Perez-Echarri N, Perez-Matute P, Marcos-Gomez B, Marti A, Martinez JA, Moreno-Aliaga MJ. Down-regulation in muscle and liver lipogenic genes: EPA ethyl ester treatment in lean and overweight (high-fat-fed) rats. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry 2009;20:705-14.

20. Flachs P, Horakova O, Brauner P, et al. Polyunsaturated fatty acids of marine origin upregulate mitochondrial biogenesis and induce beta-oxidation in white fat. Diabetologia 2005;48:2365-75.

21. Guo W, Xie W, Lei T, Hamilton JA. Eicosapentaenoic acid, but not oleic acid, stimulates beta-oxidation in adipocytes. Lipids 2005;40:815-21.

22. Micallef M, Munro I, Phang M, Garg M. Plasma n-3 Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids are negatively associated with obesity. Br J Nutr 2009;102:1370-4.

23. He K, Rimm EB, Merchant A, et al. Fish consumption and risk of stroke in men. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association 2002;288:3130-6.

24. Iso H, Rexrode KM, Stampfer MJ, et al. Intake of fish and omega-3 fatty acids and risk of stroke in women. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association 2001;285:304-12.

25. Hill AM, Buckley JD, Murphy KJ, Howe PR. Combining fish-oil supplements with regular aerobic exercise improves body composition and cardiovascular disease risk factors. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;85:1267-74.

26. Bergmann RL, Bergmann KE, Haschke-Becher E, et al. Does maternal docosahexaenoic acid supplementation during pregnancy and lactation lower BMI in late infancy? J Perinat Med 2007;35:295-300.

27. Asserhoj M, Nehammer S, Matthiessen J, Michaelsen KF, Lauritzen L. Maternal fish oil supplementation during lactation may adversely affect long-term

blood pressure, energy intake, and physical activity of 7-year-old boys. J Nutr 2009;139:298-304.

28. McMillen IC, Adam CL, Muhlhausler BS. Early origins of obesity: programming the appetite regulatory system. J Physiol-London 2005;565:9-17.

29. Helland IB, Smith L, Blomen B, Saarem K, Saugstad OD, Drevon CA. Effect of supplementing pregnant and lactating mothers with n-3 very-long-chain fatty acids on children's IQ and body mass index at 7 years of age. Pediatrics 2008;122:E472-E9.

30. Lauritzen L, Hoppe C, Straarup EM, Michaelsen KF. Maternal fish, oil supplementation in lactation and growth during the first 2.5 years of life. Pediatr Res 2005;58:235-42.

31. Muhlhausler BS, Miljkovic D, Fong L, Xian CJ, Duthoit E, Gibson RA. Maternal omega-3 supplementation increases fat mass in male and female rat offspring. Frontiers in genetics 2011;2:48.

32. Lee HS, Barraza-Villarreal A, Hernandez-Vargas H, et al. Modulation of DNA methylation states and infant immune system by dietary supplementation with omega-3 PUFA during pregnancy in an intervention study. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;98:480-7.

33. Burdge GC, Hanson MA, Slater-Jefferies JL, Lillycrop KA. Epigenetic regulation of transcription: a mechanism for inducing variations in phenotype (fetal programming) by differences in nutrition during early life? Br J Nutr 2007;97:1036-46.

34. Gluckman PD, Hanson MA. Developmental and epigenetic pathways to obesity: an evolutionary-developmental perspective. Int J Obes 2008;32:S62-S71.

35. Novik KL, Nimmrich I, Genc B, et al. Epigenomics: genome-wide study of methylation phenomena. Curr Issues Mol Biol 2002;4:111-28.

36. Rand KN, Molloy PL. Sensitive measurement of unmethylated repeat DNA sequences by end-specific PCR. BioTechniques 2010;49:xiii-xvii.

37. Jin B, Li Y, Robertson KD. DNA methylation: superior or subordinate in the epigenetic hierarchy? Genes Cancer 2011;2:607-17.

38. Laird PW. Principles and challenges of genomewide DNA methylation analysis. Nature reviews Genetics 2010;11:191-203.

39. Junien C. Impact of diets and nutrients/drugs on early epigenetic programming. J Inherit Metab Dis 2006;29:359-65.

40. Junien C, Gallou-Kabani C, Vige A, Gross MS. Nutritional epigenomics of metabolic syndrome. M S-Med Sci 2005;21:44-52.

41. Katari S, Turan N, Bibikova M, et al. DNA methylation and gene expression differences in children conceived in vitro or in vivo. Hum Mol Genet 2009;18:3769-78.

42. Motte E, Beauval B, Laurent M, et al. Programming nutritional and metabolic disorders: The diabetic environment during gestation. Arch Pediatr 2010;17:60-70.

43. Rowen L, Milner JA, Ross S. Obesity, Cancer and Epigenetics. Bariatr Nurs Surg Patient Care 2010;5:275-83.

44. Wadhwa PD, Buss C, Entringer S, Swanson JM. Developmental Origins of Health and Disease: Brief History of the Approach and Current Focus on Epigenetic Mechanisms. Semin Reprod Med 2009;27:358-68.

45. Godfrey KM. The role of the placenta in fetal programming-a review. Placenta 2002;23 Suppl A:S20-7.

46. Lewisa RM, Poorea KR, Godfrey KM. The role of the placenta in the developmental origins of health and disease—Implications for practice. Reviews in Gynaecological and Perinatal Practice 2006;6:70-9.

47. Poissonnet CM, LaVelle M, Burdi AR. Growth and development of adipose tissue. J Pediatr 1988;113:1-9.

48. ABS. Overweight and obesity in adults, Australia. In. Australia; 2008.

49. ABS. Australian health survey: First results. In. Australia; 2012.

50. Sassi F, Devaux M, Cecchini M, Rusticelli E. The obesity epidemic: analysis of past and projected future trends in selected OECD countries. OECD Health Working Papers 2009.

51. Hill JO. Understanding and addressing the epidemic of obesity: an energy balance perspective. Endocr Rev 2006;27:750-61.

52. Australia CSIRO, Preventative Health National Research F, Australia UoSA. 2007 Australian National Children's Nutrition and Physical Activity Survey - main findings; 2008.

53. Reinehr T, Wabitsch M. Childhood obesity. Curr Opin Lipidology 2011;22:21-5.

54. Jackman MR, MacLean PS, Bessesen DH. Energy expenditure in obesityprone and obesity-resistant rats before and after the introduction of a high-fat diet. Am J Physiol-Regul Integr Comp Physiol 2010;299:R1097-R105.

55. Bellinger L, Lilley C, Langley-Evans SC. Prenatal exposure to a maternal low-protein diet programmes a preference for high-fat foods in the young adult rat. Br J Nutr 2004;92:513-20.

56. Burdge GC, Hanson MA, Slater-Jefferies JL, Lillycrop KA. Epigenetic regulation of transcription: a mechanism for inducing variations in phenotype (fetal programming) by differences in nutrition during early life? Br J Nutr 2007;97:1036-46.

57. Lucas A, Baker BA, Desai M, Hales CN. Nutrition in pregnant or lactating rats programs lipid metabolism in the offspring. Br J Nutr 1996;76:605-12.

58. Chiu HK, Tsai EC, Juneja R, et al. Equivalent insulin resistance in latent autoimmune diabetes in adults (LADA) and type 2 diabetic patients. Diabetes research and clinical practice 2007;77:237-44.

59. Rottiers R. New classification and new diagnostic criteria of diabetes mellitus. Acta clinica Belgica 2003;58:269-76.

60. DeFronzo RA, Tobin JD, Andres R. Glucose clamp technique: a method for quantifying insulin secretion and resistance. Am J Physiol 1979;237:E214-23.

61. Muniyappa R, Lee S, Chen H, Quon MJ. Current approaches for assessing insulin sensitivity and resistance in vivo: advantages, limitations, and appropriate usage. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2008;294:E15-26.

62. Kumar V, Fausto N, Abbas AK, Cotran RS, Robbins SL. Robbins and Cotran Pathologic Basis of Disease. 7th ed. Philadelphia, Pa: Saunders Elsevier; 2005.

63. Shoback. Greenspan's Basic & Clinical Endocrinology. 9th ed. New York: McGraw-Hill Medical; 2011.

64. Definition and diagnosis of diabetes mellitus and intermediate hyperglycemia: report of a WHO/IDF consultation. 2006. (Accessed 28 August, 2014, at http://www.who.int/diabetes/publications/Definition%20and%20diagnosis%20of%2 0diabetes_new.pdf.)

65. Diabetes. 2013. (Accessed 28 August 2014, 2014, at http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs312/en/.)

66. Bramnert M, Segerlantz M, Laurila E, Daugaard JR, Manhem P, Groop L. Growth hormone replacement therapy induces insulin resistance by activating the glucose-fatty acid cycle. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003;88:1455-63.

67. Armitage JA, Khan IY, Taylor PD, Nathanielsz PW, Poston L. Developmental programming of the metabolic syndrome by maternal nutritional imbalance: how strong is the evidence from experimental models in mammals? J Physiol 2004;561:355-77.

68. Curhan GC, Chertow GM, Willett WC, et al. Birth weight and adult hypertension and obesity in women. Circulation 1996;94:1310-5.

69. Curhan GC, Willett WC, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, Ascherio AL, Stampfer MJ. Birth weight and adult hypertension, diabetes mellitus, and obesity in US men. Circulation 1996;94:3246-50.

70. Ong KK, Ahmed ML, Emmett PM, Preece MA, Dunger DB. Association between postnatal catch-up growth and obesity in childhood: prospective cohort study. BMJ 2000;320:967-71.

71. Rolland-Cachera MF, Deheeger M, Bellisle F, Sempe M, Guilloud-Bataille M, Patois E. Adiposity rebound in children: a simple indicator for predicting obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 1984;39:129-35.

72. Singhal A. Early nutrition and long-term cardiovascular health. Nutr Rev 2006;64:S44-9; discussion S72-91.

73. Singhal A, Cole TJ, Fewtrell M, Lucas A. Breastmilk feeding and lipoprotein profile in adolescents born preterm: follow-up of a prospective randomised study. Lancet 2004;363:1571-8.

74. Taylor PD, Poston L. Developmental programming of obesity in mammals. Exp Physiol 2007;92:287-98.

75. Waterland RA. Does nutrition during infancy and early childhood contribute to later obesity via metabolic imprinting of epigenetic gene regulatory mechanisms? In: Hernell O, Schmitz J, eds. Feeding During Late Infancy and Early Childhood: Impact on Health. Basel: Karger; 2005:157-74.

76. Hales CN, Barker DJ, Clark PM, et al. Fetal and infant growth and impaired glucose tolerance at age 64. BMJ 1991;303:1019-22.

77. Khan IY, Lakasing L, Poston L, Nicolaides KH. Fetal programming for adult disease: where next? J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2003;13:292-9.

78. James P. Marabou 2005: Nutrition and human development - Introduction. Nutr Rev 2006;64:S1-S11.

79. Remacle C, Bieswal F, Reusens B. Programming of obesity and cardiovascular disease. International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity 2004;28 Suppl 3:S46-53.

80. Ong KK. Size at birth, postnatal growth and risk of obesity. Horm Res 2006;65 Suppl 3:65-9.

81. Harder T, Bergmann R, Kallischnigg G, Plagemann A. Duration of breastfeeding and risk of overweight: a meta-analysis. Am J Epidemiol 2005;162:397-403.

82. Catalano PM, Ehrenberg HM. The short- and long-term implications of maternal obesity on the mother and her offspring. BJOG 2006;113:1126-33.

83. Dorner G, Plagemann A. Perinatal hyperinsulinism as possible predisposing factor for diabetes mellitus, obesity and enhanced cardiovascular risk in later life. Horm Metab Res 1994;26:213-21.

84. Langley-Evans SC, Phillips GJ, Jackson AA. In utero exposure to maternal low protein diets induces hypertension in weanling rats, independently of maternal blood pressure changes. Clin Nutr 1994;13:319-24.

85. Lucas A, Baker BA, Desai M, Hales CN. Nutrition in pregnant or lactating rats programs lipid metabolism in the offspring. Br J Nutr 1996;76:605-12.

86. Bellinger L, Lilley C, Langley-Evans SC. Prenatal exposure to a maternal low-protein diet programmes a preference for high-fat foods in the young adult rat. Br J Nutr 2004;92:513-20.

87. Bellinger L, Sculley DV, Langley-Evans SC. Exposure to undernutrition in fetal life determines fat distribution, locomotor activity and food intake in ageing rats. Int J Obes (Lond) 2006;30:729-38.

88. Burdge GC, Slater-Jefferies JL, Grant RA, et al. Sex, but not maternal protein or folic acid intake, determines the fatty acid composition of hepatic phospholipids, but not of triacylglycerol, in adult rats. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 2008;78:73-9.

89. Calder PC, Yaqoob P. The level of protein and type of fat in the diet of pregnant rats both affect lymphocyte function in the offspring. Nutr Res 2000;20:995-1005.

90. Torrens C, Brawley L, Anthony FW, et al. Folate supplementation during pregnancy improves offspring cardiovascular dysfunction induced by protein restriction. Hypertension 2006;47:982-7.

91. Gluckman PD, Lillycrop KA, Vickers MH, et al. Metabolic plasticity during mammalian development is directionally dependent on early nutritional status. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2007;104:12796-800.

92. Kind KL, Clifton PM, Katsman AI, Tsiounis M, Robinson JS, Owens JA. Restricted fetal growth and the response to dietary cholesterol in the guinea pig. Am J Physiol 1999;277:R1675-82.

93. Jones RH, Ozanne SE. Intra-uterine origins of type 2 diabetes. Archives of physiology and biochemistry 2007;113:25-9.

94. Fernandez-Twinn DS, Ozanne SE, Ekizoglou S, et al. The maternal endocrine environment in the low-protein model of intra-uterine growth restriction. Br J Nutr 2003;90:815-22.

95. Lillycrop KA, Phillips ES, Jackson AA, Hanson MA, Burdge GC. Dietary protein restriction of pregnant rats induces and folic acid supplementation prevents

epigenetic modification of hepatic gene expression in the offspring. J Nutr 2005;135:1382-6.

96. Lillycrop KA, Slater-Jefferies JL, Hanson MA, Godfrey KM, Jackson AA, Burdge GC. Induction of altered epigenetic regulation of the hepatic glucocorticoid receptor in the offspring of rats fed a protein-restricted diet during pregnancy suggests that reduced DNA methyltransferase-1 expression is involved in impaired DNA methylation and changes in histone modifications. Br J Nutr 2007;97:1064-73.

97. Bellinger L, Sculley DV, Langley-Evans SC. Exposure to undernutrition in fetal life determines fat distribution, locomotor activity and food intake in ageing rats. Int J Obes 2006;30:729-38.

98. Bertram C, Trowern AR, Copin N, Jackson AA, Whorwood CB. The maternal diet during pregnancy programs altered expression of the glucocorticoid receptor and type 2 11 beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase: Potential molecular mechanisms underlying the programming of hypertension in utero. Endocrinology 2001;142:2841-53.

99. Bogdarina I, Murphy HC, Burns SP, Clark AJL. Investigation of the role of epigenetic modification of the rat glucokinase gene in fetal programming. Life Sci 2004;74:1407-15.

100. Bogdarina I, Welham S, King PJ, Burns SP, Clark AJL. Epigenetic modification of the renin-angiotensin system in the fetal programming of hypertension. CircRes 2007;100:520-6.

101. Bruce KD, Cagampang FR, Argenton M, et al. Maternal high-fat feeding primes steatohepatitis in adult mice offspring, involving mitochondrial dysfunction and altered lipogenesis gene expression. Hepatology 2009;50:1796-808.

102. Burdge GC, Calder PC. Differences in maternal protein intake in pregnant rats alone alter the docosahexaenoic acid concentration in the fetal and adult offspring. Metabolism 2006;55:1429; author reply 30.

103. Burdge GC, Phillips ES, Dunn RL, Jackson AA, Lillycrop KA. Effect of reduced maternal protein consumption during pregnancy in the rat on plasma lipid concentrations and expression of peroxisomal proliferator-activated receptors in the liver and adipose tissue of the offspring. Nutr Res 2004;24:639-46.

104. Burdge GC, Slater-Jefferies JL, Grant RA, et al. Sex, but not maternal protein or folic acid intakes determines the fatty acid composition of hepatic phospholipids, but not of triacylglycerol, in adult rats. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 2008;78:73-9.

105. Godfrey KM, Sheppard A, Gluckman PD, et al. Epigenetic gene promoter methylation at birth is associated with child's later adiposity. Diabetes 2011;60:1528-34.

106. Maloney CA, Gosby AK, Phuyal JL, Denyer GS, Bryson JM, Caterson ID. Site-specific changes in the expression of fat-partitioning genes in weanling rats exposed to a low-protein diet in utero. Obes Res 2003;11:461-8.

107. Plagemann A, Harder T, Brunn M, et al. Hypothalamic proopiomelanocortin promoter methylation becomes altered by early overfeeding: an epigenetic model of obesity and the metabolic syndrome. J Physiol-London 2009;587:4963-76.

108. Heijmans BT, Tobi EW, Stein AD, et al. Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:17046-9.

109. NHMRC. Nutrient Reference Values for Australia and New Zealand. Australia: Commonweath of Australia; 2006.

110. Rangel-Huerta OD, Aguilera CM, Mesa MD, Gil A. Omega-3 long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acids supplementation on inflammatory biomakers: a systematic review of randomised clinical trials. Br J Nutr 2012;107 Suppl 2:S159-70.

111. Singer P, Shapiro H, Theilla M, Anbar R, Singer J, Cohen J. Antiinflammatory properties of omega-3 fatty acids in critical illness: novel mechanisms and an integrative perspective. Intensive care medicine 2008;34:1580-92.

112. Fish, fish oils, n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and cardiovascular health. 2008. (Accessed 23 06, 2014, at http://www.heartfoundation.org.au/healthy-eating/Pages/fish-oil-program.aspx.)

113. Kahn R. Metabolic syndrome--what is the clinical usefulness? Lancet 2008;371:1892-3.

114. Serhan CN, Arita M, Hong S, Gotlinger K. Resolvins, docosatrienes, and neuroprotectins, novel omega-3-derived mediators, and their endogenous aspirin-triggered epimers. Lipids 2004;39:1125-32.

115. Calder PC. n-3 fatty acids, inflammation and immunity: new mechanisms to explain old actions. The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 2013;72:326-36.

116. Calder PC. n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids, inflammation, and inflammatory diseases. Am J Clin Nutr 2006;83:1505S-19S.

117. Gillies PJ, Bhatia SK, Belcher LA, Hannon DB, Thompson JT, Vanden Heuvel JP. Regulation of inflammatory and lipid metabolism genes by eicosapentaenoic acid-rich oil. J Lipid Res 2012;53:1679-89.

118. Howell G, 3rd, Deng X, Yellaturu C, et al. N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids suppress insulin-induced SREBP-1c transcription via reduced trans-activating capacity of LXRalpha. Biochim Biophys Acta 2009;1791:1190-6.

119. Kunesova M, Braunerova R, Hlavaty P, et al. The influence of n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and very low calorie diet during a short-term weight

reducing regimen on weight loss and serum fatty acid composition in severely obese women. Physiological research / Academia Scientiarum Bohemoslovaca 2006;55:63-72.

120. Thorsdottir I, Tomasson H, Gunnarsdottir I, et al. Randomized trial of weight-loss-diets for young adults varying in fish and fish oil content. Int J Obes (Lond) 2007;31:1560-6.

121. Couet C, Delarue J, Ritz P, Antoine JM, Lamisse F. Effect of dietary fish oil on body fat mass and basal fat oxidation in healthy adults. International journal of obesity and related metabolic disorders : journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity 1997;21:637-43.

122. Kabir M, Skurnik G, Naour N, et al. Treatment for 2 mo with n 3 polyunsaturated fatty acids reduces adiposity and some atherogenic factors but does not improve insulin sensitivity in women with type 2 diabetes: a randomized controlled study. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;86:1670-9.

123. DeFina LF, Marcoux LG, Devers SM, Cleaver JP, Willis BL. Effects of omega-3 supplementation in combination with diet and exercise on weight loss and body composition. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;93:455-62.

124. Munro IA, Garg ML. Dietary supplementation with n-3 PUFA does not promote weight loss when combined with a very-low-energy diet. Br J Nutr 2012;108:1466-74.

125. Krebs JD, Browning LM, McLean NK, et al. Additive benefits of long-chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids and weight-loss in the management of cardiovascular disease risk in overweight hyperinsulinaemic women. Int J Obes (Lond) 2006;30:1535-44.

126. Carlson SJ, Fallon EM, Kalish BT, Gura KM, Puder M. The Role of the omega-3 Fatty Acid DHA in the Human Life Cycle. J Parenter and Enteral Nutr 2013;37:15-22.

127. Smithers LG, Gibson RA, McPhee A, Makrides M. Higher dose of docosahexaenoic acid in the neonatal period improves visual acuity of preterm infants: results of a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2008;88:1049-56.

128. Makrides M, Gibson RA, McPhee AJ, et al. Effect of DHA Supplementation During Pregnancy on Maternal Depression and Neurodevelopment of Young Children A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Am Med Assoc 2010;304:1675-83.

129. Colombo J, Carlson SE, Cheatham CL, et al. Long-term effects of LCPUFA supplementation on childhood cognitive outcomes. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;98:403-12.

130. Makrides M, Gibson RA, McPhee AJ, et al. Effect of DHA Supplementation During Pregnancy on Maternal Depression and Neurodevelopment of Young Children A Randomized Controlled Trial. Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association 2010;304:1675-83. 131. Hibbeln JR, Davis JM, Steer C, et al. Maternal seafood consumption in pregnancy and neurodevelopmental outcomes in childhood (ALSPAC study): an observational cohort study. Lancet 2007;369:578-85.

132. Oken E, Osterdal ML, Gillman MW, et al. Associations of maternal fish intake during pregnancy and breastfeeding duration with attainment of developmental milestones in early childhood: a study from the Danish National Birth Cohort. Am J Clin Nutr 2008;88:789-96.

133. Helland IB, Smith L, Saarem K, Saugstad OD, Drevon CA. Maternal supplementation with very-long-chain n-3 fatty acids during pregnancy and lactation augments children's IQ at 4 years of age. Pediatrics 2003;111:e39-44.

134. Helland IB, Smith L, Blomen B, Saarem K, Saugstad OD, Drevon CA. Effect of supplementing pregnant and lactating mothers with n-3 very-long-chain fatty acids on children's IQ and body mass index at 7 years of age. Pediatrics 2008;122:e472-9.

135. Dalton A, Wolmarans P, Witthuhn RC, van Stuijvenberg ME, Swanevelder SA, Smuts CM. A randomised control trial in schoolchildren showed improvement in cognitive function after consuming a bread spread, containing fish flour from a marine source. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 2009;80:143-9.

136. Gould JF, Smithers LG, Makrides M. The effect of maternal omega-3 (n-3) LCPUFA supplementation during pregnancy on early childhood cognitive and visual development: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;97:531-44.

137. Makrides M, Gibson RA, McPhee AJ, Yelland L, Quinlivan J, Ryan P. Effect of DHA supplementation during pregnancy on maternal depression and neurodevelopment of young children: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association 2010;304:1675-83.

138. Bergmann RL, Bergmann KE, Richter R, Haschke-Becher E, Henrich W, Dudenhausen JW. Does docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) status in pregnancy have any impact on postnatal growth? Six-year follow-up of a prospective randomized double-blind monocenter study on low-dose DHA supplements. J Perinat Med 2012.

139. Knapp HR. OMEGA-3-FATTY-ACIDS IN RESPIRATORY-DISEASES - A REVIEW. J Am Coll Nutr 1995;14:18-23.

140. Rytter D, Bech BH, Christensen JH, Schmidt EB, Henriksen TB, Olsen SF. Intake of fish oil during pregnancy and adiposity in 19-y-old offspring: follow-up on a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;94:701-8.

141. Donahue SM, Rifas-Shiman SL, Gold DR, Jouni ZE, Gillman MW, Oken E. Prenatal fatty acid status and child adiposity at age 3 y: results from a US pregnancy cohort. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;93:780-8.

142. North ML, Ellis AK. The role of epigenetics in the developmental origins of allergic disease. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 2011;106:355-61; quiz 62.

143. Pearce MS, McConnell JC, Potter C, et al. Global LINE-1 DNA methylation is associated with blood glycaemic and lipid profiles. International journal of epidemiology 2012;41:210-7.

144. Belancio VP, Roy-Engel AM, Pochampally RR, Deininger P. Somatic expression of LINE-1 elements in human tissues. Nucleic Acids Res 2010;38:3909-22.

145. Bollati V, Schwartz J, Wright R, et al. Decline in genomic DNA methylation through aging in a cohort of elderly subjects. Mech Ageing Dev 2009;130:234-9.

146. Clark SJ, Harrison J, Paul CL, Frommer M. High sensitivity mapping of methylated cytosines. Nucleic Acids Res 1994;22:2990-7.

147. Yang AS, Estecio MR, Doshi K, Kondo Y, Tajara EH, Issa JP. A simple method for estimating global DNA methylation using bisulfite PCR of repetitive DNA elements. Nucleic Acids Res 2004;32:e38.

148. Xiong Z, Laird PW. COBRA: a sensitive and quantitative DNA methylation assay. Nucleic Acids Res 1997;25:2532-4.

149. Gonzalgo ML, Jones PA. Rapid quantitation of methylation differences at specific sites using methylation-sensitive single nucleotide primer extension (Ms-SNuPE). Nucleic Acids Res 1997;25:2529-31.

150. Herman JG, Graff JR, Myohanen S, Nelkin BD, Baylin SB. Methylationspecific PCR: a novel PCR assay for methylation status of CpG islands. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:9821-6.

151. Verdone L, Caserta M, Di Mauro E. Role of histone acetylation in the control of gene expression. Biochem Cell Biol 2005;83:344-53.

152. Wang C, Powell M, Tian L, Pestell RG. Analysis of nuclear receptor acetylation. Methods Mol Biol 2011;776:169-81.

153. Histone Acetylation, DNA Methylation and Epigenetics. Web Book, 2008. (Accessed 9th September, 2011, at http://www.webbooks.com/MoBio/Free/Ch4G.htm.)

154. Fabian MR, Sundermeier TR, Sonenberg N. Understanding how miRNAs post-transcriptionally regulate gene expression. Prog Mol Subcell Biol 2010;50:1-20.

155. Chen CZ, Lodish HF. MicroRNAs as regulators of mammalian hematopoiesis. Semin Immunol 2005;17:155-65.

156. Poy MN, Eliasson L, Krutzfeldt J, et al. A pancreatic islet-specific microRNA regulates insulin secretion. Nature 2004;432:226-30.

157. Welch C, Chen Y, Stallings RL. MicroRNA-34a functions as a potential tumor suppressor by inducing apoptosis in neuroblastoma cells. Oncogene 2007;26:5017-22.

158. Yi R, Qin Y, Macara IG, Cullen BR. Exportin-5 mediates the nuclear export of pre-microRNAs and short hairpin RNAs. Genes Dev 2003;17:3011-6.

159. Dolinoy DC, Das R, Weidman JR, Jirtle RL. Metastable epialleles, imprinting, and the fetal origins of adult diseases. Pediatr Res 2007;61:30R-7R.

160. Waterland RA, Jirtle RL. Transposable elements: targets for early nutritional effects on epigenetic gene regulation. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:5293-300.

161. Dolinoy DC, Weidman JR, Waterland RA, Jirtle RL. Maternal genistein alters coat color and protects Avy mouse offspring from obesity by modifying the fetal epigenome. Environ Health Perspect 2006;114:567-72.

162. Waterland RA, Dolinoy DC, Lin JR, Smith CA, Shi X, Tahiliani KG. Maternal methyl supplements increase offspring DNA methylation at Axin Fused. Genesis (New York, NY : 2000) 2006;44:401-6.

163. Duhl DM, Vrieling H, Miller KA, Wolff GL, Barsh GS. Neomorphic agouti mutations in obese yellow mice. Nat Genet 1994;8:59-65.

164. Waterland RA, Jirtle RL. Transposable elements: Targets for early nutritional effects on epigenetic gene regulation. Mol Cell Biol 2003;23:5293-300.

165. Burdge GC, Lillycrop KA, Phillips ES, Slater-Jefferies JL, Jackson AA, Hanson MA. Folic acid supplementation during the juvenile-pubertal period in rats modifies the phenotype and epigenotype induced by prenatal nutrition. J Nutr 2009;139:1054-60.

166. Lumey LH, Stein AD, Kahn HS, et al. Cohort profile: the Dutch Hunger Winter families study. International journal of epidemiology 2007;36:1196-204.

167. Heijmans BT, Tobi EW, Stein AD, et al. Persistent epigenetic differences associated with prenatal exposure to famine in humans. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008;105:17046-9.

168. John R, Hemberger M. A placenta for life. Reproductive biomedicine online 2012;25:5-11.

169. Staun-Ram E, Shalev E. Human trophoblast function during the implantation process. Reproductive biology and endocrinology : RB&E 2005;3:56.

170. Duttaroy AK. Fetal growth and development: roles of fatty acid transport proteins and nuclear transcription factors in human placenta. Indian journal of experimental biology 2004;42:747-57.

171. Graham CH, Hawley TS, Hawley RG, et al. Establishment and characterization of first trimester human trophoblast cells with extended lifespan. Exp Cell Res 1993;206:204-11.

172. Whitley GS, Cartwright JE. Cellular and molecular regulation of spiral artery remodelling: lessons from the cardiovascular field. Placenta 2010;31:465-74.

173. Thame M, Osmond C, Wilks RJ, Bennett FI, McFarlane-Anderson N, Forrester TE. Blood pressure is related to placental volume and birth weight. Hypertension 2000;35:662-7.

174. Forsen T, Eriksson JG, Tuomilehto J, Osmond C, Barker DJ. Growth in utero and during childhood among women who develop coronary heart disease: longitudinal study. BMJ 1999;319:1403-7.

175. Martyn CN, Barker DJ, Osmond C. Mothers' pelvic size, fetal growth, and death from stroke and coronary heart disease in men in the UK. Lancet 1996;348:1264-8.

176. Forsen T, Eriksson J, Tuomilehto J, Reunanen A, Osmond C, Barker D. The fetal and childhood growth of persons who develop type 2 diabetes. Annals of internal medicine 2000;133:176-82.

177. Martyn CN, Meade TW, Stirling Y, Barker DJ. Plasma concentrations of fibrinogen and factor VII in adult life and their relation to intra-uterine growth. Br J Haematol 1995;89:142-6.

178. Evain-Brion D, Malassine A. Human placenta as an endocrine organ. Growth hormone & IGF research : official journal of the Growth Hormone Research Society and the International IGF Research Society 2003;13 Suppl A:S34-7.

179. Phipps K, Barker DJ, Hales CN, Fall CH, Osmond C, Clark PM. Fetal growth and impaired glucose tolerance in men and women. Diabetologia 1993;36:225-8.

180. Godfrey K, Robinson S, Barker DJ, Osmond C, Cox V. Maternal nutrition in early and late pregnancy in relation to placental and fetal growth. BMJ 1996;312:410-4.

181. Lumey LH. Compensatory placental growth after restricted maternal nutrition in early pregnancy. Placenta 1998;19:105-11.

182. Dwyer CM, Madgwick AJ, Ward SS, Stickland NC. Effect of maternal undernutrition in early gestation on the development of fetal myofibres in the guineapig. Reproduction, fertility, and development 1995;7:1285-92.

183. Roberts CT, Sohlstrom A, Kind KL, et al. Maternal food restriction reduces the exchange surface area and increases the barrier thickness of the placenta in the guinea-pig. Placenta 2001;22:177-85.

184. Kaufmann P, Davidoff M. The guinea-pig placenta. Advances in anatomy, embryology, and cell biology 1977;53:5-91.

185. Robinson JS, Owens JA, Barro Td, Lok F, Chidzanja S. Maternal nutritiona and fetal growth. In: Ward RHT, Smith SK, Donnai D, eds. In early fetal grwoth and development. London: Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists; 1994:317-34.

186. Robinson JS, Hartwich KM, Walker SK, Erwich J, Owens JA. Early influences on embryonic and placental growth. Acta Paediatrica 1997;86:159-63.

187. Kwong WY, Wild AE, Roberts P, Willis AC, Fleming TP. Maternal undernutrition during the preimplantation period of rat development causes blastocyst abnormalities and programming of postnatal hypertension. Development 2000;127:4195-202.

188. Jones ML, Mark PJ, Keelan JA, et al. Maternal dietary omega-3 fatty acid intake increases resolvin and protectin levels in the rat placenta. J Lipid Res 2013;54:2247-54.

189. Keelan JA, Mas E, D'Vaz N, et al. Effects of maternal n-3 fatty acid supplementation on placental cytokines, pro-resolving lipid mediators and their precursors. Reproduction 2015;149:171-8.

190. Johnsen GM, Basak S, Weedon-Fekjaer MS, Staff AC, Duttaroy AK. Docosahexaenoic acid stimulates tube formation in first trimester trophoblast cells, HTR8/SVneo. Placenta 2011;32:626-32.

191. Myatt L, Cui X. Oxidative stress in the placenta. Histochemistry and cell biology 2004;122:369-82.

192. Coughlan MT, Vervaart PP, Permezel M, Georgiou HM, Rice GE. Altered placental oxidative stress status in gestational diabetes mellitus. Placenta 2004;25:78-84.

193. Jauniaux E, Poston L, Burton GJ. Placental-related diseases of pregnancy: Involvement of oxidative stress and implications in human evolution. Human reproduction update 2006;12:747-55.

194. Biri A, Bozkurt N, Turp A, Kavutcu M, Himmetoglu O, Durak I. Role of oxidative stress in intrauterine growth restriction. Gynecologic and obstetric investigation 2007;64:187-92.

195. Jones ML, Mark PJ, Mori TA, Keelan JA, Waddell BJ. Maternal dietary omega-3 fatty acid supplementation reduces placental oxidative stress and increases fetal and placental growth in the rat. Biol Reprod 2013;88:37.

196. Anderson BM, Ma DW. Are all n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids created equal? Lipids in health and disease 2009;8:33.
197. Mori TA, Bao DQ, Burke V, Puddey IB, Watts GF, Beilin LJ. Dietary fish as a major component of a weight-loss diet: effect on serum lipids, glucose, and insulin metabolism in overweight hypertensive subjects. Am J Clin Nutr 1999;70:817-25.

198. Popp-Snijders C, Schouten JA, Heine RJ, van der Meer J, van der Veen EA. Dietary supplementation of omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids improves insulin sensitivity in non-insulin-dependent diabetes. Diabetes research (Edinburgh, Scotland) 1987;4:141-7.

199. Tsitouras PD, Gucciardo F, Salbe AD, Heward C, Harman SM. High omega-3 fat intake improves insulin sensitivity and reduces CRP and IL6, but does not affect other endocrine axes in healthy older adults. Horm Metab Res 2008;40:199-205.

200. European Medicines Agency. ICH Topic Q 2 (R1) Validation of Analytical Procedures: Text and Methodology. 1995.

201. WHO. Assessment of iodine deficiency disorders and monitoring their elimination. 2007.

202. Thomsen V, Schatzlein D, Mercuro D. Limits of Detection in Spectroscopy. Spectroscopy 2003;18:112-4.

203. NATA. Technical 17-Guidelines for the validation and verification of quantitative and qualitative test methods. In: the National Association of Testing Authorities A, ed. Australia: Commonwealth of Australia Copyright Act 1968; 2013.

204. Yang Z, Cappello T, Wang L. Emerging role of microRNAs in lipid metabolism. Acta pharmaceutica Sinica B 2015;5:145-50.

205. Rivellese AA, Maffettone A, Iovine C, et al. Long-term effects of fish oil on insulin resistance and plasma lipoproteins in NIDDM patients with hypertriglyceridemia. Diabetes care 1996;19:1207-13.

206. Woodman RJ, Mori TA, Burke V, Puddey IB, Watts GF, Beilin LJ. Effects of purified eicosapentaenoic and docosahexaenoic acids on glycemic control, blood pressure, and serum lipids in type 2 diabetic patients with treated hypertension. Am J Clin Nutr 2002;76:1007-15.

207. Lauritzen L, Hoppe C, Straarup EM, Michaelsen KF. Maternal fish oil supplementation in lactation and growth during the first 2.5 years of life. Pediatr Res 2005;58:235-42.

208. Ravelli AC, van der Meulen JH, Michels RP, et al. Glucose tolerance in adults after prenatal exposure to famine. Lancet 1998;351:173-7.

209. Geer EB, Shen W. Gender differences in insulin resistance, body composition, and energy balance. Gender medicine 2009;6 Suppl 1:60-75.

210. Masharani U, Goldfine ID, Youngren JF. Influence of gender on the relationship between insulin sensitivity, adiposity, and plasma lipids in lean nondiabetic subjects. Metabolism 2009;58:1602-8.

211. Bloor ID, Sebert SP, Saroha V, et al. Sex differences in metabolic and adipose tissue responses to juvenile-onset obesity in sheep. Endocrinology 2013;154:3622-31.

212. Derraik JG, Rademaker M, Cutfield WS, et al. Effects of age, gender, BMI, and anatomical site on skin thickness in children and adults with diabetes. PLoS One 2014;9:e86637.

213. Huang C, Cao P, Xie Z. Relation of promoter methylation of mdr-1 gene and histone acetylation status with multidrug resistance in MCF-7/Adr cells. Zhong Nan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban 2009;34:369-74.

214. Muhlhausler BS, Gibson RA, Makrides M. Effect of long-chain polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation during pregnancy or lactation on infant and child body composition: a systematic review. Am J Clin Nutr 2010;92:857-63.

215. Hivert M-F, Bouchard L, Franks P. Maternal Nutrition and Epigenetics in Early Life. Curr Nutr Rep 2013;2:216-24.

216. Joubert BR, Haberg SE, Nilsen RM, et al. 450K epigenome-wide scan identifies differential DNA methylation in newborns related to maternal smoking during pregnancy. Environ Health Perspect 2012;120:1425-31.

217. Joubert BR, Haberg SE, Bell DA, et al. Maternal smoking and DNA methylation in newborns: in utero effect or epigenetic inheritance? Cancer epidemiology, biomarkers & prevention : a publication of the American Association for Cancer Research, cosponsored by the American Society of Preventive Oncology 2014;23:1007-17.

218. Koestler DC, Avissar-Whiting M, Houseman EA, Karagas MR, Marsit CJ. Differential DNA methylation in umbilical cord blood of infants exposed to low levels of arsenic in utero. Environ Health Perspect 2013;121:971-7.

219. Hoile SP, Irvine NA, Kelsall CJ, et al. Maternal fat intake in rats alters 20:4n-6 and 22:6n-3 status and the epigenetic regulation of Fads2 in offspring liver. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry 2013;24:1213-20.

220. Meher A, Joshi A, Joshi S. Differential regulation of hepatic transcription factors in the Wistar rat offspring born to dams fed folic acid, vitamin B12 deficient diets and supplemented with omega-3 fatty acids. PLoS One 2014;9:e90209.

221. de Onis M, Onyango AW. WHO child growth standards. The Lancet;371:204.

222. Zhu ZZ, Hou L, Bollati V, et al. Predictors of global methylation levels in blood DNA of healthy subjects: a combined analysis. International journal of epidemiology 2012;41:126-39.

223. El-Maarri O, Becker T, Junen J, et al. Gender specific differences in levels of DNA methylation at selected loci from human total blood: a tendency toward higher methylation levels in males. Human genetics 2007;122:505-14.

224. Gomes MV, Toffoli LV, Arruda DW, et al. Age-related changes in the global DNA methylation profile of leukocytes are linked to nutrition but are not associated with the MTHFR C677T genotype or to functional capacities. PLoS One 2012;7:e52570.

225. Fuke C, Shimabukuro M, Petronis A, et al. Age related changes in 5methylcytosine content in human peripheral leukocytes and placentas: an HPLCbased study. Annals of human genetics 2004;68:196-204.

226. Martino D, Loke YJ, Gordon L, et al. Longitudinal, genome-scale analysis of DNA methylation in twins from birth to 18 months of age reveals rapid epigenetic change in early life and pair-specific effects of discordance. Genome biology 2013;14:R42.

227. Ollikainen M, Smith KR, Joo EJ, et al. DNA methylation analysis of multiple tissues from newborn twins reveals both genetic and intrauterine components to variation in the human neonatal epigenome. Hum Mol Genet 2010;19:4176-88.

228. Hirabara SM, Folador A, Fiamoncini J, et al. Fish oil supplementation for two generations increases insulin sensitivity in rats. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry 2013;24:1136-45.

229. Zhang FF, Cardarelli R, Carroll J, et al. Significant differences in global genomic DNA methylation by gender and race/ethnicity in peripheral blood. Epigenetics 2011;6:623-9.

230. Piyathilake CJ, Badiga S, Alvarez RD, Partridge EE, Johanning GL. A lower degree of PBMC L1 methylation is associated with excess body weight and higher HOMA-IR in the presence of lower concentrations of plasma folate. PLoS One 2013;8:e54544.

231. Zhang FF, Santella RM, Wolff M, Kappil MA, Markowitz SB, Morabia A. White blood cell global methylation and IL-6 promoter methylation in association with diet and lifestyle risk factors in a cancer-free population. Epigenetics 2012;7:606-14.

232. Cash HL, McGarvey ST, Houseman EA, et al. Cardiovascular disease risk factors and DNA methylation at the LINE-1 repeat region in peripheral blood from Samoan Islanders. Epigenetics 2011;6:1257-64.

233. Wilson AS, Power BE, Molloy PL. DNA hypomethylation and human diseases. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007;1775:138-62.

234. Luttmer R, Spijkerman AM, Kok RM, et al. Metabolic syndrome components are associated with DNA hypomethylation. Obesity research & clinical practice 2013;7:e106-e15.

235. Ravelli GP, Stein ZA, Susser MW. Obesity in young men after famine exposure in utero and early infancy. N Engl J Med 1976;295:349-53.

236. Bier DM. Growth in the first two years of life. In: Barker DJP, Bergmann RL, Ogra PL, eds. Window of Opportunity: Pre-Pregnancy to 24 Months of Age. Basel: Karger; 2008:135-44.

237. Tobi EW, Lumey LH, Talens RP, et al. DNA methylation differences after exposure to prenatal famine are common and timing- and sex-specific. Hum Mol Genet 2009;18:4046-53.

238. Simopoulos AP. Human requirement for N-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. Poultry science 2000;79:961-70.

239. Burdge GC, Lillycrop KA. Fatty acids and epigenetics. Current opinion in clinical nutrition and metabolic care 2014;17:156-61.

240. Aslibekyan S, Wiener HW, Havel PJ, et al. DNA methylation patterns are associated with n-3 fatty acid intake in Yup'ik people. J Nutr 2014;144:425-30.

241. Wang D, Yan L, Hu Q, et al. IMA: an R package for high-throughput analysis of Illumina's 450K Infinium methylation data. Bioinformatics 2012;28:729-30.

242. Bibikova M, Barnes B, Tsan C, et al. High density DNA methylation array with single CpG site resolution. Genomics 2011;98:288-95.

243. Pidsley R, CC YW, Volta M, Lunnon K, Mill J, Schalkwyk LC. A datadriven approach to preprocessing Illumina 450K methylation array data. BMC Genomics 2013;14:293.

244. Chen YA, Lemire M, Choufani S, et al. Discovery of cross-reactive probes and polymorphic CpGs in the Illumina Infinium HumanMethylation450 microarray. Epigenetics 2013;8:203-9.

245. Ritchie ME, Phipson B, Wu D, et al. limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. Nucleic Acids Res 2015.

246. Peters T, Buckley M, Statham A, et al. De novo identification of differentially methylated regions in the human genome. Epigenetics & Chromatin 2015;8:6.

247. Krauss-Etschmann S, Hartl D, Rzehak P, et al. Decreased cord blood IL-4, IL-13, and CCR4 and increased TGF-beta levels after fish oil supplementation of pregnant women. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2008;121:464-70 e6.

248. Dunstan JA, Mori TA, Barden A, et al. Maternal fish oil supplementation in pregnancy reduces interleukin-13 levels in cord blood of infants at high risk of atopy. Clin Exp Allergy 2003;33:442-8.

249. Prescott SL, Barden AE, Mori TA, Dunstan JA. Maternal fish oil supplementation in pregnancy modifies neonatal leukotriene production by cord-blood-derived neutrophils. Clinical science (London, England : 1979) 2007;113:409-16.

250. Dunstan JA, Mori TA, Barden A, et al. Fish oil supplementation in pregnancy modifies neonatal allergen-specific immune responses and clinical outcomes in infants at high risk of atopy: a randomized, controlled trial. J Allergy Clin Immunol 2003;112:1178-84.

251. Denburg JA, Hatfield HM, Cyr MM, et al. Fish oil supplementation in pregnancy modifies neonatal progenitors at birth in infants at risk of atopy. Pediatr Res 2005;57:276-81.

252. Calder PC, Kremmyda LS, Vlachava M, Noakes PS, Miles EA. Is there a role for fatty acids in early life programming of the immune system? The Proceedings of the Nutrition Society 2010;69:373-80.

253. Olsen SF, Osterdal ML, Salvig JD, et al. Fish oil intake compared with olive oil intake in late pregnancy and asthma in the offspring: 16 y of registry-based follow-up from a randomized controlled trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2008;88:167-75.

254. Palmer DJ, Sullivan T, Gold MS, et al. Effect of n-3 long chain polyunsaturated fatty acid supplementation in pregnancy on infants' allergies in first year of life: randomised controlled trial. BMJ 2012;344:e184.

255. Young A. Effects on digestive secretions. Advances in pharmacology (San Diego, Calif) 2005;52:123-50.

256. Williams JA, Sankaran H, Korc M, Goldfine ID. Receptors for cholecystokinin and insulin in isolated pancreatic acini: hormonal control of secretion and metabolism. Federation proceedings 1981;40:2497-502.

257. Williams JA. Regulation of pancreatic acinar cell function by intracellular calcium. Am J Physiol 1980;238:G269-79.

258. Pierzynowski SG, Westrom BR, Svendsen J, Svendsen L, Karlsson BW. Development and regulation of porcine pancreatic function. International journal of pancreatology : official journal of the International Association of Pancreatology 1995;18:81-94.

259. Maton PN, Jensen RT, Gardner JD. Cholecystokinin antagonists. Horm Metab Res 1986;18:2-9.

260. Jaworek J, Nawrot-Porabka K, Leja-Szpak A, et al. Melatonin as modulator of pancreatic enzyme secretion and pancreatoprotector. Journal of physiology and

pharmacology : an official journal of the Polish Physiological Society 2007;58 Suppl 6:65-80.

261. Silverman RB. The Organic Chemistry of Enzyme-catalyzed Reactions. London: England Academic Press; 2002.

262. Rosen ED, Spiegelman BM. Molecular regulation of adipogenesis. Annual review of cell and developmental biology 2000;16:145-71.

263. Sordella R, Jiang W, Chen GC, Curto M, Settleman J. Modulation of Rho GTPase signaling regulates a switch between adipogenesis and myogenesis. Cell 2003;113:147-58.

264. Saltiel AR. Muscle or Fat? Rho Bridges the GAP. Cell 2003;113:144-5.

265. Verrey F, Singer D, Ramadan T, Vuille-dit-Bille RN, Mariotta L, Camargo SM. Kidney amino acid transport. Pflugers Archiv : European journal of physiology 2009;458:53-60.

266. Quan H, Athirakul K, Wetsel WC, et al. Hypertension and impaired glycine handling in mice lacking the orphan transporter XT2. Mol Cell Biol 2004;24:4166-73.

267. Miki H, Setou M, Kaneshiro K, Hirokawa N. All kinesin superfamily protein, KIF, genes in mouse and human. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98:7004-11.

268. Castillo P, Ibanez F, Guajardo A, Llanos MN, Ronco AM. Impact of cadmium exposure during pregnancy on hepatic glucocorticoid receptor methylation and expression in rat fetus. PLoS One 2012;7:e44139.

269. Tu WC, Cook-Johnson RJ, James MJ, Muhlhausler BS, Stone DA, Gibson RA. Barramundi (Lates calcarifer) desaturase with Delta6/Delta8 dual activities. Biotechnology letters 2012;34:1283-96.

270. Dunning MJ, Smith ML, Ritchie ME, Tavare S. beadarray: R classes and methods for Illumina bead-based data. Bioinformatics 2007;23:2183-4.

271. Kauffmann A, Gentleman R, Huber W. arrayQualityMetrics--a bioconductor package for quality assessment of microarray data. Bioinformatics 2009;25:415-6.

272. Barbosa-Morais NL, Dunning MJ, Samarajiwa SA, et al. A re-annotation pipeline for Illumina BeadArrays: improving the interpretation of gene expression data. Nucleic Acids Res 2010;38:e17.

273. Smyth GK. Linear models and empirical bayes methods for assessing differential expression in microarray experiments. Statistical applications in genetics and molecular biology 2004;3:Article3.

274. Smyth GK. Limma: Linear Models for Microarray Data. In: Gentleman R, Carey VJ, Huber W, Irizarry RA, Dudoit S, eds. Bioinformatics and Computational Biology Solutions using R and Bioconductor; 2005:397-420.

275. Whitehead SE, Jones KW, Zhang X, Cheng X, Terns RM, Terns MP. Determinants of the interaction of the spinal muscular atrophy disease protein SMN with the dimethylarginine-modified box H/ACA small nucleolar ribonucleoprotein GAR1. J Biol Chem 2002;277:48087-93.

276. Lurquin C, De Smet C, Brasseur F, et al. Two members of the human MAGEB gene family located in Xp21.3 are expressed in tumors of various histological origins. Genomics 1997;46:397-408.

277. Nakayama J, Yoshizawa T, Yamamoto N, Arinami T. Mutation analysis of the calpastatin gene (CAST) in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Neuroscience letters 2002;320:77-80.

278. Yoon JC, Chickering TW, Rosen ED, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma target gene encoding a novel angiopoietin-related protein associated with adipose differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 2000;20:5343-9.

279. Zhu H, Li J, Qin W, et al. [Cloning of a novel gene, ANGPTL4 and the functional study in angiogenesis]. Zhonghua yi xue za zhi 2002;82:94-9.

280. Legry V, Bokor S, Cottel D, et al. Associations between common genetic polymorphisms in angiopoietin-like proteins 3 and 4 and lipid metabolism and adiposity in European adolescents and adults. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2009;94:5070-7.

281. Labar G, Bauvois C, Borel F, Ferrer JL, Wouters J, Lambert DM. Crystal structure of the human monoacylglycerol lipase, a key actor in endocannabinoid signaling. Chembiochem : a European journal of chemical biology 2010;11:218-27.

282. Baez MV, Boccaccio GL. Mammalian Smaug is a translational repressor that forms cytoplasmic foci similar to stress granules. J Biol Chem 2005;280:43131-40.

283. Martina JA, Bonangelino CJ, Aguilar RC, Bonifacino JS. Stonin 2: an adaptor-like protein that interacts with components of the endocytic machinery. J Cell Biol 2001;153:1111-20.

284. Hua X, Wu J, Goldstein JL, Brown MS, Hobbs HH. Structure of the human gene encoding sterol regulatory element binding protein-1 (SREBF1) and localization of SREBF1 and SREBF2 to chromosomes 17p11.2 and 22q13. Genomics 1995;25:667-73.

285. Fiegenbaum M, Silveira FR, Van der Sand CR, et al. Determinants of variable response to simvastatin treatment: the role of common variants of SCAP, SREBF-1a and SREBF-2 genes. The pharmacogenomics journal 2005;5:359-64.

286. Iwamoto S, Mihara K, Downing JR, Pui CH, Campana D. Mesenchymal cells regulate the response of acute lymphoblastic leukemia cells to asparaginase. J Clin Invest 2007;117:1049-57.

287. Ryckman KK, Morken NH, White MJ, et al. Maternal and fetal genetic associations of PTGER3 and PON1 with preterm birth. PLoS One 2010;5:e9040.

288. Haeseleer F, Huang J, Lebioda L, Saari JC, Palczewski K. Molecular characterization of a novel short-chain dehydrogenase/reductase that reduces all-trans-retinal. J Biol Chem 1998;273:21790-9.

289. Trama J, Lu Q, Hawley RG, Ho SN. The NFAT-related protein NFATL1 (TonEBP/NFAT5) is induced upon T cell activation in a calcineurin-dependent manner. J Immunol 2000;165:4884-94.

290. Park JK, Kang TG, Kang MY, et al. Increased NFAT5 expression stimulates transcription of Hsp70 in preeclamptic placentas. Placenta 2014;35:109-16.

291. Kriajevska M, Fischer-Larsen M, Moertz E, et al. Liprin beta 1, a member of the family of LAR transmembrane tyrosine phosphatase-interacting proteins, is a new target for the metastasis-associated protein S100A4 (Mts1). J Biol Chem 2002;277:5229-35.

292. Basak S, Duttaroy AK. Effects of fatty acids on angiogenic activity in the placental extravillious trophoblast cells. Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 2013;88:155-62.

293. Skilton MR, Mikkila V, Wurtz P, et al. Fetal growth, omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids, and progression of subclinical atherosclerosis: preventing fetal origins of disease? The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2013;97:58-65.

294. Mozaffarian D. Fish, n-3 fatty acids, and cardiovascular haemodynamics. J Cardiovasc Med 2007;8 Suppl 1:S23-6.

295. Gustafson KM, Colombo J, Carlson SE. Docosahexaenoic acid and cognitive function: Is the link mediated by the autonomic nervous system? Prostaglandins Leukot Essent Fatty Acids 2008;79:135-40.

296. Kuroda K, Venkatakrishnan R, Salker MS, et al. Induction of 11beta-HSD 1 and activation of distinct mineralocorticoid receptor- and glucocorticoid receptor-dependent gene networks in decidualizing human endometrial stromal cells. Mol Endocrinol 2013;27:192-202.

297. Niederreither K, Dolle P. Retinoic acid in development: towards an integrated view. Nature reviews Genetics 2008;9:541-53.

298. Xia HF, Ma JJ, Sun J, Yang Y, Peng JP. Retinoic acid metabolizing enzyme CYP26A1 is implicated in rat embryo implantation. Hum Reprod 2010;25:2985-98.

299. Zolfaghari R, Chen Q, Ross AC. DHRS3, a retinal reductase, is differentially regulated by retinoic acid and lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation in THP-1 cells and rat liver. American journal of physiology Gastrointestinal and liver physiology 2012;303:G578-88.

300. Rivera CG, Mellberg S, Claesson-Welsh L, Bader JS, Popel AS. Analysis of VEGF--a regulated gene expression in endothelial cells to identify genes linked to angiogenesis. PLoS One 2011;6:e24887.

301. Adachi A, Takahashi T, Ogata T, et al. NFAT5 regulates the canonical Wnt pathway and is required for cardiomyogenic differentiation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2012;426:317-23.

302. Jauliac S, Lopez-Rodriguez C, Shaw LM, Brown LF, Rao A, Toker A. The role of NFAT transcription factors in integrin-mediated carcinoma invasion. Nat Cell Biol 2002;4:540-4.

303. Feinberg AP. Phenotypic plasticity and the epigenetics of human disease. Nature 2007;447:433-40.